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fOrewOrD
ryuichiro yAmAzAki  |  secretAry-GenerAl

the APO completed another fruitful year in 2010, 
weathering challenges posed by resource constraints 
in delivering value-adding assistance and achieving 
the desired results in improving the productivity 
of its members. Despite the adverse impact of the 
weakening uS dollar on financial resources over the 
past several years, we have successfully developed 
more creative solutions to maintain the quality of 
our productivity-enhancing projects for members. 

As detailed in this annual report, key projects and 
developments in the past year included: 

the APO focus on SMe development, strengthening 
NPOs, and promoting knowledge management 
remained priority areas while we have also begun 
to address public-sector productivity. An expert 
group identified overall directions, including tools 
and techniques, as well as niche areas for the APO to 
promote public-sector productivity.  

the APO center of excellence for Business excellence 
(Be), which was initiated two years ago with 
SPRINg Singapore, has spun off, with substantive 
improvements in Be capabilities in Pakistan, the 
Philippines, and thailand achieved, and the APO 
promoting Be initiatives among other members. 

e-learning courses have gained a reputation as an 
effective way to extend APO outreach. In addition 
to the current videoconferencing-based and self-
learning modes, the Secretariat planned new, more 
structured e-courses to become available on a 
dedicated web portal in 2011.     

the green Productivity Program has evolved into 
a credible platform for promoting sustainable 
economic development approaches among 
members. the eco-products International fair (ePIf) 

2010 was successfully held in jakarta, showing 
the strong commitment to sustainability of both 
the government of Indonesia and its business 
community. I am confident that this will lead to a 
national version of the ePIf, as was the case with 
Malaysia, the Philippines, and thailand. the APO’s 
annual edition of the Eco-products Directory was also 
launched at this event.

the APO initiated the Special Program for 
Strengthening the capacity of food Supply chain 
Management in Asian least Developed countries 
covering training activities in cambodia and lao 
PDR with a grant from japan and continued the 
Africa Program with support from the Republic of 
china. 

finally, the Productivity Databook has made the APO 
the definitive authority on productivity research 
in Asia and is often cited by academics and the 
media. the 2010 edition was published early in the 
year with a wider scope of productivity indicators 
and an improved measurement methodology that 
considers the quality of labor input.
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Over the years, the APO has endeavored to create a 
niche in our promotion of productivity improvement 
where it matters most to our members. Since the 
founding of the APO in 1961, we have contributed 
to the capacity building of our members and spread 
the productivity movement within and even outside 
Asia and the Pacific. As one indication of progress, 
our members now enjoy significantly higher 
standards of living due to their productivity gains. 

fOrewOrD
ryuichiro yAmAzAki  |  secretAry-GenerAl

However, the APO must continue to progress as an 
organization. As we celebrate our 50th year in 2011 
and implement new strategic directions for the 
next 50 years, we will have to ensure continuing 
relevance to the needs of our members to compete 
in a dynamically changing global economy. Having 
recently joined the APO in September 2010, my 
aim is to continue to transform constraints and 
challenges into opportunities and benefits for our 
members in the years ahead.

tokyo, july 2011
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MISSION 

the Asian Productivity Organization (APO) was es-
tablished on 11 May 1961 as a regional intergovern-
mental organization. Its mission is to contribute to 
the socioeconomic development of Asia and the 
Pacific through enhancing productivity. the APO is 
nonpolitical, nonprofit, and nondiscriminatory. 

MeMBeRSHIP 

APO membership is open to countries in Asia and 
the Pacific which are members of the united Nations 
economic and Social commission for Asia and the 
Pacific. current membership comprises Bangladesh, 
cambodia, Republic of china, fiji, Hong Kong, India, 
Indonesia, Islamic Republic of Iran, japan, Repub-
lic of Korea, lao PDR, Malaysia, Mongolia, Nepal,  
Pakistan, Philippines, Singapore, Sri lanka, thailand, 
and vietnam. these countries pledge to assist each 
other in their productivity drives in a spirit of mutual  
cooperation by sharing knowledge, information, 
and experience.

Key ROleS 

In serving its members, the APO performs five key 
roles: think tank, catalyst, Regional Adviser, Insti-
tution Builder, and clearinghouse for Productivity  
Information. 

1.  As a think tank, the APO conducts research on 
emerging needs of members for their follow-up 
and for determining appropriate assistance to 
them. 

2.  As a catalyst, the APO promotes bilateral and 
multilateral alliances among members and be-
tween them and others outside the APO region 
for collaboration in productivity-related activi-
ties for mutual benefit.

3.  As a regional adviser, the APO surveys the 
economic and development policies and  
performance of each member and assists in 
formulating strategies for achieving enhanced  
productivity and competitiveness.  

4.  As an institution builder, the APO strength-
ens the capability of the national productivity 
organizations (NPOs) and other institutions to 
provide productivity promotion, training, and 
consultancy services to the public and private 
sectors. 

5.  As a clearinghouse for productivity infor-
mation, the APO facilitates the dissemination 
and exchange of information on productivity 
among its members. 

StRuctuRe

the APO structure comprises the governing Body, 
the NPOs, and the Secretariat headquartered in  
tokyo.

GOveRNING BODy
the governing Body is the supreme organ of the 
APO. It comprises one government-appointed 
Director from each member. the governing Body 
meets annually to receive the Secretary-general’s 
annual report and the auditor’s financial report; 
determine the APO budget, policies, strategies, 
directions, and membership; approve the two-year 
plan and annual programs; lay down guidelines for 

OrgAniZAtiOn
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the ensuing fiscal year’s program; and approve the 
budget and financial guidelines. 

NPOS AND WORkSHOP MeetING OF HeADS  
OF NPOS
each member government designates a national 
body to be its NPO. NPOs are usually entrusted with 
spearheading the productivity movement in each 
country. they also serve as the official liaison bod-
ies with the Secretariat and coordinate APO projects 
hosted by their governments. each year, the APO 
organizes a workshop Meeting of Heads of NPOs 
(wSM) to evaluate the previous year’s projects, un-
dertake strategic planning, and formulate the two-
year plan and detailed program for the next year. 
the wSM assumes the role of program planning for 
two years and presents the plans to the governing 
Body Meeting (gBM) for the decision on budget size. 
It also deliberates on productivity issues, guidelines 
for future programs, and emerging needs of mem-
ber countries. 

SecRetARIAt
the Secretariat is the executive arm of the APO. It 
is headed by the Secretary-general and carries out 
the decisions and policy directives of the governing 
Body. In january 2007, its structure was reorganized 

from six to four departments: Administration and fi-
nance; Research and Planning; Industry; and Agricul-
ture. In collaboration with NPOs, it plans the biennial 
program and implements projects. the Secretariat 
also undertakes joint programs with other interna-
tional organizations, governments, and private insti-
tutions for the benefit of its members.

tyPeS Of ActIvItIeS

the general feature of APO activities is to provide 
practical training through a combination of:  
1) lectures by experts; 2) field visits to factories, farms, 
and facilities for observation of actual applications; 
and 3) country reports by participants for the sharing 
of experiences. APO projects are intended to be as 
immediately useful and applicable to participants 
as possible. the participants are expected to create 
multiplier effects by disseminating their newly 
acquired knowledge and understanding to others 
in their home countries.

APO activities target a diverse group of pro-
ductivity stakeholders. the various types of  
approach or methodology employed in organiz-
ing them are:

Governing Body

Secretary-General

Workshop Meeting
of Heads of NPOs

APO Secretariat

Administration
& Finance

Department

Research
& Planning

Department

Industry
Department

Agriculture
Department

APO ORgANIzAtIONAl cHARt
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•	 Research: Research projects are organized to 
collect and analyze data and information on 
productivity-related topics using a predeter-
mined methodology. 

•	 Study Meetings: these are meant to impart 
knowledge on emerging issues and challenges 
for policy, planning, and decision making, pri-
marily through resource paper presentations 
and discussions among expert participants. 
Only qualified experts and professionals knowl-
edgeable about the subject area are expected 
to attend study meetings. 

•	 Forums: forums provide a platform for discus-
sions, dialogues, and networking for specific 
stakeholders. Senior and top-level managers, 
officials, consultants, and academic personnel 
are expected to attend. 

•	 conferences: conferences aim to help promote 
productivity and build consensus among stake-
holders on the directions (or redirection) of the 
productivity movement in a member. Diverse 
stakeholders including top/senior representa-
tives from government, business, and unions as 
well as representatives of NPOs, academia, and 
the media attend conferences. they can be in 
the form of a roundtable conference, interna-
tional productivity conference, or simply an in-
ternational conference. 

•	 Observational Study Missions: these pro-
vide opportunities for firsthand observation of 
and exposure to actual applications of specific 
subjects in enterprises. Some lectures and dis-
cussions may be included in an observational 
study mission. Middle- to top-level managers, 
officials, consultants, and academic personnel 

comprise participants in observational study  
missions. 

•	 Seminars: Seminars are organized to learn 
about a specific topic or field through lectures 
and presentations by resource persons and 
through discussions among participants and 
resource persons. Relevant site visits may be in-
cluded in a seminar. Participants are expected to 
present country papers for sharing experiences 
and practices. the target groups for seminars 
are senior-level managers, officials, consultants, 
and academic personnel. 

•	 Workshops: learning takes place primarily 
through discussions and case studies undertak-
en in an interactive manner, emphasizing prob-
lem solving. Some lectures and/or presentations 
and relevant site visits may be included, while 
the main part of the workshop focuses on small 
group activities or exercises. the target groups 
for workshops are middle-level managers, offi-
cials, consultants, and academics. 

•	 training courses: training courses are designed 
to learn practical, result-oriented knowledge or 
skills primarily through lectures, presentations, 
and instruction by experts. In a training course, 
case studies and exercises as well as relevant site 
visits may be included. the target groups are 
middle-level managers, officials, consultants, 
and academic personnel. 

•	 e-Learning Programs: these are distance-
learning programs designed either to reach as 
many people as possible at one specific time or 
for self-study by anyone interested. A combina-
tion of both approaches has been used in some 
projects. e-learning can be either web-based or 
via videoconferencing or both.

OrgAniZAtiOn

OrganizatiOn
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the 52nd Session of the APO governing Body was 
held in Kuala lumpur, Malaysia, 20−22 April. fifty 
delegates comprising directors and their advisers 
attended the meeting. In addition, there were 
eight observers representing the colombo Plan 
Secretariat, Pan African Productivity Association, 
Productivity centre of Kenya, National Productivity 
centre of Nigeria, National Productivity centre 
of turkey, and turkey-based organizer of the 
16th world Productivity congress. APO Alternate 
Director for Malaysia Mohd. Razali Hussain delivered 
the welcome address, and Acting APO chair and 
APO Alternate Director for japan Kazuo Sunaga 
presented the opening address. Malaysian Minister 
of International trade and Industry yang Berbahagia 
Dato’ Sri Mustapa Mohammad delivered the 
keynote address. the heads of delegations to the 
meeting were introduced by then APO Secretary-
general Shigeo takenaka. 

the APO chair is assigned on rotational basis by 
country in alphabetical order as decided by the 
gBM in 2002 and practiced since 2003, beginning 
with Bangladesh. thus, under this system, the 52nd 

2010 gBm AnD wsm
52nD session of the APo GoverninG boDy

Session of the governing Body elected APO Director 
for the Republic of Korea Dr. Dong-Kyu choi as 
APO chair for 2010–2011 and APO Director for lao 
PDR Somdy Inmyxai and APO Alternate Director 
for Malaysia Mohd. Razali Hussain as the first and 
Second vice chairs, respectively. the governing 
Body also unanimously elected Ryuichiro yamazaki 
as the next APO Secretary-general.

welcOMe ADDReSS 

APO Alternate Director for Malaysia Mohd. 
Razali Hussain expressed his gratitude to yang 
Berbahagia Dato’ Sri Mustapa Mohamed, Minister 
of International trade and Industry, for gracing the 
meeting with his presence and extended a warm 
welcome to all delegates, guests, and observers. 
He highlighted the objectives of the meeting, 
which included reconfirming the revised budget 
for the current fiscal year, determining the APO 
total membership contributions for the 2011–2012 
biennium, and electing the new APO Secretary-
general. 
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Mr. Razali Hussain introduced the Malaysian gov-
ernment’s plan to elevate the country to a more 
advanced economic status through a comprehen-
sive innovation process in various sectors, such 
as public- and private-sector governance, urban  
development, transportation, the social safety net, 
and branding. He said that in line with such aspira-
tions, the Malaysia Productivity corporation (MPc) 
had made significant progress in becoming a full-
fledged productivity, innovation, and competitive 
organization with international linkages. He ex-
plained various activities of the MPc in line with its 
efforts to transform businesses such as the business 
excellence framework, innovation and excellence 
development programs and audits, etc. Activities 
of the MPc relating to value-added information 
and enhanced outreach with the establishment of 
its publication house and case study clearinghouse 
were also introduced. Mr. Razali Hussain ended his 
remarks with the hope that the meeting would  
result in fresh, innovative ideas for the betterment 
of the APO and its members.

OPeNINg ADDReSS

Acting APO chair Kazuo Sunaga welcomed the del-
egates to the 52nd gBM. He expressed appreciation 
to Minister of International trade and Industry Mus-
tapa Mohamed, and to the government of Malaysia 
for hosting the meeting in Kuala lumpur, a melting 
pot of all the wonderful cultures of Asia.

He stated that there had been recent indications 
that Asia was on the rebound from the economic 

crisis. However, he cautioned against making gen-
eralizations as it had also been noted that some 
countries in the region were still struggling to shake 
off the lingering effects of the crisis. Overall, glob-
al economic recovery remained fragile, noted Mr.  
Sunaga. He added that the situation called for the 
APO to perform its fundamental roles actively and 
effectively to help member countries. the APO 
should play its role more effectively in facilitating the  
process of knowledge generation and dissemina-
tion and as a catalyst for fostering increased coop-
eration and stronger partnerships among member 
countries and emerging economies in other regions.

Mr. Sunaga acknowledged that the challenges were 
enormous but resources limited. therefore the APO 
should be creative and innovative. It should capital-
ize on its comparative strength, core knowledge, 
and experience in networking and building partner-
ships. It should revisit and rekindle its partnerships 
with the larger donor community. 

Mr. Sunaga stated 
that since its found-
ing 49 years ago, 
the APO had had 
to overcome vari-
ous difficulties and 
adapt to changes. 
those difficulties 
had strengthened 
the spirit of mutual 
cooperation among 
members, and the 
APO had emerged as a stronger, more dynamic or-
ganization. this had been the hallmark of the APO,  
and member countries should endeavor to  
maintain it. 

He said that it had been a great honor for japan 
to serve as the APO chair over the past year. He 
requested the Directors to provide support to the 
new chair and next Secretary-general. Mr. Sunaga 
wished the delegates a successful meeting and 
memorable stay in Kuala lumpur, the capital of 
“Malaysia truly Asia.” 

APO Alternate Director for Malaysia Mohd. Razali Hussain

Acting APO chair Kazuo Sunaga

2010 gBM
 & W

SM
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KeyNOte ADDReSS 

yang Berbahagia Dato’ Sri Mustapa Mohamed, Min-
ister of International trade and Industry, govern-
ment of Malaysia, extended a warm welcome to all 
delegates and considered it a privilege for Malaysia 
to host the 52nd APO gBM. elaborating on Malay-
sia’s recent initiatives, he introduced the New eco-
nomic Model and the government transformation 
Program to strengthen public services in the Na-
tional Key Result Areas under vision 2020 to trans-
form Malaysia into an advanced nation by 2020. 

while comparing pro-
ductivity levels of vari-
ous countries across 
the world and the 
Asia-Pacific, Minister 
Mustapa Mohamed 
appreciated the APO’s 
initiatives to reduce 
gaps in productivity 
levels among member 
countries and stressed 
that future growth 

must come from higher total factor productivity 
through innovation and talent development. He 
stated that Malaysia ranked 24th out of 133 countries 
in the latest global competitiveness Report 2009–
2010. the Asian countries ahead of Malaysia were 
Singapore (third), japan (eighth), Republic of china 
(12th), and Republic of Korea (19th), and all were in 
the innovation stage of development. therefore, he 
suggested that the innovation-driven economies 
such as japan, Republic of Korea, Singapore, and 
Republic of china should be the benchmarks for 
APO member countries for achieving innovation in 
manufacturing and services. 

Minister Mustapa Mohamed said that the launch 
of 2010 as Innovation and creativity year was an 
initiative to inculcate innovation, to be combined 
with the New economic Model and value-added 
activities that would multiply per capita income 
in the next 10 years. He applauded the APO’s pro-
ductivity movement in Africa which was started 

in commemoration of the 50th anniversary of the 
Bandung Asia-Africa conference and welcomed the 
observers from Kenya, Nigeria, and turkey.  

Minister Mustapa Mohamed wished the meeting 
success and hoped that with the strong collabora-
tion, cooperation, and linkages among the 19 APO 
members, the Asian region would become a force 
to be reckoned with. In closing, he pointed out that 
productivity was a marathon without a finish line 
and confirmed that the APO would continue to be 
relevant and productivity would continue to feature 
prominently in transforming Asia into a productive, 
competitive, innovative region.

StAteMeNtS By New APO cHAIR 
AND vIce cHAIRS

Newly elected APO chair Dr. Dong-Kyu choi stated 
that it was a great honor for the government of the 
Republic of Korea to be elected as chair of the APO 
for 2010–2011. He sincerely thanked his predeces-
sors, APO Director for japan Shiro Sadoshima and 
APO Alternate Director for japan Kazuo Sunaga, 
for their valuable services and hoped to have their 
guidance in performing his duties.

Dr. choi noted that global economic recovery was 
underway, although the economic slowdown had 
certainly affected governments and enterprises in 
the Asia-Pacific. under the current circumstances, 

yang Berbahagia Dato’ Sri Mustapa 
Mohamed

(l–R) APO chair Dr. Dong-Kyu choi, APO first vice chair Somdy 
Inmyxai, APO Second vice chair Mohd. Razali Hussain
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enhancement of productivity had once again 
emerged as the key to long-term economic devel-
opment. He highlighted three major challenges to 
be addressed by the APO in its next phase: raising 
total factor productivity catalyzed by innovation; 
creation of a knowledge-based, sustainable econo-
my; and productivity-based social development. He 
expressed his hope for the support and coopera-
tion from fellow Directors over the next year.

Mr. Somdy Inmyxai acknowledged that it was a 
great honor for lao PDR and himself to be elected 
as the first vice chair of the APO for 2010 and 2011. 
He expressed his sincere thanks and gratitude for 
that honor to all fellow Directors. He also thanked 
the government of Malaysia and the MPc for mak-
ing graceful arrangements to host the meeting. He 
pledged to do his best to support the chair through-
out the meeting.

Mr. Razali Hussain expressed his gratitude for elec-
tion to the position of Second vice chair and prom-
ised to support the chair and the first vice chair to 
ensure a smooth, successful gBM.

ANNuAl RePORt Of tHe 
SecRetARy-geNeRAl 

Secretary-general Shigeo takenaka extended a 
warm welcome to all delegates and expressed 
sincere appreciation to the government of Malay-
sia for hosting the meeting. He also expressed his 
gratitude to Mr. Mohd. Razali Hussain, Director gen-
eral of the MPc, and MPc staff members for their 
hard work and meticulous preparations to ensure 
a smooth, productive meeting. Secretary-general 
takenaka pointed out that this gBM was important 
as it would decide the amount of the total member-
ship contributions for 2011 and 2012 and elect a new 
Secretary-general. 

In explaining the Secretariat’s proposal for a 2.1% in-
crease in membership contributions, the Secretary-
general said that the Secretariat’s intention was 
to ensure that the level of activities for 2011–2012 

was substantially the 
same as that for 2008. 
He then pointed out 
that a major gap be-
tween revenue and 
expenditure in 2011 
and 2012 was expect-
ed to be created by 
the sharp rise in the 
value of the yen ver-
sus the uS dollar and 
proposed to fill that 
gap almost solely by reducing Secretariat per-
sonnel costs through a proposed average salary  
reduction of as much as 18%. He stated that the 
unprecedented sharp reductions represented Sec-
retariat staff efforts to avoid major increases in the 
amount of membership contributions for some 
countries and to respond to the persistent calls 
for personnel cost reductions. Secretary-general  
takenaka then pointed out that such reduction 
measures could be implemented only from the  
beginning of july this year, and thus the impact dur-
ing 2010 would be only half of what was expected 
during 2011 and 2012, which was the main reason 
for the proposal to tap the working capital fund to 
meet the shortfall of approximately uS$0.5 million in 
the 2010 budget. Reimbursement of the fund would 
be made as soon as feasible. the Secretary-general 
noted that the proposed call for a 2.1% increase in 
the amount of total membership contributions for 
2011 and 2012 was based only on the need to cover 
the inevitable shortfall expected this year. 

Secretary-general takenaka then briefed the meet-
ing on what had been achieved and what remained 
undone during his two terms as head of the Secre-
tariat from the administrative and organizational 
perspective. first, he touched on the reorganiza-
tion of the Secretariat from six departments to 
four, which took place a little over three years ago, 
by abolishing the environment Department and 
the Information and Public Relations Department 
and integrating most of their functions into other  
departments. He expressed satisfaction that the 
subsequent achievements after integration had  

APO Secretary-general Shigeo 
takenaka

2010 gBM
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indicated the success of Secretariat reorganization. 
He then referred to the introduction of a perfor-
mance-based staff appraisal system initiated three 
years ago. He confirmed that the new system had 
contributed to the improvement of the Secretariat’s 
overall work culture and staff motivation. He also 
mentioned that together with the performance ap-
praisal system, a new project reporting system had 
been devised in 2006. the new system was origi-
nally intended to keep the Secretariat informed of 
the results of project implementation in a system-
atic, timely manner, but it gradually became a very 
good medium for officers to propose new, innova-
tive ideas within the Secretariat. 

the Secretary-general then touched upon the 
progress achieved in financial discipline. He point-
ed out that from 2006, the Secretariat had started 
reviewing the financial procedures to attain greater 
clarity, efficiency, and accountability. with this ap-
proach, the Secretariat could calculate project ex-
penditure in the middle of a year and thus was able 
to predict how much additional budget would be 
available in the remainder of that year. Based on 
this, the Secretariat had been able to introduce ad-
ditional projects for implementation in the middle 
of the fiscal year using the unspent budget to maxi-
mize the benefits to member governments. 

He then moved to the personnel cost-cutting mea-
sures. Referring to the proposed 18% salary cut, he 
underscored how deep the 18% salary cut was com-
pared with previous voluntary reductions. He also 
hoped that the delegates appreciated that these 
drastic measures were necessary to cope with the 
current very unfavorable economic situation, while 
also recognizing the concerns about their long-term 
impact on the sustainability of the organization. 

when reporting revenues, the Secretary-general 
expressed gratitude for the generous gestures 
by the Republic of china and Republic of Korea in 
providing special grants to the APO and expressed 
hope that all the economically successful members 
would consider assisting the APO financially over and 
above their compulsory membership contributions. 

Secretary-general takenaka then summarized sig-
nificant developments that had occurred on the pro-
gram side after the previous wSM. He reported that 
the eco-products International fair held in jakarta, 
Indonesia, in early March 2010 had had more than 
160 exhibitors and attracted over 90,000 visitors. to-
gether with the concurrent international conference 
that focused on eco-service and eco-finance, the fair 
was a major success, and he thanked the Indonesian 
government for its wholehearted cooperation. 

He also mentioned the publication of the third edi-
tion of the APO Productivity Databook in early April 
2010. He informed the meeting that in this edition, 
computations of total factor productivity for fiji, In-
donesia, the Philippines, and thailand in addition 
to those for japan, the Republic of china, and the 
Republic of Korea had been included. Moreover, the 
new publication successfully computed the labor 
productivity of 12 member economies using a gDP-
per-actual-hour basis rather than the traditional 
gDP-per-worker basis, which he pointed out put the 
APO firmly on the map as a repository of reliable la-
bor productivity statistics in the Asia-Pacific region. 

Progress had also been made in the research on 
knowledge management (KM), the Secretary- 
general confirmed. Knowledge Management: Case 
Studies for Small and Medium Enterprises was published  
last fall, and the Knowledge Management Tools and 
Techniques Manual would come out shortly. He hoped 
that when the Practical Guide on Knowledge Management 
for SME Owners/Managers was completed in August, 
the trilogy would make the APO a unique center able to 
disseminate the benefits of KM to SMes around the world. 

concluding his report, Secretary-general takenaka 
stated that in the last five and one-half years, the 
APO had become a leaner, functionally more effi-
cient, and financially more disciplined organization. 
He assured the delegates that, with the help of mem-
ber governments, the Secretariat would continue 
to work hard to improve its efficiency and increase 
benefits to its members. He noted that this was the 
final gBM he would attend and thanked member 
governments for their support and encouragement 
during his Secretary-generalship. 
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the 51st wSM was held in Bangkok, thailand, 19–21 
October. It was attended by 35 NPO and Agriculture 
delegates from 19 member countries, 17 advisers 
from nine member countries, and four observers 
representing the united Nations food and Agri-
culture Organization Regional Office for Asia and  
Pacific, Pan African Productivity Association, united 
Nations conference on trade and Development, 
and united Nations economic and Social commis-
sion for Asia and the Pacific. executive Director of 
the thailand Productivity Institute and APO Al-
ternate Director for thailand Dr. Phanit laosirirat  
delivered the welcome remarks, followed by the in-
augural address by Permanent Secretary, Ministry of 
Industry, and APO Director for thailand Dr. witoon  
Simachokedee.

welcOMe ReMARKS 

executive Director of the thailand Productivity 
Institute (ftPI) and APO Alternate Director for thailand 
Dr. Phanit laosirirat welcomed APO Secretary- 
general Ryuichiro yamazaki and all delegates. He 

2010 gBm AnD wsm
51st WorkshoP meetinG of heADs of nPos

said that the Ministry of Industry and ftPI were 
honored to host the 51st wSM. He expressed the 
hope that delegates would partake of the many 
delights of Bangkok and enjoy their three-day 
stay. He noted that over the next three days, the 
delegates would be discussing a broad range of 
issues concerning the improvement of the APO’s 
programs for regional productivity development. 
He expressed optimism that this meeting would 
provide an opportunity for delegates to discuss 
their experiences and emerging needs to guide APO 
framework programs.

Dr. Phanit pointed out that over the last few years, 
the APO had improved its projects in terms of 
quality and quantity to cope with global changes 
and the level of development of member countries. 
this had resulted in accumulated experience and 
new knowledge. the frequent discussions among 
member countries also stimulated the dynamic 
process of project improvement. He believed 
that the APO had become a center of excellence 
on productivity in its own right and occupied an 
autonomous position in the world.

2010 gBM
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globalization had had a major impact on the socio-
economy since the 1990s, pointed out Dr. Phanit. 
throughout the history of socioeconomic develop-
ment, productivity had been a focal point for efforts 
to create wealth and improve the quality of life. He 
quoted Peter Drucker, who said that the most impor-
tant contribution management needed to make in 
the 21st century was to increase the productivity of 
knowledge work. He also cited Paul Krugman, who 
raised the similar point that the concept of a coun-
try’s competitiveness had in fact tracked develop-
ments in national productivity over several decades. 
He further noted that productivity growth had ac-
celerated in all countries as a result of the gains that 
arose from the improvement of production process-
es and use of technology. Dr. Phanit asserted that it 
had been widely accepted that higher productivity 
had contributed to socioeconomic growth and en-
abled economies to specialize in promising sectors. 

considering the trends in productivity which may 
have contributed to the increase in global competi-
tion, Dr. Phanit felt that thailand needed to adjust 
its policy in response to this competitive situation. 
to move forward, the country might consider two 
ways: reducing inputs to achieve the same quan-
tity of output; and increasing the value of output 
through innovation processes that can meet the 
needs of customers in target markets. He also said 
that the new-generation productivity movement 
would require multiple collaborative efforts, both 
internally and externally, where all related agencies 
worked and shared experiences together. 

INAuguRAl ADDReSS 

In his inaugural address, Dr. witoon Simachokedee, 
Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Industry, and APO 
Director for thailand, first welcomed the delegates 
to the wSM and then expressed gratitude to the 
APO under the leadership of new Secretary-general 
Ryuichiro yamazaki and to the ftPI for coorganizing 
the meeting. Dr. witoon articulated five key chal-
lenges for the 21st century:

1.  Development cannot continue to use more and 
more natural resources to generate economic 
growth.

2.  with globalization and integration, competi-
tion will force individual economies to be more 
efficient, effective, and quality-conscious to  
succeed.

3.  As societies age, the workforce must be-
come more productive to provide for their  
dependents.

4.  Rapid technology development is shortening 
product life cycles, making goods and services 
obsolete more quickly. thus, there is a need to 
manage the shift from the traditional produc-
tion patterns toward a new technoproduction 
pattern to ensure competitiveness and maintain 
sustainable growth. 

5.  economic development can only be sustained 
by protecting the environment and making ef-
fective uses of resources.

to overcome these challenges, he reiterated the 
importance of productivity to create wealth and 
improve the quality of life through socioeconomic 
growth. Advanced economies have successfully 
leveraged productivity to maintain high economic 
growth. He then cited the case of thailand, where 
the pending formation of a single ASeAN economic 
community had become the impetus for the coun-
try to improve its productivity and competitiveness 
that had grown only moderately since 1995. 

the focus of improving competitiveness and 
productivity falls squarely on the three important 
factors of capital, labor, and technology and how 

APO Alternate Director for thailand Dr. Phanit laosirirat
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these three factors synergize with each other to 
produce higher productivity growth. Dr. witoon 
stressed that despite the large accumulation 
of technology capital in thailand, it had yet to 
contribute to productivity growth as the lack of 
skilled workers, the result of an ineffective education 
system and national workforce planning, had 
hampered the efficient use of capital and instead 
led to low labor productivity. 

As labor productivity is the key driving force behind 
economic growth performance, the thai govern-
ment is initiating plans to upgrade the skills of the 
workforce continuously so that employees will stay 
relevant to the changing needs of the economy. to 
take advantage of global business opportunities 
and integration, the Ministry of Industry is support-
ing industrial enterprises with programs that im-
prove their management and supply chain systems 
to raise product quality and increase product and 
process innovation. the ftPI has a critical role in 
facilitating the productivity growth not only of the 
manufacturing sector but also of the service and  
agricultural sectors through its productivity aware-
ness and technical support programs ensuring that 
many thai organizations and businesses stay com-
petitive. the ftPI will also need to expand its collab-
oration beyond domestic borders to help thailand 
make the next leap in productivity. 

APO Director for thailand Dr. witoon Simachokedee

Dr. witoon closed his speech by encouraging the 
delegates to persevere with productivity improve-
ment as it contributed to the well-being of all. 

StAteMeNt By tHe APO 
SecRetARy-geNeRAl

Secretary-general Ryuichiro yamazaki stated that 
it was a great honor to attend the distinguished 
gathering of Heads of NPOs and Agriculture del-
egates which would, among other tasks, confirm 
the lineup of APO projects for 2011 and refine the 
Program Plan for 2012. He expressed his gratitude to 
all member countries for electing him as the ninth  
Secretary-general of the APO. He said that he humbly  
accepted the task of working to pursue the shared 
mission of improving the productivity of members 
in the Asia-Pacific region. In this connection, he  
requested the continued support and cooperation 
of Heads of NPOs, Agriculture delegates, and other 
productivity partners and stakeholders so that they 
could work together to improve productivity both 
quantitatively and qualitatively.

He thanked the government of the Kingdom of thai-
land for its generosity in hosting this year’s wSM in 
the dynamic capital city of Bangkok. He expressed 
his deep appreciation to Dr. witoon Simachokedee, 
Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Industry, and APO 
Director for thailand, and to Dr. Phanit laosirirat, ex-
ecutive Director of the ftPI and NPO Head for thai-
land, for all the arrangements and warm hospitality 
extended to the delegates. 

the Secretary-general said that he was privileged 
to join the APO at this auspicious moment as it 
prepared to celebrate its golden jubilee next year. 
He mentioned that the founders had bequeathed to 
member economies a common aspiration and the 
guiding principles to improve productivity in the 
Asia-Pacific region through mutual cooperation. He 
pointed out that all the eight Secretaries-general 
before him made tremendous contributions to 
create tangible results befitting the aspirations 
of the founders. this was only possible with the 
close cooperation of member economies and their 
NPOs. He felt that the proud history and record of 
achievements of the APO made him resolved to 
carry out the mandate of leading the Secretariat to 
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further the cause of productivity for the benefit of 
all member economies. 

the Secretary-general admitted that the challenges 
were enormous. financially, the APO was facing 
unprecedented difficulties due to the steep 
decline of the dollar and the situation remained 
uncertain. He said that the 2011 and 2012 project 
lists presented to this wSM were prepared during 
such unpredictable exchange rate fluctuations. 
the Secretary-general assured the delegates that 
the Secretariat understood the tight budgetary 
constraints of member countries due to the global 
financial crisis, as reflected in the total membership 
contributions for 2011 and 2012, which remained the 
same as the amount for the 2009 and 2010 biennium. 
the main difference between the two bienniums 
was the unexpectedly weak dollar, translating in 
effect to about a 10% decrease in funds available for 
yen-denominated expenditures for 2011 and 2012. 

APO Secretary-general Ryuichiro yamazaki

Secretary-general yamazaki explained that the 
Secretariat had modified the 2011 and 2012 
Program Plans to devise the best lineup of projects 
within the budget available. the total membership 
contributions decided by the Directors at the Kuala 
lumpur gBM would have otherwise covered only 
44 multicountry projects for 2011. However, by 
modifying the project lineup, the Secretariat was 
able to increase that number. the modified lineup 
for 2011 now featured 55 multicountry projects, 
compared with 87 in 2007 and 2008, 82 in 2009, and 
65 in 2010. for 2012, 54 multicountry projects were 
planned, inclusive of the gBM and wSM. 

He also explained that the modifications in the 
2011 and 2012 Program Plans had included adjust-
ing the type, category, title, or venue of projects. In 
addition, the Secretariat had also scaled down or 
deferred some projects. the Secretary-general il-
lustrated this by referring to two e-learning courses 
that had to be cancelled from the six originally listed 
for 2011; similarly, of five observational study mis-
sions to nonmember countries, only two would be 
carried out. He cautioned the delegates that if the 
uS dollar slipped further, the number of projects to 
be implemented might have to be reviewed again.  

the Secretary-general appreciated the important 
initiatives undertaken by his immediate predeces-
sor, Secretary-general Shigeo takenaka, to strength-
en the institutional capacity of NPOs such as the  
establishment of the APO’s center of excellence 
(cOe), and the assistance to NPOs to develop com-
petence in promoting productivity in the pub-
lic sector. He noted that it was time to review the 
APO program direction. He pointed out that of the  
current thrust areas, four (strengthening of SMes, 
green Productivity, integrated community de-
velopment, and development of NPOs) had been 
adopted in 1999, while knowledge management 
had been added as the fifth thrust area in 2001. He 
mentioned that the Directors had exchanged views 
concerning thrust and subject areas during the gBM 
in Kuala lumpur last April, and the Secretariat had 
compiled their suggestions to be presented during 
the Strategic Planning Session.  

the Secretary-general reported that the Secretariat 
had examined the appropriateness of following up 
newly introduced topics such as the Information  
Security Management System based on the 
ISO27000 standard and mental health and produc-
tivity. He also said that for 2011 and 2012, new topics 
would be examined, including talent management 
for globalizing SMes, material flow cost accounting, 
and an Asian SMe benchmarking index. He stated 
that in agriculture, new initiatives would include  
examining the implications of climate change on 
agricultural productivity, identification of appro-
priate adaptation measures, promotion of farm 
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production practices to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions, and promotion of more cutting-edge 
technologies such as nanotechnology to boost  
agricultural productivity. On the agribusiness side, 
an advanced agribusiness management course 
would be conducted annually.

In the field of green Productivity, the eco-products 
International fair, one of the APO’s flagship 
programs since 2004, will be held in New Delhi, 
India, in february 2011 in collaboration with the 
Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, 
Ministry of commerce and Industry; National 
Productivity council; and confederation of Indian 
Industry. He congratulated the MPc for successfully 
organizing its first international environmental 
exhibition in Kuala lumpur recently. the Secretary-
general also congratulated the Philippines, which 
had held a similar event in August. He believed 
that the recent exhibitions organized by these two 
countries had demonstrated that the seeds planted 
for the creation of a sustainable society in the region 
through the promotion of eco-products were now 
beginning to grow with these follow-up activities. 

the Secretary-general pledged that productivity 
data and analysis activities would continue to 
assist member countries to understand better their 
sources of economic growth. He pointed out that 
following its release in 2007, the APO Productivity 
Databook had been cited by other international 

organizations. He noted that the promotion of 
the productivity movement in Africa continued to 
receive enthusiastic responses from countries in 
the Pan African Productivity Association. the APO’s 
outreach to Africa is financed exclusively by special 
cash grants, and this year it is being continued 
thanks to a generous grant from the Republic of 
china. the expansion of the productivity movement 
beyond the Asia-Pacific region has increased the 
recognition of the APO and NPOs. 

the Secretary-general made grateful mention of 
the special cash grants from japan and the Republic 
of Korea that had been very helpful in broadening 
the scope and outreach of APO activities and hoped 
that the APO would continue to receive special 
cash grants from member countries in the next 
and future years. Regarding plans for the APO’s 
50th anniversary next year, the Secretary-general 
said that the Secretariat would examine how 
arrangements could be made for an appropriate 
event to observe it in conjunction with the gBM and 
within the budget available.  

In closing, the Secretary-general thanked the  
government of the Kingdom of thailand, especially 
the ftPI, for graciously hosting the 51st session 
of the wSM and expressed his hope that all the  
delegates, advisers, and observers would have an 
enjoyable stay in Bangkok, a city that always combines  
traditional thai warmth with bustling dynamism. 

2010 gBm AnD wsm
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Industry and 
servIce sectors

the economic growth and competitiveness of a 
nation depend on progress in the industry and 
service sectors. Industries in the Asia-Pacific re-
gion face immense challenges due to rapid ad-
vances in technologies, deepening globalization, 
increasing environmental concerns, the constant 
need to innovate, and effects of financial crises. 
the service sector continues to expand at a rapid 
pace in most APO member countries, aided by It-
based innovations that enable operations to be-
come more customer-centric and responsive. In 
2010, at the request of members, the APO began 
to address public-sector productivity, given the 
huge role the sector plays in modern economies.

the objectives of basic research studies and 
surveys, and to some extent symposia and 
study meetings, are to identify the specific 
needs of the industry and service sectors in 
member economies against the background of 
the changes and challenges they face. training 
courses, seminars, workshops, and observational 
study missions are then organized to focus on 
those needs. A hands-on, application-oriented 
approach is taken, allowing participants to 
practice techniques and apply know-how during 
projects. this makes it easier for them to adopt, 
adapt, and apply the skills acquired in their own 
work situations and train others too. while most 
projects in the industry and service sectors are 

16
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meant to meet the common needs of members with 
multicountry participation, others are designed with 
specific groups of countries with similar needs in 
mind. the two-tiered project approach was utilized 
more in 2010, given the initial success and requests 
by member economies for more such projects. this 
approach involves holding an e-learning course in 
groups of countries, followed by either a more in-
depth, traditional, face-to-face training course or 
workshop, or face-to-face multicountry training/
workshop followed by a tailored in-country program 
on the same topic.

In planning APO activities for the industry and ser-
vice sectors, thrust areas, especially KM, Strengthen-
ing of SMes, and Development of NPOs, are given 
priority. the six categories of APO activities related 
to the industry and service sectors are Socioeco-
nomic Progress; Strengthening of SMes; KM; gen-
eral Management; total Quality Management; and 
technology, It, and Innovation. In 2010, special fo-
cus was given to application of KM and the initiation 
of public-sector productivity-related projects.

cAtegORy 1:  
SOcIOecONOMIc PROgReSS

APO FORuM FOR PROMOtING 
eNtRePReNeuRSHIP IN ASIA 

entrepreneurial activities stimulate and revitalize 
national economies by embracing innovation and 
technology as well as creativity. entrepreneurship 
is often considered a difficult undertaking and re-
quires individuals with a special spirit. Recognizing 
the importance of entrepreneurship for member 
economies, the APO conducted projects on en-
trepreneurship development in 2008 and 2009 to 
provide platforms for participants to examine vari-
ous options and opportunities for entrepreneur-
ial initiatives. unlike the entrepreneurship forum 
held in january 2010, which was aimed primarily at 
young start-ups, the November forum targeted ex-
perienced businesspeople from member countries, 
particularly those planning to develop a market for 

their businesses in japan or wishing to tie up with 
japanese business counterparts. 

the APO forum for Promoting entrepreneurship 
in Asia was held in Kyoto, 18–21 November, and 
was attended by 15 participants from 13 member 
countries. the overseas participants also partnered 
students from universities in Kyoto and tokyo in a 
business innovation workshop to discuss ideas that 
tackle sustainability and aging society issues that 
are plaguing the more developed Asian economies. 

Program coverage: Outline of Kyoto Research Park; 
Kyoto’s latest innovation—entrepreneurship and 
nanoclusters; entrepreneurship Kyoto style; tradi-
tion and innovation—challenges for the future; In-
novation management of cyberAgent, Inc.; youth 
entrepreneurship; and Networking with potential 
japanese entrepreneurs and business partners. Site 
visits were made to: Shimadzu corporation; yoshi-
chu Mannequin co., ltd.; Nodaya co., ltd.; and Mi-
yako taxi co., ltd. Participants also attended the 
global entrepreneurship week closing ceremony 
and reception hosted by the Honda foundation.

cAtegORy 2: 
StReNgtHeNINg Of SMes

APO FORuM FOR PROMOtING 
eNtRePReNeuRSHIP IN ASIA

entrepreneurial activities revitalize national econo-
mies by embracing innovation and technology 
as well as creativity. Asian economies have great  
potential to absorb and assimilate superior technol-
ogies that can spur faster economic growth. One of 
the keys to achieving more rapid economic and total 
factor productivity growth is to shift resources into 
modern, capital-intensive technologies through 
progressive entrepreneurship and proactive learn-
ing. the APO has recognized the importance of  
providing potential entrepreneurs and business 
starters from member countries with a forum to 
discuss various options and opportunities for entre-
preneurial initiatives and the keys to success so that 
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they are guided and encouraged in their potential 
role as economic drivers. 

the APO forum for Promoting entrepreneurship 
in Asia was held in tokyo, 13–15 january, and was  
attended by 20 participants from 15 member coun-
tries. the forum provided participants with oppor-
tunities to revisit the concept of entrepreneurship 
and learn the keys to success by listening to lectures 
by and participating in discussions with real entre-
preneurs who are currently active in regional and 
international markets. the participants discussed 
the need for proactive support systems for young 
entrepreneurs hoping to start new businesses.

Promoting entrepreneurship in Asia
 
Program coverage: concept of entrepreneurship 
and keys to successful entrepreneurship; Support 
systems needed by and helpful for young entrepre-
neurs wishing to start up new businesses; and Inter-
actions among young Asian entrepreneurs.

MuLtIcOuNtRy OBSeRvAtIONAL StuDy 
MISSION ON SMe DeveLOPMeNt IN JAPAN 
FOR tHe MekONG ReGION

the program for SMe Development in the Mekong 
Region was initiated by the APO and japan Produc-
tivity center (jPc) in 2005. Since its inception, this 
program has exposed SMes in the Mekong region 
to advanced management techniques utilized by 
their counterparts in japan. It has also served as a 
platform for them to observe and replicate success-
ful strategies for enhancing productivity at the SMe 
level. various activities have been undertaken to 

support this program, such as a training of trainers’ 
course, development of SMe assessment criteria, 
and development of model companies. Overall, this 
collaboration has also strengthened the relationship 
between NPOs in developed and less developed 
member countries. 

In 2010, the APO in collaboration with the jPc  
organized a multicountry observational study  
mission on SMe Development in the Mekong  
Region as part of the program on SMe Development 
in the Mekong Region started in 2005. the mission 
was organized in tokyo, 1–5 february, and attended 
by 12 participants from cambodia, lao PDR, and 
vietnam, while nonmember Myanmar sent four  
observers. each country was represented by a senior 
manager of an NPO or high-level representatives of 
chambers of commerce, government ministries, and 
SMes. Apart from visiting world-class japanese SMes 
that had won the japan Quality Award, the partici-
pants observed productivity improvement activities 
and studied measures adopted by japanese SMes  
during the global financial crisis.

Program coverage: characteristics of SMe manage-
ment in japan; Productivity improvement activities 
in SMes; and Innovative approaches for sustainable 
SMe development in Singapore. Site visits were 
hosted by johoku Steel co. Inc. (winner of the Ita-
bashi Quality Award in 2008); Mimasu Industries co. 
ltd. (winner of the Active SMes Award given by the 
Ministry of economy, trade and Industry in 2009); 
Nissan Motor co. ltd. Oppama factory; enoshima 
Aquarium (winner of the High Service japan 300 
award in 2009); and Ibiza corporation (winner of the 
japan Quality Award in 1998).

StuDy MeetING ON StRAteGIc MeRGeRS AND 
AcquISItIONS FOR SMes 

Mergers and acquisitions (M&As) offer various 
advantages to SMes in Asia. M&As maximize 
the productivity of SMes by enlarging business 
opportunities in terms of both products and 
services. M&As connect local SMes to global 
markets and partners and sustain SMe productivity 
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by providing options to sell businesses rather than 
closing the entire operations. through cross-border 
M&As, SMes can acquire new technologies, skills, 
markets, and brand images.

Strategic Mergers and Acquisitions for SMes

the APO held two previous study meetings on 
M&As in 2007 and 2008. It was understood that 
while large companies were enjoying the benefits 
of M&As, SMes lacked knowledge on how to benefit 
from them. Based on that understanding, a study 
meeting on Strategic Mergers and Acquisitions for 
SMes was held in Daejeon, Republic of Korea, 23–26 
November. It was implemented by the Korea Pro-
ductivity center and attended by 13 participants 
from eight member countries. the study meeting 
examined the latest trends and status of M&As in 
Asia for SMes in the aftermath of the global financial 
crisis. It also studied the benefits and challenges of 
M&As for SMes and identified best practices of SMes 
in increasing productivity through M&As. 

Program coverage: M&As between local SMes; 
M&As between foreign firms and local SMes; M&As 
in the aftermath of the global financial crisis; M&A 
regulatory and institutional frameworks; and 
Horizontal mergers, vertical mergers, cross-border 
mergers, and takeovers/buyouts.

FIRSt AND SecOND cOORDINAtION MeetINGS 
FOR tHe ReSeARcH ON tHe FINANcING OF 
SMALL AND MeDIuM BuSINeSSeS

One of the driving factors for productivity enhance-
ment is new businesses and innovations. Promoting 

SMes to become future world-class enterprises 
through new ideas and innovations is an important 
mission of the APO. Assisting SMes by encourag-
ing entrepreneurship and productivity will lead to 
positive effects on overall socioeconomic devel-
opment. A critical aspect of the development and 
growth of SMes is access to financing. It is important 
for them to have appropriate channels and options 
for funding. compared with larger firms, SMes often 
face great challenges in accessing finance. given 
that limited access, it is important for APO member 
countries to assist SMes in connecting with funding 
sources. 

the first coordination Meeting for the Research on 
the financing of Small and Medium Businesses was 
held in Bangkok, 26–28 january, in collaboration 
with the thailand Productivity Institute. the Second 
coordination Meeting was held in taipei, Republic 
of china, 28–30 july, in collaboration with the china 
Productivity center. chief expert Prof. Moon-Kyum 
Kim from Soongsil university, Republic of Korea, 
led the group of national experts at both meetings. 

Seven national experts from the Republic of china, 
India, Indonesia, Republic of Korea, Malaysia, the 
Philippines, and thailand attended. the research 
examined the nature of SMe access to sources of 
funding and identified factors that hinder credit 
availability to SMes. the research focused on the 
government policy framework for supporting SMe 
financing to promote innovation. the experts’ 
report made practical policy recommendations 
for strengthening SMe financing in APO member 
countries.

financing of Small and Medium Businesses
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Program coverage: Introduction of research scope 
and methodology; economic scale and growth; 
Overview of SMes; SMe financing schemes; 
Progress of innovation; and conclusions and 
recommendations. 

ReSeARcH ON SeRvIce-SectOR 
PRODuctIvIty WItH tHe FOcuS ON SMeS

this is a one-year research project involving the 
Republic of china (ROc), japan, the Republic of 
Korea, Malaysia, and Singapore. the experts from 
these APO member countries where the service 
sector plays a dominant role in the economy 
assembled in taipei, ROc, 2–4 November, for a 
coordination meeting. the experts discussed the 
challenges facing the retail and food service sectors 
of their countries, particularly the relatively lower 
productivity growth compared with those sectors 
in more advanced western economies, as well as 
case studies of successful service companies. they 
also found that a common challenge faced by SMes 
in the retail and food service sectors was the lack of 
practical productivity measures to gauge how they 
fare in productivity compared with their competitors 
locally and abroad. 

Service-sector Productivity with the focus on SMes

the experts agreed on a common research frame-
work comprising key productivity measures for the 
retail and food service sectors using data available 
in the national statistical offices of the participating 
countries. the intercountry comparison of both the 
productivity level and growth of these sectors is the 
necessary first step to reveal the major productiv-
ity gaps and identify the key drivers that should be 

addressed to raise the productivity of the service 
sector in these countries. In addition, the research 
will also highlight best practices of companies in 
these countries. the first draft of the research paper 
is expected by the second quarter of 2011.

cAtegORy 3:  
KNOwleDge MANAgeMeNt

e-LeARNING cOuRSe ON kNOWLeDGe 
MANAGeMeNt cONcePtS AND PRActIceS

while interest in and applications of KM have been 
increasing, a need assessment survey in 2007 
revealed that several NPOs required training of their 
KM trainers and consultants. they also requested 
assistance with the development of training and 
promotional materials on KM so that they could 
better serve their clientele. In 2009, the APO formed 
an expert group to develop an APO KM framework, 
which defined and simplified the approach to KM 
implementation, especially in SMes. following 
the acceptance of the framework, another expert 
group was established to develop the KM training 
curriculum. the KM Facilitators’ Guide for use by NPO 
KM trainers and Case Studies for KM Implementation in 
SMEs were published to assist NPOs in their training 
and promotion endeavors. In 2010, a workshop 
on implementing KM in SMes was conducted in 
Indonesia but could only accommodate about 20 
participants. this e-learning course expanded the 
opportunities available to member countries to 
develop their KM capacities. 

the e-learning course on Knowledge Management 
concepts and Practices was implemented using 
the global Development learning Network of the 
world Bank Platform. the course was organized in 
three phases between february and March 2010: 
phase I, 22–25 february, for fiji, Indonesia, Malaysia, 
the Philippines, and thailand; phase II, 2–5 March, 
for Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Pakistan, and Sri lanka; 
and phase III, 9–12 March, for cambodia, IR Iran, 
lao PDR, Mongolia, and vietnam. fifteen member 
countries with 310 enrollees took part. the course 



21APO ANNUAL REPORT 2010

induStry and Service SectOrS

was targeted at a wider audience already involved in 
KM to provide in-depth training in the methodology 
to implement KM in an organization using the APO 
approach. the course offered real-time training and 
included many case studies and group exercises to 
make the four-day program interactive and relevant 
to participants’ needs. 

Knowledge Management concepts and Practices

Program coverage: why KM?; what is KM?; APO KM 
framework; and APO KM implementation approach.

tRAINING cOuRSe ON kNOWLeDGe 
MANAGeMeNt FOR NPO tRAINeRS / 
FAcILItAtORS

the interest of NPOs and member countries in the 
field of KM has been growing. consistent with the 
results of the 2007 NPO need assessment survey, 
this training course on Knowledge Management 
for NPO trainers and facilitators was conducted to 
develop the capacity of NPOs in KM. In particular, it 
was targeted at the implementation of KM in SMes 
and gave guided assistance in undertaking KM 
in practical, easy-to-implement steps. the course 
covered the essential tools and techniques of KM of 
specific relevance to SMes. 

the APO training course on Knowledge 
Management for NPO trainers/facilitators was held 
in Dhaka, 9–13 May, and was implemented by the 
National Productivity Organization of Bangladesh. 
the course was part of the APO suite of projects in 
KM aimed at developing the capacity of KM trainers 
and consultants in NPOs. the course provided 

in-depth training in the APO KM framework and 
implementation approach for SMes using a variety 
of tools and techniques recommended by a group 
of experts. twenty participants from 15 member 
countries attended.

Program coverage: why SMes should use KM; the 
APO KM framework and practical strategies for 
implementing KM in SMes; and KM methods, tools, 
and techniques for SMes.

MuLtIcOuNtRy OBSeRvAtIONAL StuDy 
MISSION ON kNOWLeDGe-cReAtING 
eNteRPRISeS

Knowledge, comprising a wide range of experience 
and practices accumulated in an organization, has 
now established a role as one sure source of lasting 
competitive advantage in an economy where the 
only certain thing is uncertainty. KM used in an 
organization to identify, create, distribute, and 
enable the adoption of valuable, highly subjective 
insights and intuitions that are difficult to capture 
and share has now been incorporated as part of 
business strategy, information management, or 
human resources management. when a volatile 
economy shifts, companies that consistently 
create new knowledge, disseminate it widely 
throughout the organization, and quickly embody 
it in new technologies and products can survive 
such situations. these companies were defined 
as “knowledge-creating companies” by Professor 
Ikujiro Nonaka.    

Many japanese enterprises have made enviable 
progress in KM. the APO, in conjunction with the 
jPc and with guidance from the japanese Min-
istry of economy, trade and Industry, therefore  
organized a five-day multicountry observational 
study mission on Knowledge-creating enterprises in 
tokyo, 13–17 September. It was attended by 16 par-
ticipants from 12 member countries who represent-
ed SMes, governmental agencies, NPOs, and aca-
demia. two main resource persons were invited from 
japan and germany, and a number of local experts  
gave resentations and answered participants’ 
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questions about how to deploy KM effectively in their  
organizations. 

Program coverage: Basic concept of KM/setting 
perspectives for benchmarking; Internal social net-
work systems to drive KM for innovation; virtual 
Hollywood initiative to drive knowledge creation; 
KM frameworks in europe; Knowledge creation for 
human healthcare; customer-centric KM; How to 
adopt KM; and Planning for the future. Mission par-
ticipants visited the Knowledge Dynamics Initiative 
and the virtual Hollywood Platform group of fuji 
xerox co., ltd., Ntt Data corporation Headquarters, 
eisai co., ltd., and fukoku Mutual life Insurance co., 
all of which are enthusiastic KM practitioners.

StuDy MeetING ON kNOWLeDGe 
MANAGeMeNt IN tHe PuBLIc SectOR 

the public sector plays a significant role in 
employment and providing social services. Many 
NPOs in APO member countries are directly involved 
in efforts to promote public-sector productivity. 
NPOs are also witnessing greater demand from the 
general public to enhance the quality of services in 
the public sector. the APO Secretariat convened an 
expert group Meeting in tokyo in february 2010 
to discuss initiatives in public-sector productivity 
enhancement. the meeting identified applicable 
tools and techniques as well as niche areas for the 
APO to become involved in promoting public-sector 
productivity. KM was identified as one effective tool 
to be applied in this area.

to understand more thoroughly the applications 
of KM in the public sector, a study meeting on 
Knowledge Management in the Public Sector 
was held in chuncheon, Republic of Korea, 2–5 
November. It was implemented by the Korea 
Productivity center and attended by 17 overseas 
participants from 11 countries. the meeting 
identified benefits, effectiveness, and challenges 
of KM approaches in the public sector; exchanged 
best practices and examples of public-sector KM 
implementation; and developed a roadmap for KM 
practices in the sector.

Program coverage: KM applications in central and 
local governments; KM applications in public service 
agencies (e.g., schools, libraries, coastguards); and 
KM applications in public enterprises (e.g., railways, 
postal services, utilities).

Knowledge Management in the Public Sector

tRAINING cOuRSe ON kNOWLeDGe 
MANAGeMeNt FOR SMeS 

KM promotes the creation and sharing of knowledge, 
which lead to productivity enhancements by 
increasing operational effectiveness and innovation. 
KM practices have been widely employed by 
large enterprises, while SMes generally have not 
completely understood or been sufficiently exposed 
to KM. 

given the importance of strengthening SMes as well 
as effectively implementing KM in them, a training 
course was held in taipei, Republic of china, 7–10 
December, implemented by the china Productiv-
ity center. the course was attended by 17 overseas 
and three local participants, mainly from SMes. the 
course emphasized the practical use of KM based on 
case histories from the APO publication Practical KM 
Guide for SME Owners and Managers as the course 
material. through lectures on the case studies and 
site visits, participants were able to identify how KM 
could enhance innovation and improve profit and 
quality in their daily operations. 
 
Program coverage: Differences between KM for 
SMes and large companies; useful KM tools and 
techniques for SMes; KM to increase customer 
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satisfaction; KM to improve the quality of products 
and services; KM for innovation; and KM for employ-
ee development.

Knowledge Management for SMes

cAtegORy 4:  
geNeRAl MANAgeMeNt

MuLtIcOuNtRy OBSeRvAtIONAL StuDy 
MISSION ON MeNtAL HeALtH AND 
PRODuctIvIty 

Mental health is defined as a state of well-being in 
which every individual realizes his or her own po-
tential including the ability to cope with the normal 
stresses of life, work productively and fruitfully, and 
make a contribution to his or her community. Mental 
health disorders represent a largely hidden but sub-
stantial proportion of the world’s health problems.

taking good care of mental health in the workplace 
is important not only for organizations but also 
for the socioeconomic development of a country. 
Some governments including japan have already 
enacted laws and regulations for better mental 
health in the workplace. to address this important 
emerging issue, the APO together with the jPc 
organized a multicountry observational study 
mission on Mental Health and Productivity in japan 
with the objectives of observing the measures and 
practices implemented by the government, jPc, and 
enterprises in tokyo and yokohama, 18–22 january 

2010. the mission was attended by 19 participants 
from 11 member countries, along with five local 
experts. 

Program coverage: Mental health at the workplace: 
general conditions in japan; Outline of the japan 
Mental Health Inventory and its analysis; govern-
mental policy on mental health promotion at the 
workplace; and stress control at the workplace:  
Relaxation and autonomic training. Site visits were 
made to the japanese electrical electronic and  
Information union’s Mental Health center for work-
ers, yokohama Rosai Hospital, chiba district offices, 
east japan works, and jfe Steel corporation.

DeveLOPMeNt OF tHe APO PLAN FOR 
ActIvItIeS ON PuBLIc-SectOR PRODuctIvIty 
uNDeR tHe ReSeARcH FuND FOR 
PRODuctIvIty eNHANceMeNt IN MeMBeR 
cOuNtRIeS 

the public sector is important in all APO member 
countries. In some, the contribution of the public 
sector to gDP is as high as 40%. In terms of em-
ployment, this sector also plays a significant role in 
many countries. the APO has launched a series of 
public sector-related projects to address the needs 
of member countries. while appreciating the Secre-
tariat’s efforts, some NPO delegates attending the 
last wSM in Manila suggested the development of 
an APO public-sector productivity framework to 
identify the focus and core areas for its engagement 
to produce the optimum results. Since the public 
sector is huge and encompasses many areas, it is 
essential to reach agreement on productivity inter-
ventions for it.

to devise a systematic, realistic action plan, a small 
expert group meeting comprising representatives 
of NPOs and public-sector experts drawn primarily 
from NPOs or actively engaged in public-sector pro-
ductivity efforts in other agencies was held at the 
APO Secretariat in tokyo, 15–17 february. the ex-
perts comprised eight professionals involved in en-
hancing public-sector performance and two Heads 
of NPOs. the countries represented at the meeting 
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were the Republic of Korea, Malaysia, the Philip-
pines, and thailand.

Program coverage: country presentations; Discus-
sions on the identification of niche areas for the 
APO’s engagement and productivity tools and tech-
niques for the public sector; and Recommendations 
on the APO’s activities vis-à-vis public-sector pro-
ductivity development. 

tOP MANAGeMeNt FORuM ON 
eNvIRONMeNtAL MANAGeMeNt FOR 
SuStAINABLe PRODuctIvIty eNHANceMeNt 

the top Management forum started in 1985 to 
share information on state-of-the-art corporate 
management practices by leading enterprises 
in japan, targeting top business managers from 
member countries. In light of global warming, firms 
need not only to comply with social responsibility 
requirements to ensure environmentally friendly 
production processes but also to adopt holistic 
environmental management strategies based on 
cutting-edge environmentally friendly production 
technologies to maximize resource efficiency. Such 
initiatives help improve productivity and overall 
corporate performance. the 2010 forum took up 
the topic of new developments in environmental 
management strategies for enhancing the 
competitiveness of the business sector in APO 
member countries. 

the forum was held in Kyoto, 22–24 february, and 
attended by 32 participants from 17 member coun-
tries. It provided participants opportunities to study 
the significant features of environmental manage-
ment practices utilized by leading japanese compa-
nies for sustainable productivity improvement and 
fulfilling their social responsibility to protect the 
global environment, as well as to discuss how top 
executives can encourage a culture of environmen-
tal awareness throughout an organization.

Program coverage: environmental manage-
ment strategies adopted by leading eco-business 

companies; Promotion of environmental man-
agement practices; and environmental brands in  
japan.

environmental Management for Sustainable Productivity 
enhancement

exPeRt GROuP MeetING FOR PuBLIcAtION 
OF tHe Practical Guide on KnowledGe 
ManaGeMent for SMe ownerS/ManaGerS 
uNDeR tHe ReSeARcH FuND

In Asia, enterprises including SMes are shifting 
mindsets to developing a culture of innovation. the 
APO launched a project to support SMe owners in 
developing capabilities for innovation through KM 
initiatives by providing a practical guidebook on 
KM. the expert group Meeting for Publication of 
the Practical Guide on Knowledge Management for 
SME Owners/Managers was held 7–9 April at the APO 
Secretariat. the meeting was led by chief expert 
Naoki Ogiwara from the Knowledge Dynamics 
Initiatives of fuji xerox supported by three other KM 
experts from the uK, the Philippines, and thailand. 

During the meeting, the experts discussed the 
challenges faced by SMe owners/managers when 
implementing KM activities. the group stressed 
the importance of keeping the content of the 
guide as practical and easy to use as possible while 
differentiating it from and not overlapping with 
previous APO KM publications. the publication 
contains examples of KM application in Asian 
SMes and introduces steps and tools to utilize KM 
effectively in a business context. 
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the Practical Guide on 
Knowledge Manage-
ment for SME Owners/
Managers was pub-
lished on 15 September, 
five months after the 
expert group meeting. 
the publication served 
as training material for 
the APO training course 
on Knowledge Manage-

ment for SMes held in the Republic of china, 7–10 
December. the guide received positive feedback 
from the participants who were SMe owners and 
NPO consultants as well as government officials and 
academics involved in SMe policy and promotion.  

Program coverage: Publication content, structure, 
time frame, and work allocation for the Practical 
Guide on Knowledge Management for SME Owners/
Managers. 

exPeRt GROuP MeetING ON DeveLOPMeNt 
OF cOMPetItIve StRAteGIeS

SMes are the major forces of economic growth in 
Asia. SMes comprise more than 95% of the total in 
most APO countries. Since its establishment, the 
APO has been supporting productivity improve-
ment in SMes. SMes have adopted tools such as 5S, 
total quality management, and kaizen to enhance 
their productivity, quality, and speed. these tools 
have contributed to operational effectiveness, lead-
ing to superior performance. today, it is essential for 
SMes to have a competitive strategy. the essence 
of a competitive strategy is doing things different-
ly from others. A competitive strategy is finding a 
niche that allows an enterprise to compete in a dis-
tinctive way. this may be achieved by undertaking 
innovations in products, processes, and methods of 
management. 

the expert group Meeting on Development of 
competitive Strategies for Asian SMes was held 15–
16 April 2010 at the APO Secretariat. the meeting 

was led by the chief expert, Hitotsubashi university 
emeritus Professor Hirotaka takeuchi. the meet-
ing was attended by six experts from the Republic 
of china, japan, Republic of Korea, the Philippines, 
Singapore, and thailand. for the opening lecture, 
Professor takeuchi gave a presentation on competi-
tive Strategy to the audience of 35 including con-
sultants, researchers, government officials, and APO 
Secretariat staff. During the meeting, the experts ex-
amined the concept of a competitive strategy and 
explored its usefulness and effectiveness in the con-
text of Asian SMes. they then conducted an exercise 
on the implementation of a competitive strategy 
through three examples.

Program coverage: three case studies on Shimano 
Inc., tokaibane Manufacturing company ltd., and 
Bookoff corporation ltd. Site visits were made to 
Kanda bookstores and Bookoff corporation.

tRAINING cOuRSe ON StRAteGIc 
MANAGeMeNt cONSuLtANcy WItH  
tHe FOcuS ON tHe SeRvIce SectOR

Management consultancy has been the topic of an 
annual training course organized by the APO and 
jPc since 1964. the main objective is to enable par-
ticipants to acquire the skill to provide an integrated 
approach to consultancy service for productivity 
improvement. Since its introduction, the course has 
been designed with the focus on the manufactur-
ing sector. 2010 was the first year it focused on the 
service sector. 

the training course on Strategic Management  
consultancy with the focus on the Service Sector 
was organized by the APO in association with the 
jPc in and around tokyo, 27 September–8 Octo-
ber, to impart the knowledge and skills to under-
take integrated strategic management consultancy  
services, especially for business enterprises in the 
service sector, based on a national/industry cus-
tomer satisfaction index and service awards for the 
private sector in japan. eighteen individuals from 17 
member countries participated.

Asian
Productivity
Organization

Practical

Owners/Managers 

KM Guide
for SMEsmall and

medium enterprise

Practical

Owners/Managers 

KM Guide
for SMEsmall and

medium enterprise
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Program coverage: concepts of total management 
consulting; the japan customer Satisfaction Index; 
300 High Service Awards developed by the jPc 
to recognize best practices leading to innovation 
and productivity improvements; Human resources 
management; and Marketing management for the 
service sector. four companies hosted site visits to 
illustrate different perspectives: Musashino co., ltd., 
an office and home cleaning business; Kikuya co., 
ltd., a clothing cleaning service; eagle Bus co., ltd., 
which provides bus transport; and Novarese Inc., a 
specialist in weddings.

StuDy MeetING ON cuStOMeR 
ReLAtIONSHIP MANAGeMeNt

customer relationship management (cRM) is a key 
business tool that leverages technology to enable 
organizations to understand their customers’ 
needs and behaviors, allowing the development of 
stronger relationships. Despite the known benefits, 
many businesses and public-sector organizations 
have not fully utilized cRM tools to improve 
their customer service and ultimately business 
competitiveness. Recently, the pervasiveness of the 
Internet and the emergence of new media channels 
have overturned the traditional one-dimensional 
cRM model where customer interaction is confined 
only to departments dealing with customers 

directly. this has also created new opportunities 
and challenges for businesses, as empowered 
customers armed with up-to-date information want 
to participate actively in the creation of the products 
and services they purchase. 

to learn the latest cRM concepts and discuss strate-
gies to increase the effective use of cRM by SMes 
and public-sector organizations, the Korea Produc-
tivity center hosted a study meeting comprising 
18 participants from 12 countries and facilitated 
by three cRM experts. they gathered in Mokpo, a 
port located in the south of the Korean Peninsula, 
6–9 December. One of the key learning points high-
lighted by the experts was the evolution of cRM to 
encompass the customer experience element. After 
sharing their own experience in cRM implemen-
tation in their organizations and future plans, the 
participants were divided into three groups, public 
sector, lifestyle industries, and banking/telecommu-
nications, to brainstorm on new ideas for more ef-
fective cRM implementation. 

Program coverage: creating a customer-centric en-
terprise and the necessary organizational and cul-
tural changes; Overview of the latest cRM trends 
and developments; case studies of successful cRM 
implementation by SMes in the retail or food service 
sector; and Social networking and its business im-
pact on cRM. for more hands-on learning tips, the 
program ended with two site visits in Seoul to Alo, 
a fashion eyewear retailer, and Sejung, a top Korean 
fashion retailer.  

Strategic Management consultancy with the focus on the Service 
Sector

customer Relationship Management
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aPo labor Productivity databooK

Development policy 
planners rely on pro-
ductivity statistics and 
national account data 
to analyze socioeco-
nomic growth and set 
goals for the future. As 
part of its think tank 
and regional adviser 
roles, the APO conducts 
regular research on pro-
ductivity measurement 

and publishes the results in the form of harmonized, 
user-friendly data and accompanying analyses by 
experts in the field. the databook series serves as 
a reference for member governments, NPOs, and 
public- and private-sector policymakers seeking to 
set priorities for socioeconomic development. the 
publications are also used for project planning at the 
APO Secretariat and as general academic reference 
works in diverse fields. In addition to the databook, 
quarterly gDP and productivity-related statistics are 
also published as the APO Asian Quarterly growth 
Map on the APO website. 

In 2010, the databook project improved overall data 
quality, expanded the coverage of indicators, and 
undertook more in-depth analyses of productivity 
increases. focus areas included total factor produc-
tivity, industry-based analyses, and labor produc-
tivity based on gDP/hours worked. Resources were 
allocated to conduct detailed research and surveys 
to enrich or complement national data where non-
existent or scarce data for key productivity indica-
tors were identified as problematic. One of these 
included dispatching an expert to assist the Mongo-
lian government to implement its National wealth 
Survey. 

Program coverage: establishment of a revised set 
of questionnaires for data collection and upgrad-
ing; comparative analyses of labor productivity and 
sources of economic growth among APO mem-
ber countries and reference countries; total factor 

productivity analysis for selected countries; and 
Publication of the APO Productivity Databook 2011.

tOtAL FActOR PRODuctIvIty MISSION tO 
vIetNAM uNDeR tHe APO PRODuctIvIty 
DAtABOOk PROJect
the Secretariat dispatched a mission led by Pro-
fessor Koji Nomura to vietnam from 7 to 8 April 
2010 upon the request of the vietnam Productivity  
centre (vPc) to assist and provide methodology for 
productivity computation. During the mission, Pro-
fessor Nomura provided the list of data indispens-
able for total factor productivity (tfP) computation 
and their availability in vietnam, as well as explained 
the need for estimation if data were unavailable. the 
meeting was attended by 23 individuals from the 
vPc, general Statistics Office, Directorate for Stan-
dards, Metrology, and Quality, and other academic 
institutions. 

Mission coverage: APO harmonized methodology 
for productivity measurement; checklist of indis-
pensable data for tfP computation; concept of cap-
ital and labor for tfP computation; Availability of the 
data in vietnam; and Data that need to be estimated 
by the general Statistics Office for tfP computation. 

APO PRODuctIvIty DAtABASe (PHASe Iv)

One of the major elements in the APO’s think tank 
role is the Productivity Database (PDB) project. the 
PDB is a key source of information based on sci-
entific, internationally harmonized measurement 
methodology. It is based on the rationale that pro-
ductivity increases should be measured rigorously 
and the factors contributing to those increases 
should be identified so that member countries can 
take stock, plot future directions, and compare their 
performance today with that in the past and with 
the performance of others in a meaningful manner.

In 2010, phase Iv of the PDB project focused on 
improving data quality, widening the scope of 
productivity indicators, and, for the first time, 
examining energy efficiency/productivity measures. 
this phase continued to develop quality-adjusted 



28

labor input measurement methodology, since this 
indicator helps evaluate the role of human capital 
in economic development. Phase Iv also analyzed 
land as a factor of production since it is critical 
in determining productivity growth not only in 
agriculture but also in the service sector.

Program coverage: labor productivity; capital stock 
and services; capital productivity; energy efficiency; 
total factor productivity; and Quarterly economic 
data.

ReSeARcH ON AGING SOcIety

Many APO member countries are aging. japan has 
been witnessing phenomenal changes in its demo-
graphics and is already classified as a super-aging 
society, where its population is poised to decline. 
Several other member countries like the Republic 
of china, Republic of Korea, and Singapore are un-
dergoing similar experiences. All aging societies 
face numerous individual, social, economic, health, 
employment, financial, and related challenges. It is 
therefore important that policymakers understand 
the implications and long-term effects of this issue. 
this was a follow-up to the study meeting on Pro-
ductivity in Aging Societies and a fact-finding mis-
sion deputed to study the best practices in policy in 
european countries in 2007. 

the coordination meeting for the research project 
was held in the Republic of china, 19–21 May, 
and attended by five experts: a chief expert from 
the Republic of Korea and four experts from the 

Republic of china, japan, Singapore, and uSA. 
while aspects such as supply-side issues of elderly 
workers’ motivation, demand-side issues such as 
the willingness of employers to continue hiring 
the elderly, and policy implications in relation to 
productivity were examined, the meeting also 
aimed to examine labor market issues holistically 
in relation to an aging workforce and analyze 
productivity in the context of aging societies.

Program coverage: Key issues and challenges relat-
ing to productivity facing aging societies in APO 
member countries; labor market trends and issues 
in relation to an aging workforce from both the sup-
ply side and demand sides; workforce needs of sec-
tors in an aging society; Skill needs in technology 
and training; and Public policies, procedures, and 
regulations related to aging employment.

cAtegORy 5:  
tOtAl QuAlIty MANAgeMeNt

tRAINING ON SIx SIGMA GReeN BeLt 

Six Sigma was first developed at Motorola in 1987 
and became popular in the 1990s after its adoption 
by general electric. It is widely accepted because 
its aim is to reduce costs and increase profits 
by eliminating variability, defects, and waste in 
processes. A problem-solving approach known 
as define, measure, analyze, improve, and control 
(DMAIc) is extensively used in Six Sigma. A green 
Belt, the Six Sigma entry level, is a Six Sigma-trained 
professional who does not work on Six Sigma 
projects exclusively but whose duties include 
leading projects and teams in implementing Six 
Sigma methodology at the project level.

the APO training course on Six Sigma green Belt 
was organized in association with the vietnam 
Productivity centre in Hanoi, 24–28 May, targeting 
graduates of the APO e-learning course on the same 
subject organized in 2009. this training course was 
attended by 23 participants from 12 APO member 
countries. 
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Program coverage: understanding variability, 
project selection, process mapping, basic statistics, 
and analysis tools; Minitab; Analyzing process 
performance; Measurement systems analysis; 
cause-and-effect diagrams; Hypothesis testing; 
failure mode and effect analysis; Developing control 
plans; and Developing Six Sigma implementation  
plans. An examination was given at the end of the 
course. 

MuLtIcOuNtRy OBSeRvAtIONAL StuDy 
MISSION ON quALIty AWARDS IN APO 
MeMBeR cOuNtRIeS

SMes are the backbone of the economy in any coun-
try, and the quality of SMes’ products and services 
can have a great influence on the strength of the 
national economy. the importance of quality man-
agement in SMes cannot be overemphasized. In the 
highly competitive world today, it is important that 
organizations adopt a comprehensive strategy on 
quality by implementing a systematic, integrated 
approach at all functional levels. 

the japan Quality Award (jQA) model offers a basis 
to enhance quality management in enterprises, 
including SMes, in the constantly changing business 
environment. the award encourages japanese 
enterprises to transform their management structures 
to compete internationally by being customer 
focused and continuing to create new value through 
innovation. Since the inception of the award system, 
more than 171 corporate entities have applied over 
a period of 14 years, and 26 organizations (including 
one local government) have received awards, 
including nine SMes. with the establishment of the 
jQA, quality management activities have gradually 
become widespread within japan’s regional 
industrial community. the jPc has also established 
regional quality councils and regional awards to  
publicize the jQA. 

As part of the initiative to ensure increased par-
ticipation of SMes in quality award programs, an 
observational study mission was conducted in ja-
pan, 21–25 june, in collaboration with the jPc. the 

primary objectives were to learn about the benefits 
of quality award systems to enterprises, especially in 
terms of SMe productivity and competitiveness, by 
focusing on the jQA system and its regional quality 
councils. the mission also demonstrated the japa-
nese management quality improvement journey 
from the perspective of regional quality councils 
and how regional quality awards promote grass-
roots adoption of the jQA framework. A total of 17 
individuals from 13 member countries participated, 
mainly NPO staff, SMe operators, and quality award 
professionals. 

Quality Awards in APO Member countries

Program coverage: Outline of the jQA and its pro-
motion; Management of quality improvement ac-
tivities in Pioneer corporation and international 
perspective on business excellence in SMe devel-
opment; and Promotion of management quality 
activities in Mie prefectures. field visits were hosted 
by Musashino, a winner of the jQA in 2000; Bankyo 
Pharmaceutical co., ltd., a jQA winner in 2009; the 
Agricultural cooperative Association of Ise, winner 
of the regional challenge Prize in Mie prefecture in 
2008; and Mie electronics co., ltd., a winner of the 
regional encouragement Prize in Mie prefecture in 
2008.

e-LeARNING cOuRSe ON tOtAL quALIty 
MANAGeMeNt FOR tHe SeRvIce INDuStRy

Organizations are facing growing challenges 
from global competition and the needs of 
increasingly sophisticated customers. Sensing the 
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need to improve product or service quality, most 
organizations are employing various improvement 
methods in the hope of achieving the required 
growth and greater profit. One method to improve 
product or service quality in organizations is total 
quality management (tQM). tQM, which has shown 
great success in manufacturing companies, is now 
being rapidly adapted among service organizations 
due to their nature in terms of customer orientation.

Realizing how useful tQM can be for service 
industries, the APO organized an e-learning course 
on this subject to enable participants from the 
service sector to understand tQM and its tools and 
techniques so that they could implement tQM in 
their own organizations for better performance 
and results. the course was held in three phases 
(phase I, 6–9 September for cambodia, fiji, lao 
PDR, Mongolia, and vietnam; phase II, 4–7 October 
for Bangladesh, Indonesia, Malaysia, and Pakistan; 
and phase III, 12–15 October for IR Iran, Nepal, the 
Philippines, Singapore, Sri lanka, and thailand) 
during September and October with 304 participants 
from 15 APO member countries using the world’s 
Bank’s global Development learning Network 
(gDlN). the course was delivered from japan via 
videoconferencing and each of the country groups 
was moderated by the assigned country project 
coordinator in each gDlN center. Apart from the 
lectures by the resource speakers, the participants 
were also involved in group exercises, site visits 
to local companies, group presentations, and an 
examination.

Program coverage: Introduction to tQM; Important 
concepts in tQM; Quality in the service industry; 
Quality assurance in the service industry; How to 
implement tQM in the service industry; and useful 
tools for group exercises.

BuSINeSS exceLLeNce GLOBAL cONFeReNce 
AND tRAINING FOR SeNIOR ASSeSSORS

In April 2009, SPRINg Singapore was designated by 
the APO as its center of excellence (cOe) for Business 
excellence (Be). the cOe organized a workshop for 

senior Be/quality award assessors in APO member 
countries to identify the core competencies they 
needed. As a follow-up to that workshop held in 
April 2009, the cOe developed an assessors’ training 
manual covering core competencies that can be 
developed through training. 

the course on Business excellence training for 
Senior Assessors held 8–12 November in Singapore 
focused on how the manual prepared by the cOe 
could be used for competency building of assessors 
and how the manual could be improved to meet the 
needs of APO member countries based on inputs 
from the participants. the course targeted senior 
or very experienced assessors using the Be/quality 
framework. eighteen international participants from 
11 countries attended this training session, which 
was hosted by SPRINg Singapore. there were also 
five experts/facilitators, and all attended one day of 
the Be global conference. the training-of-trainers 
course used the manual prepared by the cOe with 
case study assignments, group work, individual 
assignments, and presentations during the four-day 
course.

Business excellence global conference and training for Senior 
Assessors

Program coverage: Introduction to the asses-
sor training program and manual; leveraging as-
sessments for performance improvement; the Be 
framework; Introduction to the six-step evalua-
tion process; Stakeholder expectations of Baldrige  
assessments; and conducting site visits and the  
assessor’s code of ethics.
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cAtegORy 6:  
tecHNOlOgy, It, AND INNOvAtION

e-LeARNING cOuRSe ON tHe INFORMAtION 
SecuRIty MANAGeMeNt SySteM: ISO27000

Organizations today have an increased awareness 
of the value of information and perceive the need 
to protect their information assets. An information 
security management system (ISMS) is a risk man-
agement approach to maintain the confidentiality, 
integrity, and availability of an organization’s infor-
mation. the ISO27000 series of standards have been 
specifically developed by the International Orga-
nization for Standardization (ISO) for information  
security, which is aligned with a number of other 
standards, including ISO9000 (quality management) 
and ISO14000 (environmental management). 

the APO Secretariat introduced the latest ISMS 
to member countries in an e-learning course on 
the Information Security Management System: 
ISO27000 in three phases (6–9 April, 19–22 April, 
and 28 june–1 july), using the world Bank’s global 
Development learning Network platform. the 
course was attended by 338 participants from 15 
member countries. It introduced the step-by-step 
process of compliance with the standard, including 
establishing, implementing, operating, monitoring, 
reviewing, maintaining, and improving the ISMS. 

Program coverage: Background of the It and 
business environment in today’s world; Overview of 
the ISMS and introduction to cases where ISMS was 
not implemented properly; and Introduction to the 
ISO27000 series and interpretation of its plan-do-
check-act cycle. Site visits were made to enterprises 
in individual participating countries where an ISMS 
was in place. At the end of the course, an examination 
was conducted.   
  
StuDy MISSION tO A NONMeMBeR cOuNtRy 
ON PuBLIc-SectOR INNOvAtION

Public-sector innovation emphasizes quality 
in public services, which is crucial to promote 

public-sector productivity. the public sector is 
important not only for the economic development 
of a country but also in terms of employment. the 
two biggest challenges to public-sector renewal 
are the development of principles of public-sector 
governance and the inherent dynamics of the 
public system itself, e.g., environment, on-demand 
services, citizens’ choices, etc. canada was chosen 
as a benchmark because its model is considered a 
prime example of a well-planned, evolving public-
sector modernization initiative that is emulated by 
many other countries like the uK, Australia, uSA, 
etc. this mission was specially designed to deliver 
insights into intelligent practices in the public sector 
to enhance its productivity.

Public-sector Innovation

the mission was organized in Ottawa and toronto, 
canada, in association with the government of 
Ontario, 23–27 August. It aimed to benchmark 
against the canadian public-sector innovation 
excellence framework and practices in relation to 
productivity including relevant federal and local 
government policies. the mission was attended by 
11 delegates from seven member countries including 
three experts who were assigned to prepare detailed  
reports on public-sector productivity measures.

Program coverage: the management account-
ability framework; the Internet panel and public- 
sector service value; Balanced scorecard, citizens, 
and stakeholders; Service canada: whole of govern-
ment service delivery; Applying lean processes to 
improve productivity and profitability; Meeting the 
unique needs of public servants; the Ontario public-
service modernization journey; the lean approach 
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to improve efficiency and service; HR Ontario en-
terprise resource services; Municipal benchmarking  
initiatives; and value-for-money special initiatives. 

StuDy MISSION tO A NONMeMBeR cOuNtRy 
ON quALIty AND INNOvAtION 

In the past decade, many APO member countries 
have undertaken management excellence pro-
grams. there are currently five such programs 
based on the uS Malcolm Baldrige National Quality 
Award (MBNQA) model in the region. the MBNQA 
is given by the President of the uSA to businesses 
and nonprofit organizations, small and large, in the 
manufacturing, service, education, and healthcare 
sectors. the 2009 MBNQA recipients were selected 
from a field of 70 applicants. the MBNQA promotes 
innovation and performance excellence across the 
country and around the world in a number of ways.

the APO organized a study mission on Quality and 
Innovation to southern california, uSA, featuring 
world-class resource speakers to share the most up-
to-date information, 13–17 September. the objec-
tive was to learn from the uS quality management 
experience and provide firsthand exposure to the 
best practices in quality and innovation in the uSA. 
the mission was attended by 17 APO delegates from 
11 member countries.

Program coverage: leadership; Strategic planning; 
customer focus; Measurement, analysis, and knowl-
edge management; workforce focus; Process man-
agement; and Results. Site visits were hosted by 
Sharp Healthcare and Solar turbines, both in San 
Diego; representatives of other enterprises traveled 
to give presentations to the mission at their hotel. 
Participants also attended the Baldrige Regional 
conference Preconference workshop and then the 
Regional conference.

StuDy MeetING ON INNOvAtION IN PuBLIc-
SectOR SeRvIce DeLIveRy

considering the central role of public-sector 
agencies in providing services to the general public, 

improvement in public-service delivery has been 
identified as one of the spheres of engagement of 
the APO which can benefit its member countries. 
One niche area for APO intervention is the promotion 
and application of productivity and quality 
improvement approaches such as knowledge 
management, the business excellence framework, 
and lean management. As demonstrated in 
some countries, public-sector organizations can 
benefit from these approaches in raising quality, 
transparency, and accountability in the delivery of 
public services.

to explore ways to promote public-sector 
productivity, the APO organized a study meeting 
on Innovation in Public-sector Service Delivery, 1–5 
November, in jakarta, Indonesia. the objective was 
to discuss improvements and the latest practices 
adopted by APO member countries and examine 
the indicators and parameters being used to 
monitor stakeholder satisfaction and measure 
overall public-service effectiveness. In particular, 
the meeting sought to analyze how productivity 
improvement approaches could be promoted to 
increase the quality and effectiveness of services 
provided by public-sector organizations and 
make recommendations for customizing those 
approaches to enable wider adoption by APO 
member countries.

the project was implemented together with the 
Indonesian Productivity Improvement center and 
training and Productivity Development, both under 
the Ministry of Manpower and transmigration of the 
Republic of Indonesia. A total of 20 individuals from 
nine member countries participated in the study 
meeting, along with three resource persons from 
canada, New zealand, and the Philippines. 

Program coverage: Public service improvements—
framework and perspectives; Issues and challenges 
in improving public services; Priorities, tools, and 
methodology; Key performance indicators and 
measurement in the public sector; and Innovation 
tools.
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StuDy MeetING ON BuSINeSS DeveLOPMeNt 
StRAteGIeS FOR SMeS AFteR tHe GLOBAL 
FINANcIAL cRISIS

Hosted by the china Productivity center, 18 senior 
executives from 10 member countries convened in 
taipei, Republic of china (ROc), 23–26 November, 
to discuss business development strategies that 
will help SMes to overcome future global financial 
crises. the economies of virtually the whole world 
were adversely affected by the 2008 global financial 
crisis. even though most Asian economies have 
rebounded sharply from the gloom of late 2008 
and early 2009, the recovery has been clouded by 
the euro zone crisis and the continued uncertainty 
surrounding the uS and japanese economies. 

Business Development Strategies for SMes after the global financial 
crisis

As SMes in APO member countries are usually the 
single largest contributor in terms of employment 
and job creation, the discussions centered on two 
key areas: how the ceOs of SMes had managed to 
dodge the financial crisis and even expanded into 
other new business; and measures employed by 
governments that were assessed to be most effective 
by the ceOs. the exchange of ideas was expertly 
facilitated by four resource persons from japan, the 
ROc, Republic of Korea, and Singapore who also 
provided the background of what triggered the 
crisis and the impact of the crisis on the SMes in their 
economies. the point brought home to participants 
was not whether there will be another economic 
crisis but rather the nature of the next one and how 
soon it will occur. A working paper is being compiled 

to share the learning points of the study meeting 
among APO member countries.

Program coverage: Impact of the global financial 
crisis on Asian economies and growth strategies 
deployed by SMes during the crisis—lessons from 
the Republic of Korea; Impact of the global financial 
crisis on japan’s economy and growth strategies de-
ployed by japanese SMes during the crisis; and Im-
pact of the global financial crisis on Asian economies 
and growth strategies deployed by Singapore SMes 
during the crisis. A site visit was made to the franz 
collection, an SMe that successfully transitioned 
from a contract manufacturer into a vertically inte-
grated, world-renowned premium porcelainware 
brand by building up its design capabilities.

tRAINING cOuRSe ON INNOvAtION IN 
PRODuctION SySteMS  

Production systems today are changing faster 
due to the pressure to meet the increasingly 
selective, diverse needs of consumers. forces 
driving the changes are globalization, focused 
market segmentation, shorter product life cycles, 
and widespread use of information technologies. 
this has forced firms to introduce novel products 
more rapidly to gain and maintain an upper 
hand in the market. Innovation in production 
systems has therefore become an imperative for 
manufacturing industries. lean manufacturing, 
originating from and often synonymously known as 
the toyota Production System (tPS), is a well-known 
production system innovation that enables the 
manufacturing sector to achieve high productivity 
and competitiveness. 

An APO training course on Innovation in Produc-
tion Systems was organized 29 November–10 De-
cember, in collaboration with the jPc as the local 
implementing organization, and brought together 
16 local and international participants from 11 
member countries. 

this training course was organized as a follow-up to 
previous e-learning courses on the tPS organized 
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by the APO in 2006, 2007, and 2008 to train trainers 
in member countries more thoroughly. the course 
targeted alumni of the e-learning courses and was 
designed so that participants could learn how to 
make improvements in a simulated production 
line through in-plant exercises under the tutelage 
of toyota experts/veterans and also learn from 
the value engineering approach implemented by 
advanced companies in japan. this course was 
composed of lectures, group discussions, site 
visits and practical training in the workshop of a 
manufacturing company, and problem-solving case 
studies. 

inDustry AnD serViCe seCtOrs

Innovation in Production Systems
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Interface sector

APO activities covering the interface sector 
reflect the linkages among industry, agriculture, 
the environment, and community development. 
there are three categories of activities under 
the Interface Sector: green Productivity (gP), 
Integrated community Development (IcD), and 
the Development of NPOs (DON). 

Green Productivity
Initiated in response to the Rio earth Summit in 
1992, the APO’s gP Program seeks to enhance 
productivity and socioeconomic development 
while simultaneously protecting or improving 
the environment. gP projects have a two-fold 
purpose: capacity building; and the development 
of trainers so that member countries can 
continue gP efforts on their own. topics covered 
under the gP Program include greening supply 
chains, especially promotion of eco-products, 
eco-design, and energy efficiency.

Integrated community Development
Balanced economic development of rural areas 
is the aim of the IcD Program. APO projects in 
this area emphasize local resource mobilization 
and improving the quality of life of rural dwellers 
through their own community-based efforts. A 
classic example is the One village, One Product 
movement, which the APO has been promoting 
for several years. the IcD Program supports 
individual and collective initiatives for sustainable 
development at the local community level.

Development of NPOs
Starting in 2007, the DON Program has consisted 
of two mutually dependent components. DON 
Strategy first determines the needs of member 
countries, while DON Implementation is the 
operational element that translates the results of 
DON Strategy into in-country training programs 
that meet their specific needs.

35APo AnnuAl rePort 2010
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cAtegORy 1:  
gReeN PRODuctIvIty

tRAINING OF tRAINeRS IN GReeN 
PRODuctIvIty

the APO, which has 
been promoting gP in 
member countries for 
more than a decade 
through various modali-
ties, has modified its an-
nual training course to 

focus on developing more capable gP practitioners 
for sustainable development in member econo-
mies. More training elements that emphasize prac-
ticality and in-depth knowledge were included to 
raise the competency level of participants. Addi-
tional tools and techniques were also introduced to 
illustrate various approaches to achieve more  
concrete results from gP practices.

the tenth training of trainers in green Productivity 
series was organized 1–26 March 2010 in Kuala 
lumpur and johor Bahru, Malaysia, in association 
with the MPc and National Institute of Public 
Administration. three international and five local 
experts were involved in this program, which was 
attended by 20 participants from 15 countries. the 
objective of the training course was to develop 
and equip a pool of trainers and practitioners in gP 
with in-depth knowledge and hands-on experience 
in the gP methodology, tools, and techniques 
enabling them to disseminate the knowledge as 
lead trainers within a country and/or set up a gP 
consultancy cell within an NPO.

Program coverage: the four-week training course 
covered a wide range of topics pertaining to gP 
in the form of lectures, group discussions, group 
exercises, and group presentations. Participants 
also acquired practical experience during two-day 
site visits to four organizations: Kagumas catering 
Service Sdn. Bhd.; Permanis Sdn. Bhd., a producer, 

distributor, and marketer of beverages; Keu control 
engineering Sdn. Bhd.; and Mist cooling Systems 
Sdn. Bhd.

ecO-PRODuctS INteRNAtIONAL FAIR 2010

the APO has been promoting gP activities through 
the eco-products International fairs (ePIfs) held in 
member countries since 2004. the ePIfs contribute to 
greening supply chains in the region and raising envi-
ronmental awareness among the public. In 2010, the 
sixth ePIf was held in jakarta, Indonesia, at the Balai  
Sidang jakarta  convention center, 4–7 March. the 
ePIf 2010 was organized by the APO in close collab-
oration with the Indonesian chamber of commerce 
and Industry and Ministry of Manpower and trans-
migration of the Republic of Indonesia. the number 
of visitors totaled 90,004, second only to the record-
holding fourth ePIf in vietnam. there were 164  
exhibitors, the most so far. 

the ePIf 2010 was attended by a number of dig-
nitaries from the government of Indonesia in-
cluding coordinating Minister for the economy 
Hatta Radjasa, Minister of Manpower and transmi-
gration Muhaimin Iskandar, Minister of Industry M.S.  
Hidayat, and Minister of environment gusti  
Mohammad Hatta. During the ePIf 2010, the first 
green Industry Awards were presented by Minister 
Hidayat. 

ePIf 2010
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INteRNAtIONAL cONFeReNce ON 
GReeN PRODuctIvIty tO eNHANce 
cOMPetItIveNeSS

eco-practices are an integral part of the gP strategy 
that enables organizations to develop eco-products 
or -services and become competitive. Based on 
changes in consumer demand, companies are 
now paying greater attention to eco-products and 
eco-services as markets become more intensely 
competitive and sensitive to eco-friendly features. 
this conference was specifically designed to address 
the need for information sharing on eco-practices 
and achieving competitiveness. the conference 
featured world-class resource speakers to share the 
most up-to-date information on the subject.

the conference was organized in jakarta in 
association with the Ministry of Manpower and 
transmigration, government of the Republic of 
Indonesia, 4–7 March and it aimed to examine 
the global challenges of eco-innovation, eco-
competitiveness, eco-finance, eco-business and 
environmental financing, green procurement and 
green purchasing, marketing strategies for eco-
products, sustainable energy, and others. the 
conference was attended by 41 APO delegates 
from 16 member countries and about 250 local 
delegates. On the final day of the conference, an 
outcome document, the jakarta Recommendations, 
was presented to the government of Indonesia and 
APO. 

Program coverage: eco-innovation and global 
challenges; eco-innovation and practices in the 
government; global finance and sustainable 
development; clean Development Mechanism 
management and opportunities; eco-finance and 
markets: evaluating nonfinancial factors in the 
region; green procurement and global challenges; 
and eco-solutions and applications. the APO 
participants visited two companies: Pt. Prasadha 
Pamunah limbah Industri, a waste management 
company; and Pt. Indo cement.

tRAINING cOuRSe FOR eNeRGy AuDItORS

energy is a major cost component for organizations 
in all sectors of the economy. Organizations like 
manufacturing plants, commercial establishments, 
large building complexes, and public utilities can ac-
crue substantial savings in energy bills by adopting 
energy-efficient techniques, systems, and technolo-
gies in their plants, processes, and facilities. More-
over, due to rapid industrialization and urbanization, 
the energy supply-and-demand gap is widening in 
member countries, leading to increased costs of 
production and imports of energy. Recognizing the 
need for energy management and energy auditing, 
the APO has been organizing energy management-
related projects including training courses. this 
comprehensive training course was planned as a 
follow-up to the e-learning course on energy Audit-
ing organized in 2009. 

In association with National Productivity council 
of India, this training course was held 22–26 March 
2010 in New Delhi to provide in-depth, application-
oriented training on how to conduct energy 
audits in industries and buildings and develop a 
pool of energy auditors in the region. the course 
was attended by 23 participants from 12 member 
countries.

Program coverage: the energy audit concept; Prin-
ciples and methodology for electrical and thermal 
systems in industries and buildings; energy au-
dit case studies; Reporting on energy audits; and 

International conference on green Productivity to enhance 
competitiveness
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explanation of energy audit instruments. the partic-
ipants conducted an energy audit at Mohan Meakin 
limited, a brewery, during a site visit.

energy Auditors

e-LeARNING cOuRSe ON eNeRGy eFFIcIeNcy

with the cost of energy rising and extensive energy 
use resulting in global warming becoming a clear 
and present danger, it is imperative that countries 
quickly adopt the most efficient energy technolo-
gies and energy conservation techniques. In ad-
dition, the implementation of energy efficiency 
programs can directly benefit organizations by en-
hancing resource efficiency and productivity, which 
in turn provides direct monetary benefits. Recogniz-
ing that industrial organizations in member coun-
tries urgently need technical assistance in this area, 
the APO has organized a series of projects on energy 
management and energy efficiency.
  
this e-learning course was held in association with 
NPOs from participating APO members to train par-
ticipants in the concept, principles, and fundamental 
elements of energy management including a set of 
energy-efficiency measures in three phases: phase 
1, covering Bangladesh, lao PDR, and vietnam, 17–
20 May; phase 2, covering India, IR Iran, Nepal, Sri 
lanka, and Pakistan; 21–24 june; and phase 3, cov-
ering cambodia, fiji, Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philip-
pines, and thailand, 12–15 july 2010. this course was 
attended by 287 participants.

Program coverage: energy efficiency concepts and 
fundamentals; thermal energy efficiency (industrial 

equipment such as boilers, furnaces); electrical ener-
gy efficiency (industrial equipment such as chillers, 
motors, pumps, etc.); energy audits; experience of 
japanese industries in energy efficiency; and Steam 
distribution and utilization. Site visits were made to 
industrial units in each APO member.

WORkSHOP ON eNeRGy MANAGeMeNt 
cAPAcIty BuILDING: FORMuLAtION OF
NAtIONAL FRAMeWORkS FOR tHe 
DeveLOPMeNt OF ceRtIFIeD eNeRGy 
MANAGeRS AND AuDItORS

India has legislated a national energy conservation 
Act and established an energy management frame-
work under the Bureau of energy efficiency. One of 
its national schemes to test advanced, cost-effective 
ways to train and develop energy managers as well 
as auditors has been successful. It has helped devel-
op up to 7,500 certified energy auditors and man-
agers since 2004, which in turn helps industries to 
achieve energy efficiency. this workshop focused 
on understanding the Indian mechanisms in place 
and developing action plans to enable participating 
countries to develop similar schemes. 

this workshop was organized in Phnom Penh 
in association with the National Productivity 
centre of cambodia, 24–28 May, to deliberate on 
institutionalizing energy management and energy 
efficiency through the development of national 
action plans for the formulation of comprehensive 
national frameworks for creating energy auditors 
and energy managers. It was attended by 22 
delegates from seven member countries.

Program coverage: energy management; ener-
gy audit principles and methodology; Standards 
and labeling programs; Monitoring and securing 
compliance with mandatory labeling; voluntary 
schemes for accreditation of energy auditing firms; 
energy-efficient lighting systems; energy efficiency 
conservation measures; India’s national certifica-
tion examination for energy managers and energy  
auditors; Planning a national framework for certifi-
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cation of energy managers and energy auditors; and  
finalization of action plans by each participant. 

NAtIONAL DISSeMINAtION PROGRAM ON 
eNeRGy MANAGeMeNt cAPAcIty BuILDING 

with the rising cost of energy and concerns about 
global warming, it is imperative that countries adopt 
the most efficient energy management systems 
at the national level. Such systems should focus 
on making industries, especially SMes, globally 
competitive when their products are energy 
efficient and their production processes consume 
the least amount of energy possible. there is thus 
a concomitant need to develop a pool of energy 
managers and energy auditors who can serve as 
catalysts in promoting and implementing energy 
management in industries. 

In view of that need, a national dissemination 
program on energy management capacity building 
was organized, in association with the NPO 
Bangladesh, in Dhaka, 20–21 December, as a follow-
up to a regional workshop on the same subject held 
in cambodia earlier in 2010. this program aimed at 
applying the learning from the cambodian regional 
workshop and fine-tuning the national energy 
management action plan for Bangladesh. the 
program was attended by 54 participants.
 
Program coverage: concepts, principles, and fun-
damentals of energy efficiency; energy audit  
principles and methodology; Scheme for accredi-
tation of energy auditing firms; India’s national  
certification examination for energy managers and 
energy auditors; and Planning a national framework 
for certification of energy managers and energy  
auditors.

StuDy MeetING ON ecO-FINANce

until a few years ago, traditional financial institutions 
did not actively seek business opportunities in 
the environmental field. Recently, banks, asset 
management funds, and insurance companies have 

changed their approaches toward environmental 
issues due to significant progress in global society. 
At the national level, international agreements such 
as the Kyoto Protocol catalyzed the promotion of 
environment-friendly markets. the mass media and 
multinational campaigns have raised awareness of 
the activities of environmentalists worldwide. given 
these changes in the social and business sectors, a 
number of eco-finance products were introduced. 
A variety of funds were created by numerous 
institutions. Since eco-finance is closely related to 
social issues, it can be seen as socially responsible 
investment integrating environmental, social, and 
governance factors into investment processes. 
from a socially responsible investment perspective, 
studies have indicated that Asia falls far behind 
europe and North America. 

eco-finance

the study meeting on eco-finance was held 8–11 june 
2010 in taipei, Republic of china, in collaboration 
with the china Productivity center. A total of 21 
participants from 10 member countries comprising 
17 overseas and four local participants attended. the 
study meeting discussed and developed a potential 
eco-finance model for SMes which can be applied in 
different regions to promote gP. 

Program coverage: Introduction of gP and eco-
finance; ecofinance in europe; examples of eco-
finance models; ecofinance in japan; ecofinance: 
tool for promoting gP; eco- and carbon finance;  
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and Responsible investment in the Republic of  
china.

tRAINING cOuRSe ON INteGRAteD WASte 
MANAGeMeNt At ReSORtS, HOteLS, AND 
ReStAuRANtS

the establishment of environmentally sound 
tourism is based on the concept of sustainable 
development. It links environmental protection, 
community development, and efficient use of 
resources in the tourism development process. 
current management practices of resorts, hotels, 
and restaurants in the region must change to offer 
guests a safe, healthy environment and ensure that 
resources are used efficiently. the gP concept and 
practices can play an important role in this regard.

the APO has been addressing the need for 
environmentally sound tourism for nearly a decade. 
In the beginning, an overview was provided 
through projects such as the APO-france Study 
Meeting on eco-tourism in 2000. Subsequently, the 
focus has gradually narrowed to green service and 
certification of the tourism industry. In 2009, the APO 
Green Tourism Certification Manual was published 
as one of the outcomes of the workshop on green 
tourism and certification held in 2008 in Nepal. 
while developing that manual, the importance of 
waste management in the tourism industry became 
evident.

to promote appropriate waste management in 
the tourism industry, the APO organized a training 
course on Integrated waste Management at Resorts, 
Hotels, and Restaurants in Nadi, fiji, 21–25 june 
in association with the training and Productivity 
Authority of fiji. the training course was attended 
by 17 international and eight local participants from 
13 member countries, along with three international 
resource speakers. the participants learned how to 
introduce integrated waste management in their 
workplaces through case studies.

Program coverage: gP programs in the region with 
special focus on the area of waste management; 

current trends and environmental issues in 
tourism in the region; green certification schemes 
for resorts, hotels, and restaurants; A successful 
example of ecotourism; fundamentals of solid 
waste management and current issues in waste 
management at resorts, hotels, and restaurants; 
Successful cases of integrated waste management 
at resorts, hotels, and restaurants; Introduction to 
methods for integrated waste management for 
green tourism; Applying and sustaining integrated 
waste management for green tourism; and current 
issues and challenges in green tourism in fiji with 
special focus on waste management. field visits 
were made to Shangri-la’s fijian Resort and Spa and 
the Outrigger on the lagoon (fiji) Resort and Spa.

WORkSHOP ON GReeN PROcuReMeNt AND 
GReeN PuRcHASING: SMe FOcuS IN JAPAN 

Due to the continuing increase in negative impacts 
on the environment, consumers have started 
demanding that the business community produce 
environmentally friendly goods and services. At the 
same time, they are also pressuring governments 
to pass tougher laws and regulations to reduce 
environmental hazards. In line with these increasing 
demands from consumers, many governments have 
enacted new regulations, prompting enterprises to 
take responsibility for the entire life cycle of their 

green Procurement and green Purchasing: SMe focus
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products and services, including after-use disposal 
of products by consumers. 

Many large-scale, multinational corporations have 
launched comprehensive, innovative environmental 
programs for their own operations as well as for 
their suppliers, which are typically SMes and located 
primarily in APO member countries, to ensure 
continued market access and share. Such initiatives, 
popularly termed “green procurement” and/or 
“green purchasing,” mean that buyers use their 
power to require suppliers/manufacturers to meet 
certain environmental standards and requirements 
if they wish to continue their business relationship. 

to enable SMes in the region to join the global 
trend of green procurement and examine specific 
successful practices, the APO organized a workshop 
on green Procurement and green Purchasing: SMe 
focus in japan, 12–16 july, in association with the 
jPc. the workshop was attended by 18 participants 
from nine member countries, in addition to one 
international and three local resource persons. the 
main objective of this workshop was demonstrating 
how to apply gP principles and practices to promote 
green procurement and green purchasing among 
SMes after learning about the best practices in 
countries like japan and the Republic of Korea.

Program coverage: Overview of green procurement 
and green supply chains for sustainable develop-
ment: current scenario and challenges of green 
procurement and green supply chains from a global 
perspective; Development and challenges in green 
procurement and green supply chains in the region 
and beyond; environmental management systems 
and green supply chain management in corpo-
rations in japan; and gP and green supply chain 
management. the four site visits during the work-
shop were carefully chosen to provide participants 
with a clear picture of successful examples of green 
purchasing and green procurement in japan. the  
participants visited: Sagawa express co., ltd., a mul-
tinational logistics specialist; Panasonic corporation, 
a multinational manufacturer of home electric appli-
ances; fujitsu limited, a multinational information 

technology operation; and Ohkawa Printing co., 
ltd., an SMe that was the first printing company 
to win the grand prize at the eighth green Pur-
chasing Award ceremony of the green Purchasing  
Network of japan in 2005.

StuDy MeetING ON tHe ecO-PRODuctS 
DAtABASe

the Eco-products Directo-
ry has been a major part 
of the APO’s work in the 
area of gP and it compiles 

eco-friendly products and services developed by 
environmentally advanced enterprises in the Asia-
Pacific region. the APO has continued to promote 
this directory as a contribution to sustainable devel-
opment in the region by greening supply chains 
and to encourage the use of environment-friendly 
products and services for sustainable development 
by governments and businesses. In its seventh year 
of publication, it was deemed necessary to assess 
the current format, determine how it is used to serve 
the needs of APO member countries, and develop 
practical measures to improve and enhance the  
value of the directory. At the same time, it was rec-
ognized that an initiative to create guidelines for  
defining eco-products and-services in the region 
should be discussed. 

A study meeting on the eco-products Database 
was therefore organized in Busan, the Republic of 
Korea, 31 August–3 September, in collaboration 
with the Korean Productivity center, the local 
implementing agency. the meeting was attended 
by 16 participants from 11 APO members. 

Program coverage: the low-carbon economy and 
the eco-products Database in the Asia-Pacific 
region; Overview of eco-products, life cycle thinking, 
eco-design, and the eco-products Database; and 
Identification of green products. the schedule 
was organized so that in the first two days, the 
participants were exposed to basic information and 
background knowledge in relation to eco-products/
eco-labeling schemes, which assisted them in the 
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subsequent small and large group discussions/
presentations in the latter half of the meeting. 

eco-products Database

ADvANceD tRAINING cOuRSe ON eNeRGy 
eFFIcIeNcy IN SMeS

energy is a major cost component for organizations 
in all sectors of the economy. Industries, commercial 
establishments, large building complexes, and 
public utilities can accrue substantial savings 
in energy bills by adopting energy-efficient 
techniques. Adopting energy-efficient practices and 
procedures is therefore essential. the APO initiated 
a series of projects to build the capacity of member 
countries in this area. In 2007 and 2009, e-learning 
courses followed by face-to-face advanced training 
courses were organized. In 2010, a three-phase 
e-learning course was held to deliver basic training 
on energy efficiency for 14 member countries. High-
performing participants from that course were 
selected for this advanced, comprehensive training. 

the course was organized in association with the 
thailand Productivity Institute, 6–10 September,  
with the objective of examining the concepts, 
principles, and fundamental elements of energy 
management to enable participants to develop 
plans to improve energy efficiency in industrial units. 
It was attended by 24 participants, including six 
from the host country, from 14 member countries.

Program coverage: concepts of energy efficiency; 
characteristics and combustion of fuels; energy effi-
ciency measures in industrial equipment, including 

boilers, pumps, lighting, cooling towers, and electri-
cal systems; energy policies and regulations: Initia-
tives and experience from japan, the Republic of Ko-
rea, and the Republic of china. A site visit was hosted 
by Bangkok Produce Merchandising Pcl, a subsid-
iary of charoen Pokphand foods Pcl, the country’s 
largest food exporter. Its business is animal feed raw 
material distribution and broiler integration. Partici-
pants observed how Bangkok Produce Merchandis-
ing operates its cogeneration power plant and puts 
its factory energy management plan into practice. 

APO INteRNAtIONAL cONFeReNce ON GReeN 
tecHNOLOGy

Since 2004, the APO has promoted eco-products 
and green technologies in the Asia-Pacific through 
eco-products International fairs (ePIfs) as not 
only an opportunity to promote the concept of 
sustainable development based on environmentally 
friendly products, technologies, and services, but 
also to allow policymakers, industry leaders, and 
community leaders to become more aware of 
these issues and create an impact during national 
planning and development. Building upon the 
experience of hosting the first ePIf in 2004, the 
government of Malaysia, in cooperation with the 
green Purchasing Network Malaysia, organized the 
International greentech & eco-products exhibition 
& conference Malaysia 2010 (IgeM 2010), 14–17 
October, to enhance productivity and green growth 
both in its own country as well as within the region. 
Its exhibition component showcased current 
solutions in green technologies, eco-products, and 

International conference on green technology
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eco-services, as well as initiatives in R&D around 
the Asia-Pacific region. the concurrent conference 
brought together renowned experts, policymakers, 
top business leaders, and academics to discuss the 
theme “green future: low-carbon green growth” 
and to discuss innovative ways to improve human 
capital in the areas of green technology R&D and 
innovation. 

to allow APO participants not only to attend 
the IgeM exhibition and conference but also 
provide an opportunity to discuss on their own 
the challenges and necessary actions to establish 
a regional platform for the effective promotion of 
eco-products, the APO International conference on 
green technology was organized in conjunction 
with IgeM 2010, in collaboration with the Malaysia 
Productivity corporation as the local implementing 
organization, and brought together 20 local 
and international participants from 15 member 
countries . 

Program coverage: creation of a green economy 
and green growth; Increasing energy and resource 
productivity; and creation of regional guidelines 
for eco-products. the conference also provided 
participants with an opportunity to observe and 
study effective mechanisms to promote eco-
business and marketing strategies for eco-products 
at the national level.

StuDy MISSION tO A NONMeMBeR cOuNtRy 
ON eNeRGy eFFIcIeNcy AND ReNeWABLe 
eNeRGy 

energy efficiency is the key to sustainable develop-
ment, mitigating climate change, and ensuring na-
tional energy security. with rising awareness and  
increasing energy demand in the Asia-Pacific region, 
member governments are keen to promote energy 
efficiency by adopting clean technology (cleantech) 
policies. 

An APO study mission on energy efficiency and 
Renewable energy was organized in and around 
San francisco, california, uSA, 25–29 October, to 

learn about the latest policies on energy efficiency 
and cleantech in california and obtain firsthand 
information on the best practices of energy 
efficiency and renewable energy applications in 
industries and related activities of venture capitalists 
and their investments in the energy efficiency and 
cleantech sector. the mission was attended by 17 
APO delegates from 10 member countries.

energy efficiency and renewable energy

Program coverage: Introduction of the activities 
of industrial sectors including venture capitalists 
and venture companies in Silicon valley; Strategy 
and investment of the uS federal government; and 
Strategy of the state of california. Mission members 
made observational visits to: Pacific gas and electric 
company, San jose, to learn about its energy ef-
ficiency and renewable energy solutions including 
smart grid systems; the San jose municipal offices to 
hear presentations on solar thermal generation and 
its future potential and how San jose is innovative in 
energy efficiency; Adobe co. of San jose to examine 
its energy-saving activities; Aurora Biofuels, a pro-
ducer of algae-based products serving the nutrition, 
pharmaceutical, specialty chemical, and renewable 
fuel markets; Solyndra, which makes a new type of 
cylindrical photovoltaic battery for solar genera-
tion systems; a wind generation plant in livermore; 
and a geothermal plant in calistoga, assisted by fuji 
electric co., a manufacturer of geothermal power 
facilities.

WORkSHOP ON ecO-DeSIGN

environmental issues, including climate change, have 
become one of the biggest international challenges 
of the 21st century. A focus on eco-design appears 
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to be a rational method to minimize the impacts 
of many human activities on the environment. 
eco-design is a fundamental component of eco-
practices which enables enterprises of all types 
to develop products demanded by customers 
while becoming and remaining more competitive 
in the market. Driven by changes in consumer 
demand, companies are now paying greater 
attention to eco-products as markets become more  
intensely competitive and sensitive to eco-friendly 
features. 

eco-design

As part of efforts to increase broad-based aware-
ness of the need for eco-design, the APO, Industrial 
Development Bureau of the Ministry of econom-
ic Affairs, china Productivity center, and taiwan  
environmental Management Association jointly or-
ganized a workshop on eco-design, 1–5 November, 
in taipei, Republic of china. It was intended to illus-
trate ways to branch out from conventional product 
designs and materials that may negatively affect the 
environment at different stages in the product life 
cycle. the workshop brought together 21 partici-
pants from 10 member countries, along with three 
international and seven local speakers who shared 
ideas on and discussed a myriad of issues relating 
to eco-design, while also focusing on the exten-
sive business opportunities that eco-products and  
eco-businesses represent. 

Program coverage: the APO’s gP Program in the 
region with special focus on eco-design; Require-
ments and obstacles of eco-design product busi-
nesses: Implications from case studies of product 

reuse businesses in japan; green forward-looking 
design and services for sustainable operations;  
current situation and future trends of the regulatory 
requirements of international eco-design; Demands 
and opportunities of international low-carbon  
industries and eco-design products; current trends 
and issues related to eco-design; the product  
carbon footprint and taiwan carbon-labeling pro-
gram; creative product design and the packag-
ing of eco-design ideas of taiwan’s SMes; and  
Design and evaluation of product service systems. 
Site visits were hosted by cheng loong corporation 
and PegA International co., ltd., both innovators in  
eco-design.

cAtegORy 2:  
INtegRAteD cOMMuNIty 
DevelOPMeNt

NAtIONAL SeMINAR ON tHe PROMOtION OF 
tHe ONe DIStRIct, ONe PRODuct MOveMeNt 
IN LAO PDR

In the National growth and Poverty eradication 
Strategy (NPgeS) of the government of lao PDR, 
the One District, One Product (ODOP) movement 
was adopted as a key element to stimulate income-
generating activities for the poor in rural areas and 
contribute to sustainable development. through 
the NgPeS, the government seeks to develop the 
industry and service sectors together with the four 
main sectors of agriculture/forestry, education, 
health, and infrastructure. the ODOP movement 
will be an important catalyst for such development 
efforts. to intensify the adoption of ODOP nation-
wide, a three-day national seminar was organized 
by the Small and Medium enterprises Promotion 
and Development Office, the economic Research 
Institute, and Department and Industry and com-
merce in Khammouane province as a follow-up of 
the category B project on the subject. the APO sent 
two international resource persons from japan and 
thailand. the japanese expert was funded under 
the teS Program. four local resource persons and 
48 local participants attended. 
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Program coverage: evolution of the OvOP/ODOP 
movement; government policy to support the 
ODOP movement; Planning and implementation 
of the OtOP movement—experience of thailand; 
utilization of unused resources and by-products for 
ODOP; value addition to local products: transform-
ing local resources/technology into marketable new 
products; and How to select a product and its market. 
Site visits were made to a wooden product site and 
a station for wickerwork bamboo products in Kham-
mouane province to identify possible OvOP/ODOP 
products for villages/districts/provinces, determine the 
external assistance required for OvOP/ODOP projects, 
and examine the role of organizations/focal persons.

tRAINING cOuRSe ON PLANNING AND 
MANAGeMeNt OF cOMMuNIty-BASeD RuRAL 
tOuRISM AND AGROtOuRISM eNteRPRISeS

Rural tourism and agrotourism development offer 
tremendous opportunities to create viable small-
scale enterprises to generate additional income for 
local communities while optimizing the benefits 
from the use of natural resource endowments and 
other local resources of the community. this could 
also stimulate the development of farms not only 
for the production of food and various agroprod-
ucts but also as tourism enterprises. Rural tourism 
development creates opportunities for new busi-
nesses such as the production of souvenirs and 
the provision of meals and accommodations. the 
development of these interlinked enterprises also 
generates other benefits to rural communities such 
as better environmental and cultural awareness, 
preservation of cultural heritage sites, and agrobio-
logical diversity. few countries in Asia have tapped 
such opportunities due to the lack of awareness and 
knowledge of the development, management, and 
marketing of tourism products. local entrepreneurs 
and government officials responsible for planning 
and managing rural tourism development must 
be aware of these opportunities and associated  
challenges. 

the APO therefore organized a training course on 
Planning and Management of community-based 

Rural tourism and Agrotourism enterprises, in  
colombo, Sri lanka, 10–17 August, in coopera-
tion with the Ministry of Agriculture Development 
and Agrarian Services and the National Productiv-
ity Secretariat. the course was designed to address 
the needs of consultants and trainers of local en-
trepreneurs and government officials responsible 
for planning and managing rural tourism develop-
ment. twenty-one participants from 10 economies  
attended. 

Planning and Management of community-based Rural tourism and 
Agrotourism enterprises

Program coverage: concepts, principles, and over-
view of trends in community-based rural tourism; 
Models of community-based rural tourism projects 
and agrotourism products; Planning the develop-
ment of rural areas as tourism destinations; Plan-
ning, development, and management of farms as 
tourism enterprises; Marketing and promotion of 
rural and agrotourism products and packages; and 
Management of rural tourism enterprises. Partici-
pants visited the Pelwehera cIc farm agrotourism 
model; the rural tourism enterprises in Sigiriya, 
a world Heritage Site in central Matale district; 
and the Agro technology Park gannoreva of the  
Department of Agriculture in Peradeniya. 

WORkSHOP ON PROMOtION OF tHe ONe 
vILLAGe, ONe PRODuct MODeL AS A 
ReGIONAL AND RuRAL DeveLOPMeNt 
StRAteGy

the OvOP movement, which started over 25 years 
ago in Oita prefecture, japan, has now expanded 
to other regions worldwide. It is being pursued as 
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a means to promote the development of regional, 
local, and village economies not only in developing 
countries but also in some developed ones. Its popu-
larity stems from its holistic approach to harnessing 
local resources and engaging the entire community 
in the process of developing distinct products that 
can be marketed in both local and overseas markets. 
the movement was very successful in japan and 
thailand and has made remarkable achievements in 
the Philippines, Pakistan, and Malaysia.

Recognizing the great potential of the OvOP model 
for improving productivity and energizing the  
rural economies of member countries, the APO 
organized a workshop on Promotion of the One 
village, One Product Model as a Regional and Rural 
Development Strategy, 6–10 December, in lao PDR to  
review the present status of the movement in 
member countries and identify critical areas for 
improvement as well as to enhance participants’ 
knowledge and skills in the development of strategic 
management systems for OvOP and related project 
implementation. the project was organized by 
the Small and Medium enterprises Promotion and 
Development Office, lao National Productivity 
Organization. eighteen participants from 14 APO 
members attended. 

Program coverage: Overview and general frame-
work of the OvOP movement; evolution of the 
ODOP in lao PDR; the OtOP as a regional and 
rural development program in thailand; Impor-
tant factors for a successful OvOP program: OtOP  
experience in the Philippines; Planning and moni-
toring OvOP programs: the OtOP experience in the  
Philippines; the OvOP movement as a regional and 
rural development strategy: Important lessons from  
japan’s experience; Different approaches in promo-
tion of OtOP products in the domestic and export 
market: experience of thailand; and Development 
of implementation strategies for OvOP in develop-
ing countries in Asia. Site visits were hosted by Hoey 
Hang vocational training center for women and 
Phonesavanh village in vientiane.   

cAtegORy 3:  
DevelOPMeNt Of NPOs

INStItutIONAL StReNGtHeNING OF NPOS 
By DeveLOPMeNt OF PRODuctIvIty 
PRActItIONeRS

Subsequent to the DON Need Assessment Survey 
completed in january 2008, the DON Program was 
undertaken at two levels: DON Strategy and DON 
Implementation. DON Strategy identifies new and 
emerging topics. DON Implementation builds the 
capacity of NPOs following the results of DON Strat-
egy. the new approach aimed to align APO services 
closer to individual member countries’ long-term 
development strategies and directions. In pursuit of 
this approach, the Secretariat introduced in-country 
training programs for developing a pool of produc-
tivity practitioners and training technical staff of 
NPOs in 2008. NPOs have participated in this initia-
tive by involving their professional staff in the inten-
sive tailor-made in-country productivity and quality 
training offered through this program.

In-country training program in India

In 2010, five in-country training programs were or-
ganized in association with the participating NPOs 
to provide productivity and quality practitioners in 
member countries with firsthand exposure to the 
tools and techniques of productivity improvement, 
thereby enabling NPOs to build up a critical mass of 
practitioners. these programs included in-country 
training programs in vietnam in two phases, 30 
May–5 june and 12–17 july, with 32 participants; in 
Bangladesh 19 june–1 july with 25 participants; in 
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India 23 August–4 September with 24 participants; 
in lao PDR 11–23 October with 21 participants; and 
in Pakistan 29 November–11 December with 33 par-
ticipants. each program was followed by compre-
hensive examination and in most of the programs 
site visits to industries were organized for providing 
practical insights.

DON StRAteGy FOcuS IN 2010:  
ceNteR OF exceLLeNce

the APO center of excellence (cOe) for Business 
excellence (Be) is aimed at building up expertise 
in applying the Be framework and tools in APO 
member countries. the intent of the cOe project is 
to enhance an NPO’s unique strength and expertise 
in a specific area, enabling it to reach a world-
class standard from which it can serve as a vehicle 
to develop similar capabilities in NPOs in other 
member countries. the cOe on Be was approved by 
the governing Body at its 51st session in Sri lanka, 
which designated SPRINg Singapore as the APO’s 
first cOe.

In 2009, experts were 
assigned to the cOe/
SPRINg Singapore, 
Bangladesh, the Phil-
ippines, and thailand 

to strengthen their Be capabilities. In addition, re-
search on the impact of Be on the competitiveness 
of enterprises was carried out. Missions and confer-
ences were also organized in japan, Singapore, and 
thailand to promote awareness of Be. cOe activities 
in 2010 continued with two experts assigned to the 
cOe to build up its competency in Be assessment. 
Activities to promote Be in 2010 included a mission 
to japan in june (Multicountry Observational Study 
Mission on Quality Awards in APO Member coun-
tries; see Industry and Service). In September, a thai 
Be expert was sent by the cOe to the NPO of Paki-
stan to develop a roadmap for its Be award  
program. to improve assessors’ skill level, the cOe 
completed drafting a training manual for Be asses-
sors which was used in a workshop for training  

senior assessors. Other activities in 2010 included  
assigning two Be experts to attend the Be global 
conference in Singapore and finalizing the databas-
es on Be experts and best practices. 

the cOe initiative is starting to bear fruit in its sec-
ond year of implementation. Progress has been 
made in improving Be capabilities in member coun-
tries, and the APO and cOe will continue to raise the 
profile of its activities and ultimately make Be initia-
tives pervasive among member countries. 

tRAINING cOuRSe ON DeveLOPMeNt OF 
PRODuctIvIty PRActItIONeRS: BASIc 
PROGRAM

Developing fully qualified productivity practitioners 
is a priority for many NPOs. Productivity practitioners 
should act as promoters, trainers, and consultants 
within organizations and have fundamental 
knowledge of productivity to diagnose the current 
productivity performance of any organization 
and then adopt and implement the appropriate 
solutions for improvement. 

the 2010 training course on Development of 
Productivity Practitioners: Basic Program (DPP: Basic) 
was organized in association with the Development 
Academy of the Philippines in Manila and tagaytay, 
1–26 November. the objective of DPP: Basic is to 
provide participants with fundamental productivity 
concepts, principles, approaches, and tools. After 
the course, they are able to diagnose productivity 
problems and then develop and implement 
solutions. Nineteen participants from 11 member 
countries attended the 2010 DPP: Basic. 

Program coverage: classroom training in produc-
tivity concepts including: Roles of a productivity 
practitioner; Productivity climate diagnosis; green 
Productivity; and Basic improvement tools like 5S, 
suggestion schemes, quality circles, and practical 
industrial engineering. After the classroom train-
ing, in-plant study was arranged to let participants 
learn by practicing. three organizations hosted this 
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activity: view Park Hotel; tanauan water District; and 
the municipal government of tanauan. Participants 
visited those organizations to observe, discuss, and 
collect data for productivity diagnosis and analysis. 
then they performed analyses, prepared improve-
ment proposals, and presented the results to the 
management of each organization. 

tRAINING cOuRSe ON DeveLOPMeNt OF 
PRODuctIvIty PRActItIONeRS: ADvANceD 
PROGRAM

the Development of Productivity Practitioners (DPP): 
Advanced course aims to equip participants with 
advanced and emerging productivity techniques 
so that they can perform their roles as full-fledged 

productivity practitioners and offer professional 
assistance to organizations and industries. the 
participants observe the concrete results of 
productivity improvement activities and initiatives, 
particularly their impact on competitiveness and 
organizational excellence, through observational 
study visits. At the end of the advanced course, 
productivity practitioners are expected to be able 
to identify problems and implement solutions using 
the appropriate tools and techniques leading to 
organizational excellence; develop a framework, 
strategies, and action plans for achieving excellence 
and competitiveness at the organizational level; and 
provide advice and deliver promotional, training, 
and consulting services on advanced productivity 
techniques to organizations. the course features 

examinations before and at the end of the course 
to assess initial competence and knowledge gained. 

the 2010 course was jointly implemented with the 
Malaysia Productivity corporation (MPc) at the 
grand Dorsett Subang Hotel, Malaysia, 29 Novem-
ber–17 December. A total of 24 attended the pro-
gram, comprising 18 international participants from 
15 member countries and six local ones from the 
MPc. the APO assigned two international resource 
persons to conduct the course.  

Program coverage: five modules were designed to 
cover the three-week DPP: Advanced: Productivity 
and business competitiveness; corporate strategies 
and implementation; Process management and cus-
tomer focus; and Productivity tools and techniques. 
three site visits were made to: the MPc headquar-
ters; tenaga cable Industry Sdn. Bhd.; and Hicom 
teck See Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd.

MeMBeR cOuNtRy SuPPORt PROGRAM

the APO in collaboration with the jPc and with 
the support of the Ministry of economy, trade and 
Industry of japan has been carrying out the Member 
country Support Program (McSP) from 2002 for 
developing APO member countries. the McSP 
is a two-year project to assist individual NPOs to 
strengthen their capacity through activities based 
on their needs and abilities. 

the fifth cycle of the McSP saw two APO member 
countries, Malaysia and Mongolia, aided through 
teS, observational study missions, publication of 
training materials, and demonstration projects 
organized by the APO and jPc. with the focus area 
of material flow cost accounting (MfcA) for Malaysia, 
and kaizen and 5S for Mongolia, this ongoing 
program started in june 2010 and is scheduled to 
end in March 2011.

MfcA has been identified as an appropriate new 
tool to enhance gP in Malaysia, an area which 
the MPc has always actively promoted. MfcA, 
which traces all input materials flowing through 

Development of Productivity Practitioners: Advanced Program
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production processes and measures output in fin-
ished products and waste, can provide internal and 
external benefits, enabling an organization to make 
a greater profit with less environmental impact. A 
typical internal benefit is the strengthening of an 
organization’s competitiveness, since MfcA deliv-
ers both increased profits and material productivity. 
this is very much in line with the gP concept, and 
MfcA can be used as one of the tools to imple-
ment gP in enterprises. five model companies from  
Malaysia were selected for this program: tokyo  
ferrite (M) Sdn. Bhd.; extremach Manufacturing Ser-
vices Sdn. Bhd.; Keu control engineering Sdn. Bhd.; 
Autokeen Sdn. Bhd.; and tenaga cable Sdn. Bhd.

interfACe seCtOr

Kaizen and 5S have been identified as the main  
focus for the Mongolia Productivity Organization in 
strengthening the productivity of the country. they 
are also the backbone of its programs for develop-
ing human resources to deliver quality outputs and 
create friendly working environments that encour-
age cooperative, constructive workplace relations. 
Six model companies in Mongolia are part of this 
cycle of the McSP: Darkhan thermal Power Plant; 
Darkhan District Heating company; ulaanbaatar 
electricity Distribution Network company; eermel 
co., ltd.; Broadway Restaurant; and Shilmel zagvar 
co., ltd.
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agrIculture 
sector

the agriculture sector, including food, fisheries, 
forestry, and related subsectors, continues 
to play a major role in the economies of APO 
members, contributing significantly to gDP 
and even more significantly to employment in 
many. Self-sufficiency in food, food safety and 
related accreditation systems, environmental 
conservation, alternative agriculture systems, 
and management of animal-borne diseases 
are currently receiving increasing attention 
worldwide. the Agriculture Program of the APO 
has two main categories: agricultural marketing 
and processing; and sustainable development in 
agriculture, including food safety management 
and traceability systems. Agriculture projects 
also include those under the IcD Program.

Agricultural Marketing and Processing
continuing globalization has meant increased 
competition and changes in consumer demand. 
competition has intensified more between 
supply chains rather than between individual 
growers/suppliers, while consumers request 
more choice with greater safety assurance. 
Appropriate postharvest handling and processing 
not only ensure safety but also reduce waste and 
add value to agricultural products. therefore 
APO projects under its Agriculture Program 
emphasize the need to improve production and 
processing while expanding market access.

Sustainable Development in Agriculture
National agriculture sectors cannot provide 
food for growing populations and contribute 
to the economy unless they are sustainable. 
APO member countries also seek to conserve 
resources and utilize them wisely for sustainability 
of the food supply and agricultural systems. the 
APO organizes projects that will contribute to 
sustainable agriculture and wise resource use.

50
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cAtegORy 1:  
AgRIcultuRe MARKetINg  
AND PROceSSINg

MuLtIcOuNtRy OBSeRvAtIONAL StuDy 
MISSION ON exPORt PROMOtION OF 
AGRIFOOD PRODuctS

A successful export program translates into more 
profits for enterprises, sustainable business opera-
tions, and job creation that benefit firms and the 
national economy as a whole. to achieve this, effec-
tive ways of promoting products for export need 
to be adopted, including: information and/or prod-
uct samples mailed, shipped by air, or uploaded to 
a website; promotion campaigns in wholesale and  
retail outlets; and participation in international trade 
fairs or exhibitions. 

Recognizing the importance of exports to the eco-
nomic development of member countries, the APO 
organized a multicountry observational study mis-
sion on export Promotion of Agrifood Products, 1–6 
March, in japan. this study mission was aimed at 
enhancing participants’ knowledge of tools and ap-
proaches for promoting their agricultural and food 
products in emerging markets as well as promoting 
new products in existing overseas markets and pro-
viding participants with the opportunity to observe 
how export promotion is undertaken through inter-
national exhibitions and fairs. eighteen participants 
from 11 APO members attended.

export Promotion of Agrifood Products

Program coverage: global trends in trade and mar-
keting of agrifood products: Drivers, opportunities, 

and challenges; exporting to japan: Standard pro-
cedure and challenges in doing business with  
japan; Distribution system of food products in  
japan: Insight on the dynamics in sourcing over-
seas and distribution in domestic retail markets;  
Opportunities and challenges in entering the uS 
food market: trends in demand and the current  
regulatory requirements; exporting organic prod-
ucts to the uSA: An update on the uS organic regula-
tions and uS market for organic products; and Market  
research for agrifood products for export: Basic 
principles and current practices. Participants visited 
the fOODex 2010 exhibition at Makuhari Messe 
in chiba; tsukiji fish Market in chuo-ku, tokyo; 
Ota Market for fruit and flowers, Ota-ku, tokyo; 
japan external trade Organization tokyo Office;  
Ajinomoto company factory in Kawasaki; and the 
Ito yokado retail supermarket in Kasai, tokyo.

tRAINING cOuRSe ON e-MARketING OF 
AGRIcuLtuRAL PRODuctS 

e-Marketing or Internet marketing entails integration 
of the creative and technical aspects of the Internet, 
including design and development of websites, 
advertising, and sales. this marketing approach has 
had a major impact on retail businesses because of 
the many unique benefits it offers, notably lower 
costs for the distribution of information, promotion 
of products to a global market, and quick responses 
to and from potential customers and suppliers which 
facilitate faster transactions. effective e-marketing, 
particularly of agricultural and food items, requires 
a comprehensive strategy because of the perishable 
nature of the products. Such products require 
proper handling and packaging, timely delivery, 
and appropriate storage including temperature 
management. entrepreneurs and managers of 
businesses adopting this approach must have 
knowledge of Internet operations and marketing of 
perishable agricultural and food products.

the APO organized a training course on e-Marketing 
of Agricultural Products, 15–19 March, in the Republic 
of Korea to enhance the knowledge of participants 
of the basic principles and current practices in 
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marketing agricultural products using the Internet 
and to equip them with the skills to design web 
pages and electronic-based promotional materials 
for marketing their products. the project was 
implemented by the Korea Productivity center. 
fourteen participants from 10 APO members 
attended the course.

e-Marketing of Agricultural Products

Program coverage: Marketing strategies of agro-
products; consumer-oriented marketing strate-
gies for agroproducts from the perspectives of 
e-business; Internet marketing strategies; free  
social marketing techniques and products; Internet 
marketing to sell agricultural products; and logistics 
management for agroproducts. Participants made 
observational study visits to the garak Market, Seoul 
Agricultural and Marine Products corp., Agricul-
tural and Marine cyber exchange center, and joint  
flowering Products Market in Seoul.

NAtIONAL tRAINING cOuRSe ON tHe FOOD 
SAFety MANAGeMeNt SySteM ISO22000:2005 
FOR AuDItORS/LeAD AuDItORS

An increasing number of food safety crises and 
food scandals occurring worldwide in recent years 
has heightened consumers’ food safety awareness 
and caused public distrust of increasingly com-
plex global food production and trading systems.  
consumers are also becoming more sensitive to 
production processes and practices and the way a 
product is handled throughout the supply chain. 
they are demanding greater quality and safety as-
surances from agribusiness and food companies 

with reliable information. food safety manage-
ment systems (fSMS) are therefore becoming criti-
cal for food enterprises to enhance their share in 
the increasingly competitive global food market. In 
response, agribusinesses and food companies are 
putting in place sound fSMS such as ISO22000 that 
incorporates all HAccP requirements in addition to 
the requirements of ISO9001.

to cater to the rapidly expanding needs of selected 
member countries for food safety experts, in 
2010 the APO organized five national training 
workshops/training courses as follow-ups to the 
2009 multicountry training course on the food 
Safety Management System ISO22000:2005 for 
Auditors/lead Auditors: 1) the national training 
workshop on the fSMS ISO22000:2005 for internal 
auditors, 10–12 May, in Ho chi Minh city; 2) national 
training workshop on fSMS ISO22000:2005, 13–
14 May, in Hanoi; 3) national training course on 
fSMS ISO22000:2005 for auditors/lead auditors, 
6–8 May, in Karachi; 4) national training course on 
fSMS ISO22000:2005 for auditors/lead auditors, 
10–12 May in lahore; and 5) training course on 
fSMS ISO22000:2005, 26–29 july, in colombo. the 
vietnam Productivity centre, National Productivity 
Organization of Pakistan, and National Productivity 
Secretariat of Sri lanka implemented the programs 
in the respective countries. A total of 255 participants 
(96 from vietnam; 109 from Pakistan; and 50 from Sri 
lanka) attended. 

Program coverage: food safety: Issues, prerequisite 
programs, codes of practice, legal requirements, 
and private schemes; Principles, processes, and 
techniques for the assessment and management 
of food safety hazards/HAccP; contents and inter-
relationship of ISO22000, ISO9000, ISO15161, guid-
ance documents, industry practice, and legislative 
requirements; Interpretation of the requirements of 
ISO22000 in the context of an audit of an organiza-
tion’s fSMS; Roles of internal auditors/lead auditors 
and auditors; Process, techniques, skills, and man-
agement of auditing; and Planning, preparation,  
executing, and reporting.
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SeMINAR ON BuILDING vALue cHAINS IN 
AGRIBuSINeSS 

In this competitive, fast-changing world, businesses 
are faced with new challenges from demanding 
markets. A value chain (vc) approach is one busi-
ness strategy to cope with this situation. In a vc, ver-
tically aligned companies are connected from one 
end of the primary production process (farmer’s 
field) through processing, and possibly into the fi-
nal marketing stages where consumers purchase a 
finished product. At each link of the vc, value must 
be added to the product, generally in terms of qual-
ity improvement, system efficiency enhancement, 
and product differentiation. A vc approach can in-
crease efficiency and control costs; reduce the risks 
involved in quality, quantity, and food safety; and 
respond to consumer demand. critical concepts/
elements need to be understood for successful for-
mation of vcs from production to distribution for 
enhancing the performance and competitiveness of 
agribusiness enterprises, especially SMes.

to review recent developments in vcs for agri-
business SMes, especially those involved in hor-
ticultural products, and share best examples of  
building vcs, the APO organized a seminar on 
Building value chains in agribusiness, 23–27 May, 
in Bogor, Indonesia. the Agency for Agricultural 
Human Resources Development of the Ministry of 
Agriculture, in collaboration with the Ministry of 
Manpower and transmigration, implemented the 
seminar. twenty-two participants from 11 mem-
ber countries along with five resource persons  
attended. 

Program coverage: vc approaches in agriculture and 
agribusiness; Building vcs of fresh fruit/vegetables 
for greater market access in international trade; 
vcs in the developing world: Building competitive 
agribusinesses; Assessing resources, risks, and 
capabilities for building a competitive vc for 
perishables; Building vcs for promoting exports of 
fresh fruit/vegetables: A success story; Best examples 
of building vcs in fruit and ornamentals: experience 
of Indonesia; Building vcs for competitive vegetable 

business: A success story; andvcs for successful 
floriculture business: A success story. field visits were 
made to Pt Saung Mirwan, Pt Mandiri jaya flora (Mj 
flora), and warso farm (Durian warso farm), where 
participants observed fruit, vegetable, flower and 
ornamental production, harvesting, grading, and 
packaging operations. 

Building value chains in Agribusiness

e-LeARNING cOuRSe ON FOOD SAFety 
MANAGeMeNt AND FOOD tRAceABILIty

food safety and quality are increasingly becoming 
more important concerns in agriculture and food 
trade. consumers are also becoming more sensitive 
to production processes and practices and demand 
greater quality and safety assurances from agribusi-
ness and food companies with reliable information. 
to ensure the safety of the domestic and global 
food supply, government regulations and brand 
protection demands from customers are on the rise. 
Putting sound food traceability systems in place 
could improve consumers’ confidence in product 
safety and address the documentation require-
ments under international trade agreements. food 
traceability systems are therefore becoming critical 
for the food industry and public sector as well as for 
consumers.

to enhance participants’ understanding of the key 
concepts in a modern food safety and food trace-
ability system and the food traceability standard 
ISO22005:2007 intent, requirements, and appli-
cations; and to equip them with the knowledge 
and skills to implement a modern food traceabil-
ity system to meet ISO22005:2007 requirements, 



54

the APO held a videoconference-based distance-
learning training course on food Safety Manage-
ment and food traceability in three phases: 7–10 
june, fiji, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, and 
thailand; 5–8 july, cambodia, IR Iran, lao PDR, 
Mongolia, Singapore, and vietnam; and 20–23 july,  
Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Pakistan, and Sri lanka. 
the NPOs implemented the programs in each coun-
try. A total of 338 participants from 16 APO mem-
bers attended. thus since 2007, when the APO  
organized the first e-learning course on food Safety 
Management, 1179 stakeholders have been trained 
in the subject through videoconferencing, i.e., 841 
in the fSMS ISO22000, and 338 in the food traceabil-
ity standard ISO22005:2007. 

Program coverage: Key concepts in a modern fSMS; 
fundamentals of a food traceability system; Require-
ments of the food traceability system ISO22005:2007 
standard; Principles and design of a food traceabil-
ity system; Implementation of the food traceability  
system ISO22005:2007 standard; enhancing food 
traceability systems for SMes; traceability in the sea-
food processing industry in the Republic of china; 
japan’s statutory and regulatory requirements re-
lating to food traceability; and traceability in the 
meat supply chain: experience of Itoham foods Inc., 
japan. to observe food safety and food traceability 
management operations, participants visited mod-
ern food facilities in their locations.

APO StuDy MISSION tO A NONMeMBeR 
cOuNtRy ON INNOvAtIONS IN FOOD 
PRODuctS

Product innovations are vital for any business en-
terprise to survive competition and the current 
economic crunch. In the food industry, product  
innovations may involve value added to an existing 
product to create an enhanced one; reformulation 
of the ingredients of existing products to add new 
flavor, texture, shape, and scent; or extension of the 
product range resulting in multiple uses to meet 
the requirements of consumers and capture new 
markets. Some examples of innovative food prod-
ucts include those delivering a unique combination 

of functional, nutritional, economic, and sustain-
able benefits to customers; or those that improve 
food quality and safety, reduce consumer efforts in 
benefiting from the intended use of the products, 
or reduce production costs, waste, environmental  
impacts, and/or energy consumption while main-
taining or even improving production levels. given 
today’s challenging economic times, food com-
panies, especially small enterprises in developing 
countries, should consciously continue to make  
innovations in their business to stay competitive. 

Innovations in food Products

the APO organized a study mission to a nonmember 
country on Innovations in food Products, 27 
june–1 july 2010, in New york city, uSA, to 
enable participants to learn different approaches 
and tools for introducing innovations in food 
products; observe the latest trends in packaging, 
labeling, promotion, and marketing of innovative 
food products; and understand the role of food 
business incubators. the mission was attended by 
14 participants from eight APO members and was 
implemented by Registrar corp. uSA.

Program coverage: Opportunities and challenges 
in exporting processed food products to the uSA; 
Minimizing duties and penalties in the uS customs 
clearance process; the uS market in relation to 
specialty foods, restaurant networks, and key cultural 
entry points; concepts, marketing strategies, and 
benefits of making an organic or kosher product; 
and Issues and challenges in developing innovative 
products for export markets. Participants visited 
North America’s largest 2010 Specialty food and 
Beverage exhibit at jacob K. javits center, whole 
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foods Market, Dean & Deluca, and trader joe’s 
retail supermarkets in New york city and observed 
different innovative food products and their 
promotion strategies. they also visited the Rutgers 
food Innovation center in nearby New jersey and 
studied its successful business mentoring model. 

tRAINING cOuRSe ON PROvIDING ADvISORy 
AND tRAINING SeRvIceS tO WOMeN ON tHe 
MANAGeMeNt OF MIcRO- AND SMALL-ScALe 
AGROFOOD-PROceSSING eNteRPRISeS

the recent financial crisis has had a more severe im-
pact on women than on men as more women are 
employed in vulnerable jobs in tourism and export-
oriented garment and food-processing businesses. 
Most women who lost their jobs joined the ranks of 
the self-employed engaged in small retail trade and 
home-based microenterprises anchored on food 
processing and agribusiness. But with hardly any 
managerial and marketing skills and little technical 
knowledge of food-processing and agribusiness 
operations, most of them have difficulties in sustain-
ing such businesses. Basic training in these areas is 
therefore needed as a strategic intervention. 

Providing Advisory and training Services to women on the 
Management of Micro- and Small-scale Agrofood-processing 
enterprises

Recognizing the needs of women in many Asian 
developing countries, the APO organized a training 
course on Providing Advisory and training Services 
to women on the Management of Micro- and Small-
scale Agrofood-processing enterprises in Kuala 
lumpur, 26–31 july. the course was designed to 
equip participants with knowledge of and skills in 

the use of selected productivity management tools 
and techniques to enhance their ability to provide 
advisory services and training to women in the 
management of micro- and small-scale agrofood 
processing enterprises. twenty participants from 13 
countries attended. the project was implemented 
in cooperation with the MPc.

Program coverage: concepts and principles of en-
trepreneurship and business management for small 
and micro agrofood processing; Program for the 
development of women entrepreneurs; Basic plan-
ning tools for starting a small agrofood-processing 
business; Production planning and operations man-
agement; Managing product quality and food safe-
ty; New product development and value addition; 
Marketing management; and Managing finance. 
Participants visited My Haiz Sdn. Bhd. in Shah Alam, 
Selangor Darul ehsan; and Hajjah Aminah food Ind. 
Sdn. Bhd. in Seremban, Negeri Sembilan. Both food-
processing companies were started and managed 
by women entrepreneurs.

WORkSHOP ON BeSt PRActIceS OF 
LOGIStIcS MANAGeMeNt FOR AGRIBuSINeSS: 
cONSOLIDAtION AND DIStRIButION SySteM 
FOR AGRIcuLtuRAL PRODuctS

logistics management for agricultural products is 
about how organizations fulfill market demand by 
getting the right product, in the right quantity and 
quality, at the right time and place as efficiently as 
possible to meet customer requirements. logistics 
management is an integrating function, which co-
ordinates and optimizes all logistics activities as well 
as integrates logistics operations with other func-
tions including marketing, sales, manufacturing, 
finance, and information technology. Providing de-
pendable, accurate, error-free logistics service while 
controlling costs is the primary goal for logistics and 
agribusiness managers. 

to review the current logistics management sys-
tems for agribusiness SMes and to share best cases 
of agribusiness logistics management for agricultur-
al products, the APO organized a workshop on Best 
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Practices of logistics Management for Agribusiness: 
consolidation and Distribution System for Agricul-
tural Products, 16–20 August, in Bangkok, with col-
laboration of the thailand Productivity Institute 
and university of the thai chamber of commerce.  
twenty-one participants from 11 countries, along 
with three international and six local experts, at-
tended. In addition, more than 50 local observers 
attended on day 1.

Program coverage: Agroindustry: the way forward; 
Key concepts, principles, and building blocks of an 
agribusiness logistics management system; Agricul-
tural value creation from logistics management; lo-
gistics and supply chain best practices in the sugar 
industry; Developing logistics management and 
transport systems in horticulture supply chains for 
small rural farms; greater Mekong subregion agri-
business distribution hub in Pitsanulok province; lo-
gistics and supply chain best practices in japanese 
agribusiness; and journey of agribusiness value cre-
ation of Royal Aholds. A site visit was made to the 
Mitr Phol Sugar Mill in Suphanburi province.

tRAINING cOuRSe ON tHe FOOD SAFety 
MANAGeMeNt SySteM ISO22000:2005 FOR 
AuDItORS/LeAD AuDItORS

International trade in food has increased fast. con-
sumers are increasingly concerned about the safety 
of the food they eat. Driven by such global trends 
and customer demand, the Asia-Pacific food indus-
try is continually improving its fSMS. the number 
of food companies certified for fSMS ISO22000 is 
also increasing rapidly. However, implementation 
of a modern fSMS is not easy. the verification and 
auditing of fSMS are even more difficult. thus the 
fSMS auditor’s task is a complex one, with audit ac-
tivity taking into account many levels of practices 
and procedures that support food safety, compli-
ance with food safety legislation, and other safety 
requirements throughout the food chain. 

the APO organized an International Registry of 
certificated Auditors (IRcA)-certified training 
course on the food Safety Management System 

ISO22000:2005 for Auditors/lead Auditors, 23–27 
August, in Seoul, to enable participants to acquire 
the knowledge and skills to interpret and audit 
according to the ISO22000:2005 fSMS and satisfy 
the requirements for registration as an fSMS auditor. 
the KPc implemented the program, and the training 
provider was Hong Kong veritas limited. Sixteen 
participants from 14 countries attended.

the training course was a follow-up to the 
IRcA/2019fSMS Auditor/lead Auditor training 
course and the most recent version of ISO19011. 
the course focused on evaluating the effectiveness 
of fSMS through implementation of ISO22000:2005 
in the context of an organization’s management 
arrangements, applicable legislative framework, 
and significant hazards in its operational processes.  

Program coverage: food safety: Issues, prerequisite 
programs, codes of practice, legal requirements, 
and private schemes; Principles, processes, and 
techniques for the assessment and management of 
food safety hazards; contents and interrelationship of 
ISO22000, ISO9000, ISO15161, guidance documents, 
industry practice, and legislative requirements; 
Interpretation of the requirements of ISO22000 
in the context of an audit of an organization’s 
fSMS; Roles of lead auditors and auditors; Process, 
techniques, skills, and management of auditing; and 
Planning, preparation, executing, and reporting.

WORkSHOP ON APPROAcHeS AND tOOLS 
FOR IMPROvING tHe PeRFORMANce OF 
AGRIBuSINeSS SMeS

Agro-based SMes are important in sustaining rural 
economies, although their businesses are often 
saddled with various management problems 
ranging from financing and investment issues, 
poor quality of products, and unstable production 
to labor and staffing concerns. A limited capacity 
to undertake in-depth financial, investment, and 
cost-benefit analyses as well as a lack of familiarity 
with quality and safety management tools for food 
manufacturing are also hindrances. to address 
these problems, there is a need to improve the 
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managerial and technical knowledge and skills of 
those operating agribusiness SMes.

the APO held a workshop on Approaches and tools 
for Improving the Performance of Agribusiness 
SMes, 4–8 October, in Medan, Indonesia, to enhance 
the knowledge and skills of participants in the man-
agement and operation of agribusiness SMes. this 
workshop was organized in collaboration with the 
colombo Plan Secretariat and attended by 21 partic-
ipants from eight countries. the Indonesian Ministry 
of Agriculture supported the workshop in collabora-
tion with the North Sumatra provincial government.  

Approaches and tools for Improving the Performance of Agribusiness 
SMes

Program coverage: empowering management of 
SMes in agribusiness in North Sumatra; the prin-
ciples and tools of marketing agri-based products; 
finance-based decision making including break-
even analysis, investment analysis, and financial 
statement analysis; case studies of financial analysis; 
Quality control (Qc) focusing on practical studies of 
seven Qc tools; group exercises in using Qc tools; 
and Modern food safety management tools such as 
HAccP and ISO22000. field visits were hosted by a 
coffee factory and vegetable-packaging factory in 
North Sumatra.   

StuDy MISSION tO A NONMeMBeR cOuNtRy 
ON quALIty MANAGeMeNt FOR PROceSSeD 
FOOD AND BeveRAGe PRODuctS

SMes in Asian countries have great potential to 
export processed food products to major world 

markets. However, that potential is not fully exploit-
ed by SMes in the region due to their insufficient 
capacities to meet the quality and safety require-
ments of the export market. furthermore, except 
for a few, most developing countries in Asia also 
do not have well-funded, well-organized institu-
tions to help SMes to improve their quality manage-
ment. few developing countries are able to send 
missions overseas to learn about advanced quality 
management practices and systems in developed  
countries. 

the APO therefore organized a study mission to a 
nonmember country on Quality Management for 
Processed food and Beverage, 18–22 October, in 
Paris, france, to study the quality management tools 
and techniques used by the food- and beverage-
processing industry and to observe innovations and 
emerging trends in the types of processed food and 
beverage products by visiting retail chain outlets 
and the le Salon International de l’Agroalimentaire 
(SIAl) 2010 food exposition in france. the mission 
was attended by 14 participants from 11 countries. 
gressard consultant company organized local 
logistics.

Program coverage: trends in quality required for 
processed food and beverages in france and the 
eu; food safety and quality approach to comply 
with eu regulations; How to prepare for efficient 
certification (part I: Presentation of the main trends 
for the certification bodies, part II: joint and specific 
requirements for the standards IfS, ISO, BRc, part 
III: experiences for setting up these standards in 
some APO countries); constraints and resistance in 
implementing quality assurance; and Key factors to 
achieve high-quality processed food in a company. 
In addition to SIAl 2010, the mission also visited 
the Rungis wholesale market, the world’s largest 
food market; groupe Mandar, a vegetable-packing 
company; and the champagne producer goutorbe 
to study key factors and methods to attain high 
levels of quality in food processing. 
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MuLtIcOuNtRy OBSeRvAtIONAL StuDy 
MISSION ON BRANDING OF LOcAL FOOD AND 
AGRIcuLtuRAL PRODuctS 

Agricultural, forestry, and fishery products and 
processed foods have close linkages with specific 
localities and geographic conditions. for some 
products, a close association emerges between 
a product name and a geographic name during a 
long history of production, which finally establishes 
a reputation in the market as having a specific 
feature or high quality. when this reputation is 
widely recognized in the market, the name is 
regarded as a brand. this success can be achieved 
through efforts to use geographic features in the 
production methods. However, in many Asian 
countries, branding of the locally produced foods 
and agricultural products is not feasible due to the 
lack of knowledge, strategy of the producers, and 
public-sector support. In other cases, the marketing 
of such products may face challenges due to the lack 
of a legal system to protect the use of brand names. 

the APO organized an observational study mission 
on Branding of local food and Agricultural Products, 
9–16 November, in tokyo to study producers’ 
strategies and activities in japan to establish and 
promote brands of food and agricultural products 
using geographic names as well as government 
policies to promote such activities and protect the 
intellectual property rights of brand owners. the 
mission was attended by 14 participants from 10 
countries. 

Program coverage: Keys to a successful local brand; 
Systems for protection of geographic indications—
eu systems for protecting geographic indications 
and the current status in japan; Program for region-
al brands for agricultural, forestry, fishery, and food 
products; Regional brand in japan—Kobe beef; jap-
anese regional basis collective trademark system; 
the case of the yubari melon; and Project summary 
and international discussions on geographic indica-
tions. to observe strategies employed by producers, 
their associations, and the public sector to estab-
lish brands of local specific agricultural and fishery  

products, the mission visited: Boshu Biwa club 
(loquat business association in chiba prefecture); 
Shizuoka prefectural government; Amela tomato 
Producers’ Association (sweet tomato producers 
in yaizu); yaizu Katsuobushi (fermented bonito)  
Producers’ Association; jA Hannan (green tea  
producers’ cooperative in Makinohara); and jA  
Mikkabi (mandarin orange producers’ cooperative 
in Hamamatsu). 

Branding of local food and Agricultural Products

MuLtIcOuNtRy OBSeRvAtIONAL StuDy 
MISSION ON MODeRN FOOD SAFety 
MANAGeMeNt SySteMS

Putting sound food safety and traceability systems 
in place could improve consumers’ confidence. fSMS 
and foof traceability systems (ftS) are therefore 
becoming critical for the food industry and the 
public sector, as well as for consumers. the fSMS 
and ftS in many developing Asian countries are not 
well developed, while developed Asian countries 
like japan have world-class fSMS and ftS. 

to learn from the success of japan in establishing 
sound policies and institutions, state-of-the-art 
technologies and approaches, and modern fSMS 
and ftS, the APO organized a multicountry ob-
servational study mission on Modern food Safety 
Management Systems, 7–14 December. the japa-
nese Ministry of Agriculture, forestry, and fisheries 
cosponsored this mission through a special cash 
grant. the japan Association for International col-
laboration of Agriculture and forestry implemented 



59APO ANNUAL REPORT 2010

agriculture SectOr

the mission, which was attended by 18 participants 
from 15 member countries. 

Modern food Safety Management Systems

Program coverage: Modern food safety manage-
ment systems and their implementation in develop-
ing Asian countries: challenges and opportunities; 
Recent trends in food safety: Policy in japan; trace-
ability of food chains: general principles and status 
in japan; food safety management: prediction and 
precaution with risk analysis; and the SeIcA website: 
Net catalogue of vegetables and fruit. for firsthand 
observations of fSMS and ftS in japan, the partici-
pants visited the National food Research Institute in 
Ibaraki prefecture; Daito Shokken co., ltd., in Saita-
ma prefecture; Sanwa Shokuhin in gunma prefec-
ture; and Nippon Meat Packers, Inc. Ham Plant and 
Meiji Milk Plant, both in Ibaraki prefecture. 

SPecIAL PROGRAM FOR StReNGtHeNING 
tHe cAPAcIty OF FOOD SuPPLy cHAIN 
MANAGeMeNt IN ASIAN LeASt DeveLOPeD 
cOuNtRIeS 

the Special Program for Strengthening the capacity 
of food Supply chain Management in Asian least 
Developed countries (fScM-lDcs) is a new program 
succeeding the special program on Agricultural 
Productivity in Asian least Developed countries 
(APe-lDc) and is funded with a special cash grant from 
the Ministry of Agriculture, forestry and fisheries 
(MAff) of japan. under APe-lDc, which started 
in 2004 and ended in March 2010, many projects 
were carried out to promote productivity and  
improve food safety/quality in agriculture and 

the food industry in cambodia and lao PDR. As a  
result of those projects, the importance of increasing  
productivity, food safety, and food quality was 
understood by stakeholders, and productivity  
enhancement tools such as 5S and kaizen and food 
hygiene practices like gMP were disseminated 
through demonstration companies. However, 
many issues still remain in agriculture and the food 
industry sector in both countries. 

As agriculture, the food-processing industry, and 
food distribution and retailing are closely linked, the 
activities of these sectors are increasingly viewed as 
a single entity referred to as the “food supply chain.” 
In view of the need to establish food supply chains 
that can provide high-quality food at reasonable 
prices, it was recognized that an additional program 
should be designed to enhance the ability of the  
entire food chain based on the achievements of 
APe-lDc. 

fScM-lDcs aims to strengthen the capacity of ag-
riculture, the food-processing industry, and, where 
possible, the food distribution and retailing industry 
to provide high-quality, safe food and agricultural 
products with increased production efficiency. the 
program also aims at improving the capacity of the 
public sector to manage and control food safety 
and quality. Similar to APe-lDc, the new program 
also aims at strengthening NPO capacities to guide 
and educate private industry. the japanese MAff 
will continuously provide financial resources for this 
program. under fScM-lDcs, the following projects 
were carried out in cambodia and lao PDR in 2010.

(1) Demonstration company Project on Good 
Manufacturing Practices in cambodia: Phase II

the national project to establish and disseminate 
gMP among cambodian food-processing factories 
started in November 2009 and ended in November 
2010. the project was divided into two terms: phase 
I from November 2009 to March 2010, which mainly 
dealt with the basic learning and preparation for 
gMP establishment; and phase II from April 2010 to 
November 2010, which worked on the adoption of 
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gMP. During the project implementation period, an 
APO expert visited four demonstration companies 
five times to give guidance on how to establish gMP. 
National Productivity centre of cambodia (NPcc) 
staff also made additional visits to the companies to 
assist in gMP efforts. 

(2) Demonstration company Project on 5S and 
kaizen in Local Areas in cambodia: Phase II
the national project to establish and disseminate 
5S and kaizen in local regions in cambodia started 
in November 2009 and finished in October 2010. 
two companies were chosen as demonstration 
companies in each of the four regions of Battambang, 
Kampong cham, takeo, and Preah Sihanouk. the 
APO expert visited each region to give basic advice 
on undertaking 5S and kaizen. follow-up visits 
were also made by NPcc staff and local Ministry 
of Industry, Mines and energy staff in the intervals 
between expert visits. this project aimed to train 
companies located in regions so that the concept 
and practice of 5S and kaizen could be disseminated 
locally. the project also sought to develop experts 
on 5S and kaizen in local areas. 

(3) Demonstration company Project on Good 
Manufacturing Practices in Lao PDR 
the national demonstration company project to 
establish and disseminate gMP in the lao food-
processing industry started in November 2010. the 
project is expected to continue for approximately 
one year. An APO expert made the first visit in 
November 2010 and will make several visits to four 
food manufacturing companies to give advice on 
how to undertake gMP in factories. 

(4) National training course on Postharvest 
technologies for Rice
the training course on postharvest technologies 
for rice was held in vientiane, 20–24 December. It 
is estimated that more than 15% of rice produced 
is lost during postharvest operations due to 
inappropriate practices during drying, milling, and 
husking and insufficient humidity and temperature 
management in warehouses. the training course 
consisted of a series of lectures on basic concepts 

and technologies to improve postharvest treatment 
and identified critical points in the rice food supply 
chain which could prevent postharvest losses and 
quality degradation of rice.

cAtegORy 2:  
SuStAINABle DevelOPMeNt  
IN AgRIcultuRe

WORkSHOP ON tHe PARtIcIPAtORy 
APPROAcH tO WAteR ReSOuRceS 
MANAGeMeNt IN AGRIcuLtuRe: 
PARtIcIPAtORy IRRIGAtION MANAGeMeNt

Irrigation is critical to ensure food security and 
sustainable socioeconomic growth in the Asia-Pacific 
region. In most countries, the construction, water 
supply, and maintenance of large- and medium-
scale irrigation systems are publicly managed or 
administered. the performance of irrigation systems 
is of serious concern to farmers who rely on them 
for their crops and livelihoods and to governments 
that have invested heavily in their development 
for meeting the food and water requirements of 
citizens. farmers do not usually pay for the water 
itself but for the associated public services. In view 
of the budgetary constraints of governments, 
management problems, and stagnating productivity 
of many irrigation systems, there have been 
attempts for years, often by international financial 
institutions, to involve different stakeholders in 
irrigation system management, called participatory 
irrigation management (PIM).

Participatory Approach to water Resources Management in 
Agriculture: Participatory Irrigation Management
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Since the mid-1980s, APO member countries such 
as Indonesia, the Philippines, India, IR Iran, Pakistan, 
and Sri lanka have adopted policies to encourage 
greater management participation by water us-
ers. So far water users’ associations (wuAs), PIM, 
and irrigation management transfer projects have  
generated mixed outcomes. Some irrigation sys-
tems show dramatic improvement when their  
management is transferred to wuAs, and other  
APO members could learn a lot from such  
experience.

to enhance understanding of the current global 
trends in PIM and share good practices of PIM, the 
APO organized a workshop on the Participatory 
Approach to water Resources Management in 
Agriculture: Participatory Irrigation Management, 
23–28 january, in tehran, IR Iran. the Ministry of 
jihad-e-Agriculture in collaboration with the NIPc 
implemented the program. A total of 22 participants 
from 10 APO members along with five resource 
persons attended.

Program coverage: 1) Managing water resourc-
es for sustainable agriculture in the Asia-Pacific  
Region: Issues, challenges, and options; PIM: A strat-
egy for enhancing agricultural water productivity;  
Participatory approaches and techniques for effi-
cient, sustainable management of water resources 
in agriculture; Models of PIM: A comparative review 
in the context of their adoption; Irrigation strategy 
and management reform in turkey; Development 
and implementation of PIM projects in turkey:  
examples of successful cases; and Korean model  
of PIM. the participants toured the Qazvin Irri-
gation Project Area where they observed PIM in  
operation.

WORkSHOP FOR ReSeARcH ON 
AGRIcuLtuRAL POLIcIeS IN ASIA

this research project started in june 2008 to publish 
Agricultural Policies in Selected APO Members. final 
publication was delayed for technical reasons and 
rescheduled to allow more time to incorporate up-
dated, precise policy information and examine the 

methodologies further for the use of productivity 
indicators with the assistance of national and inter-
national experts. to conduct comparative analyses 
of agricultural policies in participating countries 
based on the data and information submitted by  
national experts and the producer support esti-
mates (PSes) computed by them, and to develop the 
basic structure and rough draft for the final publi-
cation Agricultural Policies in Selected APO Member 
Countries—an Overview through Transfer Analysis, 
the APO Secretariat hosted a workshop for Research 
on Agricultural Policies in Asia, 19–21 january, in 
tokyo. five experts from the Republic of china,  
India, Indonesia, Malaysia, and Pakistan together 
with three resource persons attended. 

Program coverage: collecting reliable data on 
agricultural production volume, market prices, and 
national budget expenses for agricultural policy 
measures; computing the PSe with the available 
dataset for each country; and Analyzing agricultural 
policies with the preliminary computed PSes.

APO StuDy MISSION tO A NONMeMBeR 
cOuNtRy: ecOtOuRISM IN HAWAII

the Asia-Pacific region with its rich cultural and 
biodiversity resources and scenic landscapes has 
great potential to develop ecotourism as a strategic 
economic activity in rural areas. Recently, some 
member countries have taken up initiatives to 
promote ecotourism, while others may follow the 
suit in the near future. there is a need to enhance 
the capacity of stakeholders in member countries 
in planning and managing ecotourism through 
exposing them to the state-of-the art ecotourism 
practices. to learn from Hawaii’s rich experience in 
ecotourism as a strategic economic activity for the 
socioeconomic development of local communities/
rural areas and conservation of indigenous 
knowledge and biodiversity, the APO deputed an 
observational study mission to the State of Hawaii, 
15–19 March. the program was implemented by the 
State of Hawaii Department of Business, economic 
Development and tourism in collaboration with the 
Hawaii ecotourism Association. fifteen participants 
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from nine member countries and two local resource 
speakers from the university of Hawaii at Manoa 
attended.

ecotourism in Hawaii

Program coverage: ecotourism as a sustainable 
development strategy for resident communities in  
Hawaii; and Policy and institutional arrangements 
for developing ecotourism in Hawaii. Participants 
also gave presentations on their countries’ 
experience in ecotourism. for observational studies, 
the participants visited the following sites on 
Oahu Island: Kaala farm culture learning center; 
Kahumana Organic farm and café; waianae Boat 
Harbor; waipahu cultural garden Park; Sugar and 
pineapple plantations in central Oahu, including 
the historic waialua Sugar Mill and the North Shore 
girls’ Surfing School in Haleiwa; Kualoa Ranch and 
Activity club; tropical farms, Hawaii; Hoomaluhia 
Botanical garden; and Hanauma Bay Nature.

MuLtIcOuNtRy OBSeRvAtIONAL StuDy
MISSION ON APPLIcAtIONS OF BIOtecHNOLOGy 
IN tHe PRODuctION OF HIGH-vALue cROPS

APO member countries are at different stages as 
far as application of biotechnology in the pro-
duction of high-value crops is concerned. More  
advanced member countries like japan, Republic 

of Korea, and Republic of china have made remark-
able achievements in biotechnology applications in 
crop, livestock, and fisheries sectors. Such success 
could be attributed to sound policy and institutional  
settings, effective regulatory mechanisms, and 
high investment in R&D. the APO in cooperation 
with the council of Agriculture (cOA) organized a 
multicountry observational study mission on the  
Applications of Biotechnology in the Production of 
High-value crops, 28 june–2 july 2010, in taichung and  
Kaohsiung, the Republic of china. the taiwan  
Agricultural Research Institute (tARI) of the cOA in  
collaboration with the cPc implemented the pro-
gram. the objective was to assess the application of 
biotechnology in agriculture and identify high-value 
horticultural crops that have potential for biotech-
nology applications and how private companies 
could benefit from that potential in member coun-
tries though observing the successful examples in 
the host economy. A total of 23 participants and five 
resource persons attended. 

Program coverage: Prospects of agricultural bio-
technology in Asia; Regulatory and institutional 
framework to stimulate biotechnology applications 
in horticulture; Biotechnology application in the 
orchid industry—a successful example in taiwan;  
Intellectual property strategy of biotech-derived 
horticultural products; Promotion/facilitation strat-
egy of biotechnology applied to small farms and 
enterprises in rural areas; and formulation of ac-
tion plans to promote biotechnology applications 

Applications of Biotechnology in the Production of High-value crops
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in participants’ home countries. the participants 
observed horticultural biotechnology applica-
tions in the host country at the tARI Orchid Biotech 
Park (tainan), Asian vegetable Research and De-
velopment center (the world vegetable center),  
Known-you Seed co., ltd., and fengshan tropical 
Horticultural experimental Station of tARI. 

tRAINING cOuRSe ON StANDARDS AND 
ceRtIFIcAtION SySteMS FOR ORGANIc FOOD 
PRODuctION AND PROceSSING

the production and trade of organic food products 
are expanding fast, driven by increasing consumer 
demand and the premium prices producers receive. 
the drivers of this trend include consumer concerns 
about the impact of production processes on the 
environment, consumer desire to be healthy and 
fit, or concerns about food safety and quality since 
organic food is closely associated with safe pro-
duction and chemical-free products. the expected 
robust growth in demand for organic products in 
global markets augurs well for organic producers 
in developing countries in Asia. to take advantage 
of this growing export market, however, there is a 
need to establish credible systems of organic stan-
dards and strengthen organic certification bodies in 
those countries. 

the APO organized a training course on Standards 
and certification Systems for Organic food Produc-
tion and Processing, 12–17 july, in Quezon city, the 
Philippines, to enhance participants’ knowledge of 
standard setting, inspection, and certification pro-
cesses for organic food production. It was attended 
by 22 participants from 11 countries. the project 
was implemented in cooperation with the Develop-
ment Academy of the Philippines and the Bureau of 
Agriculture and fisheries Products Standards of the 
Department of Agriculture. 

Program coverage: global trends in demand for 
and production of organic food products: Key play-
ers and major markets; Overview of the organic 
food industry in Asia: trends, opportunities, and  
challenges; Role of government, industry 

associations, and other stakeholders in the promo-
tion of organic farming: experience of taiwan; A 
snapshot of the organic industry in the Philippines: 
trends and key issues faced by producers; Role of the  
International federation of Organic Agriculture 
Movements (IfOAM), International Organic Ac-
creditation Service, and other organizations in the 
organic food industry; general requirements for 
organic crop production: IfOAM and other organic 
standards; general requirements for animal hus-
bandry/livestock production: IfOAM and other  
organic standards; general requirements for aqua-
culture production: IfOAM and eu regulations; 
general requirements for processing, handling, and  
labeling; uSDA’s National Organic Program; Over-
view of the japan Agriculture Standards for organ-
ics; Inspection and certification procedures for 
individual and group farms; and Inspection and 
certification procedures for manufacturers and han-
dlers. Participants visited Herbana farms located in 
calamba, laguna, for a field exercise. they also vis-

ited the International Rice Research Institute and the 
Institute of Plant Breeding at the university of the 
Philippines, both located in los Baños, laguna.  

StuDy MeetING ON ReFORMING 
AGRIcuLtuRAL exteNSION SySteMS 
tHROuGH kNOWLeDGe MANAGeMeNt 

Agricultural extension is expected to deliver new 
knowledge and innovations from researchers to 

Standards and certification Systems for Organic food Production and 
Processing
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farmers as well as provide feedback to researchers 
on the problems faced and innovations discovered 
by farmers. Recently, it has been recognized that 
reliance on scientific knowledge and technology 
alone and the neglect of farmers’ tacit knowledge 
in agricultural extension practices as well as a lack 
of sharing of lessons learned in farming are impedi-
ments to increased agricultural productivity. this 
could be resolved through the practical application 
of KM. An appropriate KM system can assist farmers 
in utilizing and sharing new knowledge. It may also 
be able to create easy-to-use repositories for storing 
vital information, and easier training of new exten-
sion staff, harvesting tacit knowledge, and reducing 
redundancies in agricultural research. 
 
the APO therefore organized a study meeting on 
Reforming Agricultural extension Systems through 
Knowledge Management, 6–11 September, in New 
Delhi to identify issues, impediments, and challeng-
es in promoting the use of KM for improving agri-
cultural extension systems and formulate strategic  
recommendations and action plans for applying KM 
to agricultural extension services. the study meet-
ing was attended by 18 participants from seven 
countries. the project was implemented in coopera-
tion with the Ministry of Agriculture of India. 

Program coverage: Key concepts and methods of 
KM and their applications in agricultural extension; 
Recent developments in the application of KM in 
reshaping agriculture; the e-Agritek innovative 
strategy; technological, institutional, and organi-
zational settings for promoting KM applications in 
agricultural extension services; case of the techno-
gabay fItS Program in the Philippines; capability 
building and effective promotional activities of KM 
for agricultural development; extension initiatives 
and experiences in India; Agricultural KM strategies 
through partnerships among stakeholders; experi-
ences of and implications for extension systems; 
and Key issues in agricultural extension for KM: In-
dian perspective. visits were made to the villages 
of cookthala and jaupura to observe examples of 
farmers’ tacit knowledge converted into explicit 
knowledge and efficiently shared with many others. 

MISSION tO A NONMeMBeR cOuNtRy ON 
GLOBALGAP FOR GReAteR MARket AcceSS 
OF AGRIFOOD PRODuctS

Asian countries produce a wide range of agrifood 
products that have great potential in global 
food markets such as germany and neighboring 
eu members. However, products from many 
developing countries cannot penetrate this huge 
market because of environmental, health, safety, and 
hygiene risks associated with current production 
systems. Implementation of gAP protocols therefore 
can be critical in gaining access of agrifood products 
to german and other eu markets. Implementation 
of the gAP approach, however, can be challenging 
because of the diversity of codes, guidelines, and 
definitions within the agriculture sector. there is 
an urgent need to harmonize gAP concepts and 
guidelines at the international level. the glOBAlgAP 
(formerly known as euRePgAP) standard was 
introduced for this purpose. glOBAlgAP is a single, 
integrated standard that has become established as 
a key reference for gAP in the global marketplace.

In view of the immense importance of gAP for en-
hancing agricultural productivity in sustainable and 
socially acceptable ways and as a strategy to capture 
a greater share of the developed international food 
market, the APO deputed a study mission on glO-
BAlgAP for greater Market Access of Agrifood Prod-
ucts to germany, 25–29 October, to learn from the 
excellent experience of germany in implementation 
of the glOBAlgAP standard through direct expo-
sure to the state-of-the-art agricultural production 
systems and successful examples of the applications 
of gAP in the host country. Organic Services gmbH 
implemented the program. Sixteen participants 
from eight countries attended.

Program coverage: glOBAlgAP intent and re-
quirements; trends in implementation of gAP and 
glOBAlgAP in german agriculture and their impact 
on farm incomes and farm productivity; Drivers of 
gAP and glOBAlgAP in germany and the eu; Poli-
cy, regulatory, and institutional settings for promot-
ing gAP and glOBAlgAP; Small-sized producers 
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and glOBAlgAP implementation and certification; 
Quality and safety standards and assurance systems 
required by fresh produce importers in germany; 
Situation of egg and poultry meat markets in eu-
rope and future prospects including requirements 
for imported meat; Introduction of the flower label 
program of flP e.v.; Software for globalgAP imple-
mentation and certification; and How to implement 
globalgAP certification in Asian countries. Site visits 
were made in and around frankfurt, cologne, and 
Kerpen to five QS-gAP/IfS/glOBAlgAP/organic 
standard-certified farms/companies: vegetable 
farm Boley; vegetable and fruit producer, processor, 
and trader Plug verpackungs gmbH; herb producer 
and processor Dreesen frische Kräuter gmbH & co. 

Kg; the pig-fattening family farm Aehling; and or-
ganic mixed family farm finkes Hof. two wholesale 
markets also hosted participants: lehmann Natur, an 
organic fruit and vegetable wholesale market with 
requirements for organic standards, glOBAlgAP, 
and IfS; and frischezentrum frankfurt, a wholesale 
market for imported and local produced fresh prod-
ucts such as fruit and vegetables, specialties, fish, 
meat, and poultry.

e-LeARNING cOuRSe ON GOOD AGRIcuLtuRAL 
PRActIceS AND GLOBALGAP FOR GReAteR 
MARket AcceSS FOR AGRIFOOD PRODuctS

the adoption of gAP has become increasingly 
important in light of increasing regional and 
international trade in agrifood products. However, 

the lack of harmonization between gAP schemes 
among countries has often led to confusion and 
higher certification costs for farmers and exporters. 
those with contractual relations with several retailers 
also complain about multiple audits against different 
criteria set by different groups of retailers every 
year. the implementation of gAP and compliance 
with its requirements are not easy, especially for 
small farmers, because of the diversity of codes, 
guidelines, and definitions for various forms of 
agricultural produce. An understanding of all these 
concepts of gAP and benchmarking of national 
gAP against glOBAlgAP can help producers and 
exporters improve agricultural practices, facilitate 
exports, and reduce the cost of audits.

the APO organized an e-learning course on good 
Agricultural Practices and glOBAlgAP for greater 
Market Access for Agrifood Products to enhance 
participants’ understanding of the importance 
of gAP certification in the international trade in 
agricultural products and to familiarize them with 
the glOBAlgAP standard, requirements, and 
process of certification. this course was conducted 
through the world Bank’s gDlN platform in tokyo 
and gDlN centers in participating countries in three 
phases: 26–28 October, Bangladesh, India, IR Iran, 
Nepal, and Pakistan; 16–18 November, cambodia, 
Republic of china, lao PDR, Philippines, Sri lanka, 
and vietnam; and 23–25 November, fiji, Indonesia, 
Malaysia, and thailand. A total of 260 participants 
from 15 countries successfully completed the 
course. Seven international resource persons made 
presentations from germany, japan, Malaysia, and 
the uSA. 

Program coverage: good Agriculture Practice and 
glOBAlgAP perspectives; glOBAlgAP certification 
for fruit and vegetables; glOBAlgAP certification 
for livestock and poultry; glOBAlgAP certification 
for aquaculture; the uSDA good Agricultural 
Practices and good Handling Practices Program; 
gAP implementation in the uSA and selected latin 
American countries; the japanese good Agricultural 
Practices and its requirements; the good Agricultural 
Practice scheme in Malaysia; Benchmarking and 

glOBAlgAP for greater Market Access of Agrifood Products
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harmonization of national gAP with glOBAlgAP; 
Key issues and challenges in implementing gAP  
at farmers’ level; and Setting the gAP agenda for 
Asia.

SPecIAL PROGRAM FOR AGRIcuLtuRAL 
PRODuctIvIty eNHANceMeNt IN ASIAN 
LeASt DeveLOPeD cOuNtRIeS

the Special Program APe-lDc was launched in 2004 
with a special cash grant from the MAff of japan. 
the agriculture and food manufacturing industry 
in APO member countries plays a significant role in 
national economies by contributing to income and 
employment generation in rural areas. the sound 
development of these sectors is indispensable for 
poverty reduction and better management of re-
sources. However, the development gap has been 
widening among APO member countries. the situ-
ation is the most serious in the lDcs. Based on this 
recognition, the project targeted cambodia and lao 
PDR to enhance the productivity, safety, and quality 
of agriculture and the food-processing industry so 
that the goals of poverty reduction and sustainable 
development can be achieved. 

the following projects were held under APe-lDc 
in 2010. Since APe-lDc was scheduled to cease its 
five-year span by the end of March 2010, all projects 
finished in March 2010 except for an evaluation 
mission and evaluation report assessing the impact 
of all projects conducted under the program. 

(1) Demonstration company Project on Good 
Manufacturing Practices in cambodia (Phase I) 
the national project to establish and disseminate 
gMP in the cambodian food-processing industry 
started in November 2009 and ended in November 
2010. the project was divided into two terms: phase 
I from November 2009 to March 2010; and phase II 
from April 2010 to November 2010. from january 
to March 2010, when the APe-lDc came to its end, 
an APO expert visited and provided guidance to 
four demonstration companies, 11–19 january. 
On 12 january, a training course on gMP was held 

for representatives of the four demonstration 
companies. this gMP project continued after April 
2010 under a new program funded by the japanese 
MAff. 

(2) Demonstration company Project on 5S and 
kaizen in Local Areas in cambodia: Phase I
the national project to establish and disseminate 
5S and kaizen in local areas in cambodia started in 
November 2009 and finished in October 2010. from 
November 2009 to March 2010, phase I projects were 
implemented in two demonstration companies in 
both the Kampong cham and takeo regions. the 
APO expert visited each region and gave local food-
processing companies basic advice on undertaking 
5S and kaizen in 2009. follow-up visits were also 
made by NPcc staff with local Ministry of Industry, 
Mines and energy staff in the intervals between the 
APO expert visits. 

Demonstration company Project on 5S/Kaizen in cambodia  Photo 
courtesy of yong Kok Seng

(3) evaluation Mission to cambodia and Lao PDR
As a concluding project, an evaluation mission 
headed by Professor yoshiaki Nishikawa, from the 
Nagoya university graduate School of International 
Development, visited cambodia and lao PDR, 
15–19 february, to interview the staff of the NPO 
and demonstration companies on the impacts 
of the projects. After this mission, two additional 
missions were sent to supplement the first, 15–19 
March and 21–22 june. the outcome of these series 
of evaluation missions was compiled in the final 
evaluation report issued by Professor Nishikawa in 
September 2010. 
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(4) Workshop on the Achievements under the 
APe-LDc Special Program
Many projects, seminars, training courses, and 
demonstration company projects were held under 
APe-lDc during the past five years. upon the 
completion of the program, a workshop was held, 
24–26 March, in tokyo to review the achievements of 
the projects and identify the challenges that should 
be addressed in the future. Delegations of NPO 
staff from cambodia and lao PDR, representatives 
of demonstration companies, and three experts 
were invited to exchange their opinions on project 
achievements and impact. A field visit was also 
conducted to a food manufacturing factory of 
Ajinomoto co., ltd.

AgriCulture seCtOr

(5) National Seminar on the Promotion of the 
One village, One Product Movement in Lao PDR
the government of lao PDR believes that the 
OvOP (called One District, One Product, [ODOP]) 
movement is a key element to stimulate income-
generating activities for the poor in rural areas 
and contribute to sustainable development. to  
intensify ODOP activity nationwide, there is a need 
to disseminate information to the provincial and 
grassroots levels so that people have a good under-
standing of the movement and acquire the neces-
sary knowledge and tools to start enterprises in line 
with ODOP. the APO supported a national seminar 
on the Promotion of the OvOP Movement, 29–31 
March, in laongam district, Saravanh province,  
organized by SMePDO. the seminar was attended 
by 43 participants and two APO experts.   
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As they are in different stages of development, have 
different economic structures, and their productivity 
movements vary in maturity, APO member countries 
have markedly different needs in certain fields. 
Individual-country programs are therefore offered 
to meet those needs that cannot be met completely 
by multicountry projects.

INDIvIDuAL-cOuNtRy OBSeRvAtIONAL 
StuDy MISSIONS

the Individual OSM (I-OSM) Program allows one 
member country to send a mission to another 
or others to examine firsthand a specific area of 
interest. those observations are then applied in 
the mission members’ home country to increase 
productivity. the I-OSM Program aims at enhancing 
the capabilities of NPOs and member countries in 
their pursuit of productivity improvement. 

technical expert services
44 experts assigned 

6 ROc

5 thailand 

4 each for fiji, Indonesia, IR Iran, Pakistan, 
Singapore

3 Sri lanka

2 each for japan, Malaysia, Philippines

1 each for Bangladesh, cambodia, lao PDR, 
vietnam

In 2010, six I-OSMs were organized in cooperation 
with the host NPOs. these included IR Iran to the 
Republic of china on cost management, IR Iran to 
Malaysia on kaizen implementation in service indus-
tries, Indonesia to India on improving organizational 
productivity through knowledge management, the 

Philippines to Malaysia on regional development 
councils, the Republic of Korea to japan on innova-
tive industrial educational programs, and Indonesia 
to the Philippines on entrepreneurship develop-
ment programs to reduce unemployment and im-
prove social welfare. 

tecHNIcAL exPeRt SeRvIceS

under the teS Program, applications are made by 
member countries for the Secretariat to assign one 
or more experts in a specific field to conduct train-
ing, undertake consultancy services, or support the 
NPO. teS covers the industry, service, and agricul-
ture sectors and may involve community-building 
efforts. experts from among the APO member-
ship or outside the Asia-Pacific region are normally  
assigned for one to two weeks. the main objectives 
of the teS Program are to develop trainers and con-
sultants of NPOs as well as selected organizations 
and to provide them with consultancy service to 
solve productivity-related issues.

In 2010, 44 experts were deputed to conduct 42 
projects under teS. the member economy that 
benefited the most was the Republic of china with 
six, followed by thailand with five; fiji, Indonesia, IR 
Iran, Pakistan, and Singapore with four each; Sri lanka 
with three; japan, Malaysia, and the Philippines with 
two each; and Bangladesh, cambodia, lao PDR, 
and vietnam with one each. Seventeen experts 
came from japan, while eight were from the uSA, 
six from Malaysia, three from Singapore and the uK, 
and one each from Australia, germany, India, the 
Netherlands, New zealand, the Republic of Korea, 
and Switzerland. Some of the subject areas for 
which expert services were requested were fSMS, 
development of the OvOP movement, and KM. 

inDiViDuAl-COuntry PrOgrAms
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individual-country Observational study missions 
6 IOSMs organized with host NPOs

IR Iran to ROc cost management

IR Iran to Malaysia Kaizen implementation in 
service industries

Indonesia to India Improving organizational 
productivity through 
knowledge management

Philippines to 
Malaysia

Regional development 
councils

ROK to japan Innovative industrial 
educational programs

Indonesia to 
Philippines

entrepreneurship 
development programs

DeveLOPMeNt OF DeMONStRAtION 
cOMPANIeS

the mission of an APO Productivity Demonstra-
tion company is to convey success stories on the 
development and implementation of productivity  
improvement initiatives undertaken by all stake-
holders. An APO Productivity Demonstration  
company should epitomize an enterprise-wide  
productivity movement that achieves business ex-
pansion, increases profits and customer satisfaction, 
reduces waste, enables energy saving, and leads to 
fair, equitable, mutually satisfying productivity gain-
sharing for both management and workers. 

Member countries can receive assistance in estab-
lishing model productivity improvement projects in 
factories, companies, or other organizations. Several 
model enterprises are selected annually to receive 
management advice from APO experts who visit 
several times or stay for a longer duration if they 
are APO/united Nations volunteer experts. the re-
sults are then disseminated as widely as possible in  

follow-up national seminars and through manuals 
and DvDs to inspire others.

Keeping the focus on public-sector productiv-
ity in 2010, a demonstration company project on 
productivity improvement in food processing of a 
public-sector company, the Sikkim cooperative Milk  
Producers union ltd., India, was taken up in asso-
ciation with the National Productivity council. the 
project focused on improvement in productivity by  
adoption of productivity tools and techniques in gen-
eral and also aimed at the development of a quality 
and fSMS specifically. the project, which is ongoing, is  
expected to generate a success story on public- 
sector productivity improvement, which will be 
widely shared with other member countries.

BILAteRAL cOOPeRAtION BetWeeN NPOS

the BcBN Program facilitates the dispatch of those 
involved in the productivity movement from and 
NPO or similar organizations in a member country to 
another member country. this is a model example 
of mutual support and cooperation for productivity 
improvement among APO member countries. BcBN 
also sponsors the visits of high-level officials, poli-
cymakers, and opinion leaders from one member 
country to another to observe and study firsthand 
proven productivity policies and programs.

the APO sponsored eight BcBN projects in 2010 
involving 41 participants from eight member coun-
tries. the participating countries were Bangladesh, 
India, Indonesia, japan, the Republic of Korea,  
Singapore, thailand, and vietnam. the hosts 
were cambodia (one), the Republic of china 
(one), Indonesia (one), japan (two), the Republic 
of Korea, (three), lao PDR (one), Philippines (one),  
Singapore (one), and thailand (one). 

inDiViDuAl-COuntry PrOgrAms
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eVAluAtOn Of APO PrOjeCts

In continuing efforts to improve its project planning 
and implementation, the APO actively seeks feed-
back from the people and organizations associated 
with its projects. this feedback takes the form of 
evaluations, which are carried out by various stake-
holders according to the type of activity. for multi-
country (category A and B) projects, the feedback 
comes mostly from participants, resource speakers, 
and implementing organizations. However, in the 
case of individual-country projects, the participants 
and member countries conduct the evaluation. In 
2007, the APO began an online survey to evaluate 
the impact of training courses to determine their 
effectiveness and gauge the extent to which par-
ticipants utilized the knowledge and skills acquired. 
Since 2009, along with the online survey, a new 
form of impact evaluation has also been undertak-
en by an independent third party utilizing improved  
evaluation methodology. 

ONSIte evALuAtION

In 2010, the APO conducted evaluations of 58 mul-
ticountry projects implemented in 2009 with 1,157 
participants. (the number of participants reflects 
the number of those who gave feedback through 
the end-of-project questionnaires, but does not 
represent the total number of participants attend-
ing APO projects during the period in review.) those 
58 projects comprised 14 training courses, 14 work-
shops, 15 observational study missions, eight study 
meetings, three missions to nonmember countries, 
two seminars, one conference, and one forum.  
Participants’ feedback on project implementation 
indicated a 99% rate of overall satisfaction. the 
percentage breakdown was: Program contents, 
96%; Physical Arrangements, 96%; Resource Speak-
ers, 96%; Program Schedule, 97%; and Methodol-

ogy used, 97%. However, observational/field visits  
received a comparatively low evaluation of 90%. 

with regard to improvement, there is a need to pay 
greater attention to field/company visits, which 
received the lowest satisfaction level, with 10% re-
sponding “less than expected.” there were also  
suggestions to extend the duration of some proj-
ects that include in-plant practice.

Individual-country (category c) projects including 
I-OSMs, teS, McSP, Demonstration Projects (DMP), 
BcBN, and In-country training Programs were also 
evaluated. In 2009, 74 experts were assigned for 
category c projects benefitting 6,933 participants, 
and two demonstration companies received human 
resources development and capacity-building assis-
tance for productivity enhancement. 

the evaluation reports for category c projects in-
dicated that these projects were viewed as signifi-
cant by member countries, as they addressed spe-
cific needs. there is scope for improvement with 
regard to ensuring the appropriateness and subject  
relevance of I-OSM and teS project requests, timely 
submission of evaluation reports by member coun-
tries, dissemination and replication of achievements 
of model companies under DMP, and alignment of 
these projects to strengthen NPOs and other stake-
holders as much as possible.

IMPAct evALuAtION 

the 2010 impact evaluation aimed to assess the ef-
fects of APO multicountry projects with training 
components such as training courses, seminars, 
and multicountry observational study missions, as 
well as e-learning courses completed in 2009 and 
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individual-country projects such as DMP and teS 
projects implemented in 2008–2009, particularly 
how they benefitted the participants and organiza-
tions in member countries. the evaluation was done 
through a survey questionnaire, field visits, and 
face-to-face interviews with participants and their 
supervisors, NPO heads, and NPO officers involved. 
the external expert was Dr. Serafin talisayon, Profes-
sor, technology Management center, university of 
the Philippines. He was assisted by NPOs onsite and 
a Secretariat officer. 

the findings of the evaluation showed that APO 
projects had positive impacts at the individual,  
organizational, and industry levels, although to 
varying extents. the impacts of APO e-learning and 
multicountry projects on participants (individual 
level) were clear and immediate, while impacts on 
participants’ work colleagues and on their organi-
zations were observable but comparatively lower. 
Overall, participants in both e-learning and multi-
country projects were similar in their preference for 
practical exercises, real-world examples and case 
studies, and site visits. the tangible and intangible 
impacts of APO DMPs on recipient organizations 

were generally visible and often measurable, 
but the spread of benefits to other organizations  
occurred in a varying or mixed fashion. 

Based on the findings, it was recommended 
that the APO improve the planning, design, 
and implementation of its projects. Specific 
recommendations were: 1) Shift toward demand-
driven project identification. 2) establish a web-
based databank of resource persons. 3) Introduce 
an e-learning phase prior to DPP: Basic, DPP: 
Advanced, and gP courses. d) Orient APO training 
courses more toward workplace practice through 
the planning and execution of reentry projects. 5) 
facilitate bilateral/multilateral sharing of mature 
productivity and quality technologies. 6) Organize 
demonstration projects with industry associations 
and SMe agencies. 7) Set up and support knowledge 
networking among government policy, standard, or 
regulatory agencies relevant to productivity and 
quality. 8) Develop productivity and quality tools 
for the service sector, including service innovation. 
Many participants and resource persons emphasized 
the need for effective follow-up and monitoring of 
APO projects.

eVAluAtiOn Of APO PrOjeCts
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yutapond Siriwikul, thailand, Silver Prize

Ngo Duc can, vietnam, Silver Prize

Nguyen tran Hung, vietnam, Bronze Prize

Osamu takeda, japan, Bronze Prize

Pongnathee Pookung, thailand, Bronze Prize

Dang thi Huong Hoa, vietnam, gold Prize

APO PRODuctIvIty 
PHOtO cONteSt 2010
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the APO Information Program is conducted to: 
1) promote the mission of the APO and broaden 
the scope of its cooperation with organizations 
both within and outside the APO membership; 2) 
disseminate information helpful to productivity 
promotion and improvement; and 3) manage and 
intensify the application of It within the Secretariat, 
in course administration, and in training delivery. 
the modalities used to accomplish these objectives 
are publications; multimedia, especially It; seminars 
and workshops; and promotional activities.

PuBLIcAtIONS

the APO has a modest publishing program divided 
into three types: Report format titles, Special Pub-
lications, and general Publications. Since 2003, the 
APO has been producing electronic editions, in PDf, 
of the report format titles and special publications, 
which are uploaded on the APO website or distrib-
uted in cD format upon request.

1. Report Format titles
the Report format titles are reports of proceedings 
of selected basic research projects, study meetings, 
and seminars. In 2010, Environmental Management 
for SustainabWle Productivity Enhancement was 
published.

2. Special Publications
Special publications are published by the APO to 
cater to specific purposes such as to assist NPOs and 
consultants in their training efforts or are related 
to special events organized by the APO. In 2010, 
eight titles were published, two of which were in 
japanese:

APO infOrmAtiOn PrOgrAm

English editions (six):
•	 APO	Productivity	Databook	2010
•	 Eco-products	Directory	2010	
•	 Knowledge	Management	Tools	and	Techniques	

Manual
•	 Organic	Agriculture	and	Agribusiness:	Innovations	

and Fundamentals
•	 Practical	Knowledge	Management	Guide	for	SME	

Owners and Managers
•	 Training	Manual	on	Energy	Efficiency	for	Small	and	

Medium Enterprises

Japanese editions (two):
•	 Eco-products Directory 2010 
•	 Knowledge Management: Case Studies for Small and 

Medium Enterprises 

3. General Publications
the APO publishes a monthly newsletter in english, 
the APO News, with about 3,000 copies distributed 
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worldwide. It features reports on completed APO 
activities, synopses of productivity issues, regular 
columns by international productivity experts, and 
coverage of NPO activities and other special events. 
the newsletter is distributed to NPOs, APO alumni 
and project participants, other international orga-
nizations, government agencies, NgOs, educational 
institutions, and individual subscribers. 

MuLtIMeDIA
 
with the growing impact of It on knowledge 
sharing and dissemination, the APO is committed to 
optimizing the use of It for furthering the cause of 
the productivity movement in Asia and the Pacific. 
the It Program of the Secretariat currently has three 
components: the APO website, APOnet, and APO 
e-learning activities. 

APO Website 

the APO maintains a website at http://www.
apo-tokyo.org. the site provides comprehensive  
information on the APO and its activities, important 
statements of the Secretary-general, project notifi-
cations, e-editions of APO publications, current and 
past issues of the APO News, press releases and other 
special announcements, and linkages to the web-
sites of NPOs and organizations related to the APO. 
the website has a japanese section, which contains 

translations of selected information and publica-
tions in japanese editions. In the long term, the APO 
website is envisioned to become a major Internet 
portal on knowledge, news, and information related 
to productivity. Apart from information dissemina-
tion, the site is also increasingly being used by the 
APO Secretariat for communicating with its part-
ners, NPOs, and project participants, as well as for 
implementing web-based learning courses. 

APOnet

the APOnet, which is a portal within the APO web-
site, is an Internet-based file-sharing space used by 
the APO as part of the overall program and project 
implementation system. By providing a fast, effi-
cient platform for the exchange of information, it 
facilitates project preparation, project implemen-
tation, and communication among the APO Secre-
tariat, NPOs, resource persons, and participants. It 
also provides an entry point for project experts and 
resource persons to share their training materials 
with participants. In 2009, the APOnet underwent 
major improvements, resulting in improved stabil-
ity and usability. In 2010, the APOnet capability was 
expanded with the addition of a facility for sending 
and receiving large-sized files, which cannot be ex-
changed through regular e-mail. Overall, communi-
cations between the APO Secretariat and member 
economies in relation to project implementation 
have been strengthened as a result of the APOnet’s 
practical features. 

the APOnet has a project database containing 
resource documents, which can be readily accessed 
and downloaded by NPOs and project participants. 
this database is linked to the APO project 
management system, a data storage system on APO 
projects, experts, and participants. In 2010, the APO 
replaced the project management system, resulting 
in an easier data entry process, improved generation 
of relevant reports and letters, and a better search 
feature. the APO plans to enhance the system by 
including a participant registration, application, and 
acceptance feature in the workflow.
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APO e-Learning Activities 

In 2004, the APO began inte-
grating e-learning sessions in its 
regular APO projects to reach a 
large pool of productivity prac-
titioners in a cost-effective man-

ner. the APO has expanded its efforts to utilize this 
new method since then, and starting from 2007,  
emphasis on e-learning has been intensified. In gen-
eral, the APO organizes e-learning projects on two 
platforms: the APO e-learning Portal; and videocon-
ferencing using the facilities of other organizations, 
e.g., world Bank, jIcA-Net, and universities in  
member countries. 

aPo e-learning Portal
the APO set up an e-learning Portal (http://www 
.apo-elearning.org/moodle19/) on its website to 
host a variety of e-learning projects, including 
web (Internet)-based courses and self-learning 
e-courses. the web-based courses require registered 
participants to log onto online sessions. those taking 
self-learning e-courses can simply go to the website 
and enroll directly or though their NPOs. the web-
based courses can accommodate 40 to 50 online 
students at any time. with increased interest in the 
courses, in july 2009, the APO carried out a system 
migration to a new server for improved services to 
users. In 2010, the Secretariat also initiated intensive 
discussions to evolve more structured self-learning 
e-courses including monitoring of participants, 
examination, and certification. the first such course 
is likely to be launched in 2011.

e-learning web portal

videoconferencing-based courses
In addition to utilizing its own e-learning Portal, 
the APO collaborates with other organizations 
that have videoconferencing facilities. the APO is 
collaborating with the tokyo Development learning 
center (tDlc) of the world Bank (wB), members 
of the jIcA-Net, etc. to deliver e-learning courses 
utilizing their distance-learning/videoconferencing 
facilities. the APO also collaborates with academic/
training institutes that develop and provide 
e-learning courses. eleven APO member countries 
have world Bank centers. By combining the use 
of those facilities with gDlN members, jIcA-Net, 
and other hosting centers, the majority of member 
countries can be linked in a virtual network. In 2010, 
the APO organized six videoconference-based 
e-learning activities.

videoconferencing-based course at the wB tDlc

APO HONORARy FeLLOWS

In 2010, three persons received the title of APO 
Honorary fellow in recognition of their contributions 
to the work of the organization. the APO Honorary 
fellow Award is conferred by the APO governing 
Body on an APO director, alternate director, NPO 
head, secretary-general, or liaison officer upon 
departure from his/her post in recognition of 
contributions to the APO by attending either the 
gBM or wSM five times or more to recognize 
outstanding efforts. the three 2010 fellows were:
 
•	 Former	APO	Director	and	NPO	Head	for	IR	Iran	

Mohsen Haji Mirazei (September 2006–july 
2010);

•	 Former	APO	Secretary-General	Shigeo	Takenaka	
(September 2004–September 2010); and
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•	 Former	APO	Liaison	Officer	for	Singapore	Wong	
wai Meng (April 2002–March 2010).

PuBLIc PROMOtIONAL ActIvItIeS

Participation in the Global festa 
Since 1998, the APO has been participating in the ja-
pan International cooperation festival, which is held 
annually at tokyo’s Hibiya Park. In 2006, this festival 
was renamed the global festa. each year, the APO 
booth showcases information on its activities and 
services to create awareness among the japanese 
public and other stakeholders. Other booths were 
set up by more than 200 other international organi-
zations, governmental agencies, and NgOs. In 2010, 
the global festa was held 2–3 October. In addition 
to displaying APO information, samples of publica-
tions were also available to the public. A game invit-
ing visitors to correctly identify the capital cities and 
locations of APO members, with prizes of unique 
products from the APO membership, became a ma-
jor attraction at the event. 

global festa japan 2010

organization of the eco-products fair 2010 in 
Jakarta, indonesia
the APO has been organizing the ePIf since 2004, 
and the 2010 fair was held in jakarta, 4–7 March. 
(Details of the EPIF 2010 are reported on page 36.) As 
one of the organizers of this mega project, which 
attracted more than 90,000 visitors over four days, 
the APO explained its mission, thrust areas, and major 
activities at its booth to increase its visibility and 
publicize the objectives of the ePIf. that information 
was disseminated among a wide range of visitors 

representing university students, business leaders, 
and government officials including Indonesian 
Minister of Industry Mohamad S. Hidayat.

APO booth at the ePIf 2010

Participation in the eco-Products exhibition 2010 
in tokyo, Japan
Since 2008, the APO has been participating in the 
annual eco-Products exhibition, one of the largest 
environmental exhibitions in Asia showcasing the 
latest environmental technologies and solutions, at 
tokyo Big Sight. the 12th eco-Products 2010, 9–11 
December, had the theme “green × clean Revo-
lution! expand the power to connect lives to the 
world” and was organized by the japan environmen-
tal Management Association for Industry and Nikkei 
Inc. with around 750 exhibitors, including the APO. 
visitors to the event totaled 183,140. the two main 
objectives of APO participation in this exhibition 
are: increasing the visibility of APO and its activities 
in general; and promoting gP-related projects, such 
as the ePIf 2011 and Eco-products Directory. the APO 

Mr. teisuke Kitayama, chairperson of the green Productivity Advisory 
committee, with Secretary-general R. yamazaki at the APO booth 
during the eco-Products exhibition 2010
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booth received numerous visitors from all walks of 
life, including former Prime Minister of japan yukio 
Hatoyama.

Productivity Promotion Materials
In an effort to promote the productivity concept, 
the APO produces a wide range of promotional 
materials and distributes them to NPOs so that 
the message can be conveyed to all APO member 
countries. In 2010, the APO produced a calendar 
featuring winning photos from the 2010 Photo  
contest. these items were distributed to NPOs, 
other international organizations, educational insti-
tutions, NgOs, and government agencies, and used 
for promotional purposes at meetings, exhibitions, 
and other events. 

internship at the aPo Secretariat
the APO accepted Mr. A.N.M. Moinul Kabir, a 
Bangladeshi student in the fASID/gRIPS joint 
graduate Program on International Development 
Studies of the foundation for Advanced Studies 
on International Development, tokyo, as an intern 
from 1 October 2010 for five months. During 
his internship, Mr. Kabir was involved in various  

APO projects on productivity and development 
which helped him grasp the basics of the  
productivity movement in APO member countries 
and enhanced his understanding of productivity 
parameters. 

APO PRODuctIvIty PHOtO cONteSt 2010

A photo contest with the theme “Productivity and 
Innovation” was organized in 2010 to encourage 
people to view the world around them with an 
appreciation for efforts to enhance productivity. the 
contest was open to all nationals of APO member 
countries, and more than 800 photos were received 
from 16 member countries. the 11 winners were 
decided by a panel of four judges on 15 August. the 
panel comprised two photography experts, chikako 
yatabe and Seiji Nomura; Minister/Deputy chief of 
Mission Singtong lapisatepun of the embassy of 
thailand; and APO Secretary-general Ryuichiro 
yamazaki. the winning entries were featured in 
the APO calendar for 2011 as well as on the APO 
website. they will also be used in APO promotional 
activities. cash prizes and certificates were awarded 
to 10 photographers from five countries. the gold 
prize was awarded to Ms. Dang thi Huong Hoa of 
vietnam. 

APO infOrmAtiOn PrOgrAm
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Arun Mondhe, India, Merit  Prize

gregorio B. Dantes jr., Philippines, Merit  Prize

Arun Mondhe, India, Merit  Prize

Subodh Natu, India, Merit  Prize

Nguyen Ngoc Hai, vietnam, Merit  Prize

APO PRODuctIvIty 
PHOtO cONteSt 2010
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In an increasingly interconnected world, the APO 
recognizes the importance of maintaining ties with 
other international organizations, national agencies, 
and other bodies within and outside the Asia-Pacific 
region. Its International cooperation Program allows 
the APO to broaden the knowledge/resource base 
on topics important to member countries through 
information exchanges, international conferences, 
and study missions to observe recent advances or 
established best practices in non-APO countries. 
Member countries therefore have opportunities to 
establish bilateral business ties and networks with 
counterparts outside the region. the International 
cooperation Program also contributes to expanding 
the pool of experts for the teS Program and other 
APO projects. the APO as a whole, its member 
countries, and its partners in cooperation all derive 
benefits from the synergy thus created while 
avoiding the duplication of efforts.

JOINt PROJectS

the APO collaborated with Kyushu university Asia 
center, State of Hawaii Department of Business, 
economic Development and tourism, government 
of Ontario, foundation for Malcolm Baldrige National 
Quality Award, Inc., tokyo Development learning 
center (tDlc), and colombo Plan Secretariat (cPS). 

the project jointly organized with the Kyushu uni-
versity Asia center was the workshop for Research 
on Agricultural Policies in Asia. the APO study  
mission to a Nonmember country: ecotourism in 
Hawaii was jointly organized by the State of Hawaii 
Department of Business, economic Development 
and tourism. A study mission on Public-sector Inno-
vation to canada was carried out with support from 
the government of Ontario, and a quality and inno-
vation study mission to the uSA was implemented 

internAtiOnAl COOPerAtiOn

with the help of the foundation for Malcolm Bald-
rige National Quality Award Inc. Six e-learning cours-
es were organized in cooperation with the tDlc. 
the workshop on Approaches and tools for Im-
proving the Performance of Agribusiness SMes and 
training course on Providing Advisory and training  
Services to women on the Management of Micro- 
and Small-scale Agrofood-processing enterprises 
were cosponsored by the cPS.

Research on Agricultural Policies in Asia

AFRIcAN PROGRAM

the APO’s African Program had two projects, the 
Basic training course for Productivity Practitioners 
(BcPP) and Advanced training course for Productiv-
ity Practitioners (AcPP) in 2010.

advanced training course for Productivity 
Practitioners 

the aim of the AcPP is to upgrade the skills and 
capability of NPO staff in Pan African Productivity 
Association (PAPA) member countries. Participants 
are not only exposed to basic and advanced pro-
ductivity improvement tools and techniques but 
also to the collective experiences of the produc-
tivity movement in APO member countries. Since 
2007, three basic and one advanced courses have 
been implemented and more than 110 participants 

internatiOnal cOOPeratiOn
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from six PAPA member countries have benefited. to 
continue efforts to transfer knowledge and expe-
rience to Africa and to develop the NPOs of PAPA 
member countries, the APO implemented the sec-
ond series of advanced courses for productivity 
practitioners. whereas the basic course provides the 
foundation, the advanced course seeks to widen the  
perspective and deepen the know-how and tech-
nical competency of productivity practitioners by  
exposing them to relatively advanced tools and 
techniques for carrying out productivity improve-
ment at the organizational and industry levels. 

Advanced course for Productivity Practitioners

Since it is clear that more productivity practitioners 
are needed to sustain the national momentum, PAPA 
NPOs have strongly requested that APO training 
courses continue. therefore, in association with PAPA 
and Productivity South Africa, the APO organized 
the second series of the AcPP, 25 january–12 
february, in johannesburg, South Africa, funded 
by a special cash grant from the government of  
japan to promote the productivity movement in  
Africa. 

the main objective was to develop productivity 
practitioners in the NPOs of PAPA member 
countries and provide them with in-depth 
knowledge of productivity and quality (P&Q) 
tools and methodology. Additionally, the course 
aimed to equip participants with advanced tools 
and techniques for promoting and conducting 
productivity improvement activities, thereby 
strengthening the technical competency and 
institutional capacity of those NPOs. After course 
completion, participants had in-depth knowledge 
of advanced P&Q tools and techniques; could 
design P&Q training programs; were able to train, 
coach, and mentor junior productivity practitioners; 

could conduct P&Q workshops for senior executives 
and managers; and had the skills to communicate 
effectively with all levels in organizations and 
industries. this program was also part of the 
development of NPOs in PAPA member countries. 
A total of 29 participants from six PAPA member 
countries attended the 2010 course, and three 
resource persons from member countries were 
assigned by the APO. 

Program coverage: Business excellence; Qual-
ity management systems; Advanced operation sys-
tems; corporate development; and Application of 
learning. the participants visited Productivity SA to 
study the role of the NPO in disseminating and pro-
moting productivity at national level. for in-plant 
diagnosis activity where participants practiced 
the techniques learned in the course, the two host 
companies were Reakgona commercial & Industrial 
Hygiene Pty ltd, a company specializing in hygiene 
and cleaning services; and Bay Precision & Mining 
(Pty) ltd, an engineering company involved in met-
al stamping and the manufacture of mining equip-
ment in South Africa. 

Basic training course for Productivity Practitioners

basic training course for Productivity 
Practitioners 

P&Q improvement has assumed a new sense of 
urgency in the context of globalization and extensive 
competition. the pursuit of higher productivity 
requires a cadre of productivity practitioners fully 
equipped with the skills and knowledge to identify 
productivity problems and develop and implement 
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productivity improvement plans. Productivity 
practitioners should act as champions of P&Q within 
organizations and industries. 

Since 2006, approximately 150 staff of the current 
six PAPA NPOs have been trained in APO courses 
for productivity practitioners. they involved skill 
development and the transfer of know-how and 
experience to African productivity professionals and 
practitioners through intensive basic and advanced 
training courses. therefore, in association with PAPA 
and Productivity South Africa, the APO organized 
the fourth series of the Basic course on Productivity 
Practitioners in 2010, 1–26 November, funded by 
a special cash grant from the government of the 
Republic of china to promote the productivity 
movement in Africa. In 2010, the APO expanded the 
productivity movement beyond PAPA membership 
and with the attendance by 16 participants from the 
five PAPA members Botswana, Kenya, Nigeria, South 
Africa, and zambia and from Burkina faso, Republic 
of the gambia, and Kingdom of Swaziland. the 
main objective was to develop the competencies of 
participants in the promotion and application of basic 
P&Q techniques in organizations and industries. the 
APO assigned three resource persons from member 
countries, two from Singapore and one from  
Malaysia.

Program coverage: P&Q improvement techniques; 
Business organization and productivity; Organiza-
tional culture and development; Process skills; and 
Application of learning. the participants visited Pro-
ductivity SA to study the role of the NPO in dissemi-
nating and promoting productivity at national level. 
for in-plant diagnosis activity where participants 
practiced the techniques learned in the course, they 
visited Minova RSA, a mining company located in 
Isando, South Africa. 

MeetINGS AtteNDeD 

•	 Agriculture	 Department	 Director	 Joselito	 Cruz	
Bernardo attended the meeting on Interna-
tional women’s Day 2010 uN Open Symposium,  
tokyo, japan.

•	 Secretary-General	Shigeo	Takenaka	took	part	in	
the International Symposium on ways to cope 
with global warming and cO2 emission, tokyo, 
japan. 

•	 Agriculture	 Department	 Director	 Joselito	 Cruz	
Bernardo, Agriculture Senior Program Officer 
Dr. Muhammad Saeed, and Agriculture Program 
Officer yoshihide endo participated in the Sym-
posium on Promotion of Poverty Reduction/Ag-
ricultural Investment, tokyo, japan. 

•	 Industry	 Department	 Director	 Setsuko	 Mi-
yakawa attended the forum for east Asia-latin 
America cooperation Preparatory Meeting for 
the High-level Meeting on environmental Busi-
ness, tokyo, japan. 

•	 Research	and	Planning	Program	Officer	Masaya	
Amau took part in the OecD conference on 
the Southeast Asian economic Outlook, tokyo,  
japan.

SeRvIceS OF exPeRtS ReceIveD 

In 2010, the services of two experts were received 
from the following organizations: one each from the 
OecD and uN fAO.

GueSt OBSeRveRS IN APO MeetINGS 

the 52nd Session of the governing Body was hon-
ored by observers representing the cPS, PAPA, 
Productivity centre of Kenya, National Productiv-
ity centre of Nigeria, National Productivity centre 
of turkey, and turkey-based organizer of the 16th 
world Productivity congress. 

the 51st wSM was attended by observers represent-
ing the fAO, PAPA, uNctAD, and uNeScAP.

MISSIONS ReceIveD

•	 Delegation	from	South	America:	Participants	in	
the jIcA training course on Practical Production 
Management (theory & Practice on Productiv-
ity Improvement for South America), on 5 feb-
ruary 2010.
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•	 Delegation	 from	 Ethiopia:	 Team	 Leader	 of	 the	
Kaizen unit getahun tadesse through the jIcA 
training course on Quality and Productivity Im-
provement (Kaizen), 20 April 2010.

•	 Delegation	 from	 Turkey:	 National	 Productivity	
centre of turkey (MPM) Secretary general Kerim 
unal, MPM Board vice chairman Dr. Mehmet 
eroglu, and coordinator of the 16th world Pro-
ductivity congress Rasim yilmaz on 26 April 
2010.

•	 Delegation	 from	 Vietnam:	 Vietnamese	 Del-
egates from the Ministry of commerce and In-
dustry, led by former Minister of trade Adviser 
trurong Dinh tuyen, on 5 july 2010.

•	 Delegation	 from	African	countries:	Participants	
in the jPc training course on Kaizen for Quality 
Improvement for Management consultants in 

internAtiOnAl COOPerAtiOn

the Africa Productivity Improvement Project on 
10 November 2010.

PROJect PARtIcIPANtS FROM NONMeMBeR 
cOuNtRIeS 

Depending on the relevancy of topics, the APO 
invites participants from countries in Asia and the 
Pacific which are not yet APO members to attend 
selected projects. from 2006, invitations were also 
extended to African countries under the African 
Program. fifty-five participants and observers from 
the following 10 countries attended three APO 
projects in 2010: Botswana, Burkina faso, gambia, 
Kenya, Mauritius, Myanmar, Nigeria, South Africa, 
Swaziland, and zambia.

Delegation from vietnam

Delegation from South America
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(uS dollars)

2010 2009

ASSetS

cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $6,920,150 $8,944,226 

Receivables (Note 4):

 Member countries 2,398,926 1,124,211 

   Others 15,310 28,600 

   Allowance for long outstanding debts (431,110) (555,955)

Prepaid expenses 800,679 809,574 

Deposits and other advance payments 42,958 8,668 

fund for severance payments (Note 7) 3,368,510 3,228,608 

 total assets $13,115,423 $13,587,932 

LIABILItIeS AND SuRPLuS

Accounts payable $869,440 $1,169,611 

withholding tax and social insurance 51,511 125,939 

Other current liabilities 285,293 56,965 

Accrued annual leave 533,430 603,146 

liability for severance payments (Note 8) 3,008,937 3,096,081 

 total liabilities 4,748,611 5,051,742 

Surplus:

  Appropriated for

        working capital fund 6,000,000 6,000,000 

        continuing projects 1,668,109 1,662,579 

  unappropriated surplus 698,703 873,611 
    total surplus 8,366,812 8,536,190 

  total liabilities and surplus $13,115,423 $13,587,932 

AsiAn PrODuCtiVity OrgAniZAtiOn
stAtements of finAnciAl Position
31 December 2010 AnD 2009
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AsiAn PrODuCtiVity OrgAniZAtiOn
stAtements of revenues AnD exPenses
yeArs enDeD 31 December 2010 AnD 2009

(uS dollars)

2010 2009

Revenues:

  Membership contributions $11,986,035 $11,986,035 

  Special cash grants (Note 5) 1,244,657 1,403,498 

  Project implementation grants (Note 10) 1,819,908 2,019,827 

  Participation by member countries 6,138 5,792 

  Miscellaneous 37,067 51,194 

                    total revenues 15,093,805 15,466,346 

expenses:

  Projects

    current year’s project costs:

      APO share 5,263,706 5,603,473 

      Implementation project costs (Note 10) 1,704,406 1,849,892 

                    Subtotal 6,968,112 7,453,365 

    Prior years’ continuing project costs:

      APO share 1,099,304 1,388,811 

      Implementation project costs (Note 10) 115,502 169,935 

                    Subtotal 1,214,806 1,558,746 

    Allocation to project costs from

      Administrative expenses (Note 6) 2,399,610 2,406,177 

                    total 10,582,528 11,418,288 

  Administration

    Staff expenses 6,191,564 6,346,863 

    Allocation to project costs (Note 6) (2,399,610) (2,406,177)

    Office maintenance (Note 9) 877,576 816,908 

    Operations 105,814 72,561 

    Miscellaneous 184,682 173,794 

                    total 4,960,026 5,003,949 

  exchange (gain)/loss (154,527) 291,850 

  Reversal of allowance for long outstanding debts (124,844) (138,249)

                    total (279,371) 153,601 

                    total expenses 15,263,183 16,575,838 

excess of expenses over revenues $(169,378) $(1,109,492)
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AsiAn PrODuCtiVity OrgAniZAtiOn
stAtements of chAnGes in surPlus
yeArs enDeD 31 December 2010 AnD 2009

(uS dollars)

Appropriated for

Working capital 
fund

continuing 
projects unappropriated total

2009

Surplus as of 1 january 2009 $6,000,000 $1,664,118 $1,981,564 $9,645,682 

excess of expenses over revenues (1,109,492) (1,109,492)

transfer from continuing projects (1,539) 1,539 

Surplus as of 31 December 2009 $6,000,000 $1,662,579 $873,611 $8,536,190 

2010

excess of expenses over revenues $(169,378) $(169,378)

transfer from continuing projects $5,530 (5,530)

Surplus as of 31 December 2010 $6,000,000 $1,668,109 $698,703 $8,366,812 
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AsiAn PrODuCtiVity OrgAniZAtiOn
stAtements of cAsh floWs
yeArs enDeD 31 December 2010 AnD 2009

(uS dollars)

2010 2009

Operating activities

  cash provided by:

Membership contributions $11,986,035 $11,986,035 

Special cash grants 1,244,657 1,403,498 

Project implementation grants 1,819,908 2,019,827 

Participation by member countries 6,138 5,792 

Decrease (increase) in receivables from member countries (1,274,715) 831,384 

Miscellaneous income - interest 34,871 48,817 

Miscellaneous income - others 2,196 2,377 

13,819,090 16,297,730 

  cash used in:

    Project expenses

    APO share 6,363,010 6,992,284 

    Implementation project costs 1,819,908 2,019,827 

    Allocation to project costs 2,399,610 2,406,177 

    Administrative expenses 4,960,026 5,003,949 

    exchange variance 3,567 26,413 

Decrease in prepaid expenses and other (22,185) (136,257)

Increase (decrease) in deposits and other advance payments 34,290 (91,295)

Increase (decrease) in fund for severance payments 139,902 (6,219)

Decrease in accounts payable and other 146,271 632,946 

Decrease in accrued annual leave 69,716 2,008 

Decrease (increase) in liability for severance payments 87,144 (381,135)

16,001,259 16,468,698 

Net cash used in operating activities (2,182,169) (170,968)

effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 158,093 (265,437)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,024,076) (436,405)

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,944,226 9,380,631 

cash and cash equivalents at end of year $6,920,150 $8,944,226 
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1.  ORgANIzAtION, BuSINeSS, AND SOuRce Of fuNDINg

the Asian Productivity Organization (the “Organization” or “APO”) is an intergovernmental regional organization es-
tablished in 1961 by several governments in Asia with its headquarters in tokyo, japan, and continues to operate from 
this location. the Organization is nonpolitical, nonprofit making, and nondiscriminatory.

the objective of the Organization is to increase productivity and thereby accelerate economic development in Asia 
through mutual cooperation among member countries. to fulfill its objective, the Organization institutes programs for 
the development of productivity, provides information and advice for productivity improvement, and promotes and 
disseminates modern productivity skills and techniques in the agriculture, industry, and service sectors.

the Organization membership is open to all Asian and Pacific governments that are members of the economic and 
Social commission for Asia and the Pacific of the united Nations. from 1 july 1997, the Hong Kong Productivity council 
was instructed to cease all APO activities when sovereignty was transferred to the People’s Republic of china.
 
the Organization performs activities in cooperation with national productivity organizations (NPOs) and other inter-
national organizations. NPOs in member countries that deal with productivity activities at the national level act as 
implementing agencies for the Organization’s projects and nominate participants from their countries to attend those 
projects.

the budget of the Organization is composed of the budget covering the program of action of the Organization and 
staff, administrative, and nonproject expenses. the governing Body, which is the supreme organ of the Organiza-
tion, meets once a year to decide on policy matters concerning program and budget, finances, and membership. the 
sources of revenue for the budget are:

(a)  Annual membership contributions based on gross national income/gross domestic product;
(b)  Special cash grants given by member governments and external assistance from cooperating agencies and insti-

tutions;
(c)  Project implementation grants given by member governments that host projects and other governments and 

organizations that organize projects jointly with the Organization; and
(d)  Miscellaneous income such as proceeds from interest income.

2.  SIgNIfIcANt AccOuNtINg POlIcIeS

(1) BASIS OF PRePARAtION OF AccOMPANyING FINANcIAL StAteMeNtS
the financial statements of the Organization are prepared based on the convention and the financial Regulations 
established by the APO, which is in line with International financial Reporting Standards (“IfRS”).  

(2) ALLOWANce FOR LONG-OutStANDING DeBtS
the Organization uses the “aging the accounts” method as the estimation technique of the net realizable value of re-
ceivables. Although the Organization believes that the allowance is adequate to provide for losses that are inherent in 
the year-end accounts receivable balance, actual results could differ from those estimates.

AsiAn PrODuCtiVity OrgAniZAtiOn
notes to finAnciAl stAtements
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(3) FIxeD ASSetS
fixed assets purchased by the Organization are principally automobiles, furniture, and equipment. It is a policy that 
such assets are charged to expenses when acquired. Had such assets been capitalized and had depreciation been 
provided based on their estimated useful lives, the effect on the results of operations and the financial position of the 
Organization would not be material.

(4) FuND FOR SeveRANce PAyMeNtS
the fund for severance payments consists of an insurance endowment fund and money market fund and is stated at 
fair value. the fair values of the fund for severance payments are estimated based on values quoted by financial institu-
tions.

IfRS 7 “financial Instruments–Disclosures” defines fair value and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the 
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. the three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
level 2—Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly
level 3—unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

the insurance endowment fund and money market fund held by the Organization are classified into level 2 assets.

(5) LIABILIty FOR SeveRANce PAyMeNtS
Staff members terminating their employment with the Organization are entitled, under most circumstances, to sever-
ance payments based upon the monthly basic pay at the time of termination of employment and years of service. the 
cost of the severance payments is determined using the Projected unit credit Method, with actuarial valuations being 
carried out at the end of each reporting period. Actuarial gains and losses that exceed 10% of the greater of the present 
value of the Organization’s defined benefit obligation as at the end of the prior year are amortized over the expected 
average remaining working lives of the participating staff members.

(6) AccRueD ANNuAL LeAve
Based on Rule 5.01 of APO Staff Regulation v, annual leave is accumulated up to 90 days, which does not expire until 
leaving the Organization. In 2010, the Organization recorded accrued annual leave of 74 days (71 days in 2009) for staff 
members who had annual leave of more than 74 days as a liability, since the unused accrued annual leave up to 60 days 
is paid by a sum of money equivalent to their salary for the period of the accrued annual leave upon separation from 
the Organization, and in consideration of the possible utilization of unused accrued annual leave in excess of 60 days 
upon separation.

(7) ReveNue RecOGNItION
Major sources of revenues of the Organization are membership contributions, special cash grants, and project imple-
mentation grants, among others. Membership contributions, which are approved by the governing Body, are recog-
nized as revenues on 1 january of each fiscal year. Special cash grants are recognized as revenues upon the receipt 
of actual amounts by the Organization. the Organization recognizes project implementation grants based on the 
actual amounts granted for project implementation by the hosting countries, according to the information furnished 
by them.

(8) APPROPRIAtION FOR WORkING cAPItAL FuND
Based on Regulation 7 of the financial Regulations, a working capital fund is established from which advances may be 
made to finance budgetary appropriations to the extent that this is necessary in anticipation of pledged but unpaid 
contributions.

(9) APPROPRIAtION FOR cONtINuING PROJectS
the outstanding balance of commitments for continuing projects at year-end, which has been funded mainly from 
membership contributions and special cash grants, is appropriated for continuing projects. the balance for continu-
ing projects funded from special cash grants includes unspent balances of special cash grants, which are balances 
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generated from completion of some projects prior to the year-end being reallocated for the following year’s projects 
in the same programs.

(10) tRANSLAtION OF FOReIGN cuRReNcIeS
for the purpose of the financial statements, the results and financial position of the Organization are expressed in uS 
dollars, which is the functional currency of the Organization and presentation currency for the financial statements. 
the Organization’s books of account are maintained both in japanese yen and uS dollars. Assets and liabilities denomi-
nated in japanese yen are translated into uS dollars at the appropriate rate of exchange on the statements of financial 
position date. for revenue and expense accounts, average rates for the month of the transactions are applied. Revenue 
and expense accounts of other currencies except japanese yen are translated into uS dollars at rates that approximate 
those rates prevailing at the time of the transactions. the resulting unrealized gain/loss from translation is included in 
exchange gain/loss in the statement of revenues and expenses. 

(11) tAxeS
the Organization is exempt from direct taxes on assets or income and from customs duties.

(12) uSe OF eStIMAteS
the Organization makes estimates and assumptions to prepare the financial statements. Such estimates and assump-
tions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.

3.  cASH AND cASH eQuIvAleNtS

cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments, generally with original maturities of three months or 
less, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are so near maturity that they present insignificant 
risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates. Money market funds, which are treated as cash and cash 
equivalents except for specific use of the funds for severance payments, are carried at cost plus accrued interest, which 
approximates market value.

4.  ReceIvABleS Of MeMBeRSHIP cONtRIButIONS, PARtIcIPAtINg cOuNtRy 
exPeNSeS, AND OtHeRS

the allowance for receivables of membership contributions overdue for one year and longer amounts to $418,152 and 
it includes the allowance for a long-outstanding receivable for the membership contribution from Hong Kong since 31 
December 1999, amounting to $248,125, because there has been no communication with Hong Kong after the transfer 
of sovereignty. the Organization has also recorded allowance for the outstanding debt for receivables of participat-
ing country expenses and others from member countries as of 31 December 2010, amounting to $2,833 and $10,125, 
respectively.

Allowances for outstanding debts as of 31 December 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

2010 2009

receivables overdue for 
1 year and longer

Provided by 
percent of Allowance Provided by 

percent of Allowance

Membership contributions 100 $418,152 100 $540,993 

Participating country expenses 100 2,833 100 4,837

Others 100 10,125 100 10,125

$431,110 $555,955 
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Movements in the allowance for outstanding debts for the year ended 31 December 2010 were as follows:

membership 
contributions

Participating 
country expenses Others total

Balance at beginning of the year $540,993 $4,837 $10,125 $555,955 

Amounts recovered during the year (287,868) (2,004) (289,872)

loss recognized on receivables 165,027 165,027

Balance at end of the year $418,152 $2,833 $10,125 $431,110 

5. SPecIAl cASH gRANtS

Special cash grants are used for specific programs and other administrative expenses for which member governments 
are encouraged to cooperate with the APO in addition to their membership contributions. the detailed amounts of the 
special cash grants received for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

Purpose of grants 2010 2009

Project costs $463,353 $677,438 

Office rent 781,304 726,060

$1,244,657 $1,403,498 

6. AllOcAtION tO PROject cOStS

the APO mainly allocated salary expenses of staff who directly undertake project activities from administrative ex-
penses to project costs.

7. fuND fOR SeveRANce PAyMeNtS

the balances of the fund for severance payments represent the amounts for the severance payments resulting from 
employees’ termination of employment and comprise the following:

2010 2009

Insurance endowment fund $1,699,447 $1,760,447 

Money market fund 1,669,063 1,468,161

$3,368,510 $3,228,608 

the fund for severance payments is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of change in debt and 
equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, and interest rates. the Organization has a policy of considering 
economic conditions at the time of the contract and consistently monitors the effectiveness of its selection. In 2001, 
the APO purchased three types of insurance for each employee, of which the beneficiary is the APO. the purpose of 
this insurance is to pay for the severance payments, and approximately 56% of the liability for severance payments was 
insured as of the balance sheet date. In addition, the Organization manages a money market fund in japanese yen for 
the purpose of severance payments. Net gains on the fund for severance payments for the years ended 31 December 
2010 and 2009 were $30,842 and $30,602, respectively, and were included in miscellaneous revenues.
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8. lIABIlIty fOR SeveRANce PAyMeNtS

for the purposes of the actuarial valuations, the Organization used the discount rate of 1.1% per annum for the year 
ended 31 December 2010 and 1.5% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2009. the expected rate of salary 
increases was not applied in determining the projected benefit obligation, because the benefit obligations were de-
termined using the table of fixed salaries and the benefit formulas of the Organization’s plan did not contain factors 
relating to compensation levels. 

Amounts recognized in profit or loss in respect of the defined benefit plan were as follows:

2010 2009

current service cost $322,018 $318,028 

Interest on obligation 52,228 42,081 

Amortization of unrecognized  
transitional liability

117,181 102,379 

Net periodic pension cost $491,427 $462,488 

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation in the current period and the amount included in 
the statements of financial positions arising from the Organization’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit plan 
were as follows: 

2010 2009

Opening defined benefit obligation $3,141,265 $2,928,705 

current service cost 322,018 318,028 

Interest cost 52,228 42,081 

Actuarial gains (26,868) (60,534)

Benefits paid (895,939) (62,192)

foreign currency translation adjustments 319,947 (24,823)

closing defined benefit obligation 2,912,651 3,141,265 

unrecognized transitional liability (105,717)

unrecognized actuarial gains 96,286 60,533 

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation $3,008,937 $3,096,081 

9. OPeRAtINg leASeS

the Organization leases office space under a cancelable lease agreement. the lease was extended for another one 
year on the expiration date of 31 December 2011, and it can be terminated at any time by either party with six-month 
advance notice in writing. No rental deposit for the lease has been paid to the building owner. Rental expenses under 
operating leases for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 were $837,106 and $766,450, respectively.

10. RePORtS Of MeMBeR cOuNtRIeS’ PROjectS AND OtHeR PROjectS

various projects of the Organization are fully or partially implemented by member governments and others. costs 
incurred by such member governments and others are reported to the Organization, and these amounts are recorded 
as project implementation grants and corresponding project implementation costs.

finAnCiAl rePOrt
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inDustry AnD serViCe seCtOrs

1. SOcIOecONOMIc PROgReSS

name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

APO forum for Promoting entrepreneurship in Asia japan 18–21 November 15 2 2 0

Mr.  tatsuro Ichihara chief executive Officer Kyoto environmental 
Nanotechnology cluster Office, 
Advanced Scientific technology and 
Management Research Institute of 
Kyoto

japan

Mr.  tetsuhito Soyama Board Director cyberAgent, Inc. japan

2. StReNgtHeNINg Of SMes

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

APO forum for Promoting entrepreneurship in Asia japan 13–15 january 20 8 8 0

Mr. Hitoshi Suga Special Advisor to President tully’s coffee japan co., ltd., visiting 
Professor, Akita International 
university

japan

Mr. Naoki Nick Kondo President and ceO Aunt Stella’s K.K. japan

Ms. Natsuko Shiraki ceO Hasuna co., ltd. japan

Dr. Nobuhiko Hibara Associate Professor of finance Ristumeikan university japan

Mr. takaaki Hata Partner globis capital Partners japan

Mr. tomotaka goji President and Managing Partner university of tokyo edge capital japan

Mr. william Saito founder and ceO Intecur, Inc. japan

Mr. Kouta Matsuda founder tully’s coffee International Pte. ltd. Singapore

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

multicountry Observational study mission on sme 
Development in the mekong region

japan 1–5 february 12 2 1 1

Mr.  wong Hock Managing Director and Principal 
consultant

Hoclink Systems and Services Pte. 
ltd.

Singapore

* Mr.  Satoru tajima President Breakthrough Inc. japan

*local expert.



97APO ANNUAL REPORT 2010

inDustry AnD serViCe seCtOrs

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

study meeting on strategic mergers and Acquisitions  
for smes

Republic of 
Korea

23–26 November 13 3 3 0

Ms. chiungfeng Ko Associate Professor Soochow university Republic of china

Dr. Moon-Kyum Kim Professor Department of entrepreneurship 
and Small Business, Soongsil 
university

Republic of Korea

Dr. christopher Kummer President Institute of Mergers, Acquisitions 
and Alliances 

Switzerland

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

research on the financing of small and medium 
Businesses

Mcs year-long  - 8 8 0

Prof.  Moon-Kyum Kim Professor Department of entrepreneurship 
and Small Business, Soongsil 
university

Republic of Korea

Dr.  Soumyendra Nath Ray Professor and Director Indian Institute of Social welfare 
and Business Management

India

Ms.  zureidar Deputy Assistant for State Owned 
enterprises

coordinating Ministry for economic 
Affairs

Indonesia

Ms.  Shamini A/P Murugaya Assistant Manager SMe corporation Bhd. Malaysia

Dr.  gilberto M. llanto Senior fellow Philippine Institute for Development 
Studies

Philippines

Ms.  chiungfeng Ko Associate Professor Soochow university Republic of china

Dr.  Soon yeong Hong Senior Research fellow Korea Small Business Institute Republic of Korea

Dr.  Boontham Rajitpinyolert lecturer Department of economics, Kasetsart 
university

thailand



98

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

research on the financing of small and medium 
Businesses: Overview of smes in Asia  
(second Coordination meeting of Chief and national 
experts)

Republic of 
china

28–30 july  - 8 8 0

Prof.  Moon-Kyum Kim Professor Department of entrepreneurship 
and Small Business, Soongsil 
university

Republic of Korea

Ms.  chiungfeng Ko Associate Professor Soochow university Republic of china

Dr.  Soumyendra Nath Ray Professor and Director Indian Institute of Social welfare 
and Business Management

India

Ms.  zureidar Deputy Assistant for State Owned 
enterprises

coordinating Ministry for economic 
Affairs

Indonesia

Dr.  Soon yeong Hong Senior Research fellow Korea Small Business Institute Republic of Korea

Ms.  tengku zairu Azniza Binti tuan 
zakaria

Accountant SMe corporation Malaysia Malaysia

Dr.  gilberto M. llanto Senior fellow Philippine Institute for Development 
Studies

Philippines

Dr.  Boontham Rajitpinyolert lecturer Department of economics, Kasetsart 
university

thailand

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

research on service-sector Productivity with the focus on 
smes

Mcs year-long  - 6 6 0

Dr.  check teck foo founder and chairman Sun tzu Art of war Institute Singapore

Dr.  Alfred li-Ping cheng Associate Professor National chiao tung university Republic of china

Dr.  takayuki Mori Professor faculty of commerce, university of 
Marketing and Distribution Sciences

japan

Dr.  Keun Hee Rhee Senior Researcher Korea Productivity center Republic of Korea

Ms.  Nor fazila Bt. Hashim Senior consultant Malaysia Productivity corporation Malaysia

Dr.  Shandre Mugan thangavelu Associate Professor Department of economics, National 
university of Singapore

Singapore

3. KNOwleDge MANAgeMeNt

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

e-learning Course on knowledge management Concepts 
and Practices (Phase 1)

fiji, 
indonesia, 
malaysia, 

Philippines, 
and 

thailand

22–25 february 119 3 3 0

Mr.  Naoki Ogiwara Senior consultant and “Ba” 
conductor

Knowledge Dynamics Initiative, fuji 
xerox co., ltd.

japan

Ms.  elena Avedillo-cruz vice-President and Managing 
Director

center for Knowledge Management, 
Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

Mr.  Praba Nair Director KDi Asia Singapore

inDustry AnD serViCe seCtOrs
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

e-learning Course on knowledge management Concepts 
and Practices (Phase 2)

Bangladesh, 
India, Nepal, 

Pakistan, 
and Sri 
lanka

2–5 March 85 3 3 0

Mr.  Naoki Ogiwara Senior consultant and “Ba” 
conductor

Knowledge Dynamics Initiative, fuji 
xerox co., ltd.

japan

Ms.  elena Avedillo-cruz vice-President and Managing 
Director

center for Knowledge Management, 
Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

Mr.  Praba Nair Director KDi Asia Singapore

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

e-learning Course on knowledge management Concepts 
and Practices (Phase 3)

cambodia, 
IR Iran, 

lao PDR, 
Mongolia, 

and vietnam

9–12 March 106 3 3 0

Mr.  Naoki Ogiwara Senior consultant and “Ba” 
conductor

Knowledge Dynamics Initiative, fuji 
xerox co., ltd.

japan

Ms.  elena Avedillo-cruz vice-President and Managing 
Director

center for Knowledge Management, 
Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

Mr.  Praba Nair Director KDi Asia Singapore

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

training Course on knowledge management for nPO 
trainers/facilitators

Bangladesh 9–13 May 20 3 3 0

Mr.  Naoki Ogiwara Senior consultant and “Ba” 
conductor

Knowledge Dynamics Initiative, fuji 
xerox co., ltd.

japan

Ms.  elena Avedillo-cruz vice-President and Managing 
Director

center for Knowledge Management, 
Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

Mr.  Praba Nair Director KDi Asia Singapore

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

multicountry Observational study mission on knowledge-
creating enterprises

japan 13–17 September 16 2 1 1

Dr.  Peter Heisig Senior Research Associate engineering Design centre, 
university of cambridge

uK

* Mr.  Naoki Ogiwara Senior consultant KDI, fuji xerox co., ltd. japan

inDustry AnD serViCe seCtOrs
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

study meeting on knowledge management in the Public 
sector

Republic of 
Korea

2–5 November 17 3 3 0

Dr. Serafin D. talisayon Professor (Knowledge 
Management)

technology Management center, 
univeristy of the Philippines

Philippines

Mr. Praba Nair Director KDi Asia Singapore

Mr. Ronald young ceO young International group uK

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

training Course on knowledge management for smes Republic of 
china 

7–10 December 20 4 3 1

Mr.  Naoki Ogiwara Senior consultant and “Ba” 
conductor

KDI, fuji xerox co., ltd. japan

Dr.  Boondee Bunyagidj Advisor to the executive Director thailand Productivity Institute thailand

Mr.  Ronald young ceO young International group uK

* Prof.  chen chia Shen Professor National taiwan university Republic of china

4. geNeRAl MANAgeMeNt

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

multicountry Observational study mission on mental 
Health and Productivity

japan 18–22 january 19 5 0 5

* Dr.  Haruyoshi yamamoto Head of Mental Health center for 
workers

yokohama Rosai Hospital japan

* Mr.  Hiroyuki Nakano Researcher Mental Health Research Institute japan

* Mr.  Ku Kuniyoshi counsellor Mental Health Research Institute japan

* Mr.  Shinichiro Iida Deputy Director Mental Health Research Institute japan

* Mr.  yukio yanagawa Head, Mental Health Promotion 
center

japan Industrial Safety and Health 
Association

japan

inDustry AnD serViCe seCtOrs
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

Development of APO Plan for Activities on Public-sector 
Productivity under the research fund

japan 15–17 february  - 8 8 0

Dr. Shin Kim Director Public governance education and 
training center, Korea Institute of 
Public Administration

Republic of Korea

Ms.  Rauzah bt. zainal Abidin Senior Manager, Business 
transformation Division

Malaysia Productivity corporation Malaysia

Dr.  Razli che Razak Associate Professor of Operations 
Management

college of Business, universiti utara 
Malaysia

Malaysia

Ms. Amelita D. castillo Director, Systems and Productivity 
Improvement Bureau 

Department of Budget and 
Management

Philippines

Mr. Antonio D. Kalaw, jr. President Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

Ms. Magdalena legaspi Mendoza Senior vice President for Programs Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

Dr. Phanit laosirirat executive-Director thailand Productivity Institute thailand

Ms. Ratchada Asisonthisakul Senior consultant thailand Productivity Institute thailand

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

top management forum on environmental management 
for sustainable Productivity enhancement

japan 22–24 february 32 8 8 0

Mr.  Kuniaki Okahara Director corporate environmental Affairs 
Division, Panasonic corporation

japan

Mr.  Norihiko Saitou Senior vice President toray Industries, Inc. japan

Mr.  Norimasa Ina President Nippon Mosaic tile co., ltd. japan

Prof.  Ryoichi yamamoto Professor Institute of Industrial Science, 
International Research center for 
Sustainable Materials, university of 
tokyo

japan

Mr.  teisuke Kitayama chairman of the Board Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 
corporation

japan

Mr.  tsunehiko Iwai corporate Officer technical Planning and technical 
Affairs and general Manager, 
Quality Management Department, 
Shiseido co., ltd.

japan

Mr.  yu Murata Director environmental Industries Office, 
Industrial Science and technology 
Policy and environment Bureau, 
Ministry of economy, trade and 
Industry

japan

Dr.  Kun-Mo lee Professor Ajou university Republic of Korea

inDustry AnD serViCe seCtOrs
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

expert group meeting for Publication of the Practical 
Guide on Knowledge Management for SME Owners/
Managers under the research fund

japan 7–9 April  - 4 4 0

Mr. Naoki Ogiwara Senior consultant and “Ba” 
conductor

Knowledge Dynamics Initiative, fuji 
xerox co., ltd.

japan

Dr. Serafin D. talisayon Professor (Knowledge 
Management)

technology Management center, 
university of the Philippines

Philippines

Dr. Boondee Bunyagidj Advisor to the executive Director thailand Productivity Institute thailand

Mr. Ronald young ceO young International group uK

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

research fund for Productivity enhancement in member 
Countries “expert group meeting on Development of 
Competitive strategies for Asian smes”

APO 
Secretariat

15–16 April  - 8 8 0

Prof.  Hirotaka takeuchi Dean graduate School of International 
corporate Strategy, National center 
of Sciences, Hitotsubashi university

japan

Mr.  guann-jyh lee Director Business Startup and Incubation 
Division, Small and Medium 
enterprise Administration, Ministry 
of economic Affairs 

Republic of china

Mr.  Seiji Koizumi Senior consultant fusion Knowledge Network co., ltd. japan

Ms.  cha Sang Mi Researcher Productivity Research Institute, 
Korea Productivity center

Republic of Korea

Mr.  Rufino R. Manrique jr. Owner and ceO Moonbake Inc. Philippines

Mr.  erman tan ceO Asia Polyurethane Mfg. Pte. ltd. Singapore

Mr.  Preeda youngsuksathaporn Department Manager National Innovation Agency thailand

Prof.  yoshinori fujikawa Associate Professor graduate School of International 
corporate Strategy, National center 
of Sciences, Hitotsubashi university

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 
 

(total external local)

training Course on strategic management Consultancy 
with the focus on the service sector

japan 27 September–8 
October

18 7 1 6

Mr. george wong Managing Director, Principal 
consultant

Hoclink Systems and Services Pte. 
ltd.

Singapore

* Mr. Hironobu Nitta executive Management consultant japan Productivity center japan

* Mr. Kou Naitou National Institute of Avdanced 
Industrial Science and technology

japan

* Mr. Makoto Kobayashi Management consultant japan Productivity center japan

* Mr. Masahiro Ota Senior Management consultant japan Productivity center japan

* Mr. Satoru Mukaiyama Secretariat of Service Productivity 
and Innovation for growth

japan

* Prof. takao Kondo Professor Meiji university japan

inDustry AnD serViCe seCtOrs
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

study meeting on Customer relationship management Republic of 
Korea

6–9 December 18 3 2 1

Mr.  junkyo fujieda chairman and ceO cRM Association japan japan

Mr.  toshio Akiyama Program Director of cRM Best 
Practice committee

cRM Association japan japan

* Dr.  yong xune xon ceO/consultant Revision consulting Republic of Korea

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

APO Productivity Databook Mcs year-long  - 17 17 0

Dr. Koji Nomura Associate Professor Keio economic Observatory,  
Keio university

japan

Ms. lutfon Nahar Deputy Director, National 
Accounting wing

Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics Bangladesh

Mr. chettra Keo Deputy Director of general Statistics 
Department

National Institute of Statistics, 
Ministry of Planning

cambodia

Ms. jia-yuan Mei chief, National Accounts Section Bureau of Statistics, Directorate-
general of Budget, Accounting, and 
Statistic, executive yuan

Republic of china

Ms. Nilima usharani lal Divisional Manager, economic 
Statistics Division

fiji Islands Bureau of Statistics fiji

Mr. A.c. Sharma Deputy Director general, National 
Accounts Division

central Statistical Organisation, 
Ministry of Statistics and 
Programme Implementation

India

Ms. wachyu winarsih leader of Social Analysis Directorate of Analysis and 
Development Statistic/Statistic 
Indonesia

Indonesia

Mr. Hamid Azarmand economic Researcher economic Accounts Department, 
central Bank of Islamic Republic of 
Iran

Islamic Republic of Iran

Dr. geonwoo lee Research fellow Korea Institute for Industrial 
economics and trade 

Republic of Korea

Mr. Razaman Bin Ridzuan Statistician, National Accounts 
Statistics Division

Department of Statistics, Malaysia Malaysia

Ms. Bayarmaa Baatarsuren Statistician, Macroeconomic 
Statistics Department

National Statistical Office of 
Mongolia

Mongolia

Mr. Rajesh Dhital Statistical Officer central Bureau of Statistics Nepal

Mr. Shahid Mahmood Butt Director, National Accounts Statistics Division, federal Bureau of 
Statistics

Pakistan

Ms. estela t. De guzman Director, Industry and trade 
Statistics Department

National Statistics Office Philippines

Mr. weerasinghe w.M.A.S. 
Premakumara

Director Statistics Department of census and Statistics Sri lanka

Ms. wannapa Khlaisuan Policy and Plan Analyst National Accounts Office, National 
economic and Social Development 
Board

thailand

Ms. thi viet Hong Nguyen Head of Statistics and Informatics 
Section

Institute of Statistical Science, 
general Statistics Office 

vietnam
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

mission to mongolia under the APO Productivity Databook 
Project

Mongolia 3–4 february  - 1 1 0

Dr. Koji Nomura Associate Professor Keio economic Observatory, Keio 
university

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

mission to mongolia in relation to the APO national 
wealth survey under the APO Productivity Databook 
Project

Mongolia 19–23 july  - 1 1 0

Dr. Koji Nomura Associate Professor Keio economic Observatory, Keio 
university

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Data maintenance and updating of the APO Asian 
Quarterly growth map in Connection with the APO 
Productivity Databook Project

Mcs year-long  - 1 1 0

Dr. Koji Nomura Associate Professor  Keio economic Observatory, Keio 
university

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

tfP mission to Vietnam under the APO Productivity 
Databook Project

vietnam 7–8 April  - 1 1 0

Dr. Koji Nomura Associate Professor Keio economic Observatory, Keio 
university

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

APO Productivity Database (Phase iV) Mcs year-long  - 3 3 0

Dr. w. erwin Diewert Professor of economics Department of economics, 
university of British columbia

canada

Dr. Koji Nomura Associate Professor Keio economic Observatory, Keio 
university

japan

Dr. Dale w. jorgenson Samuel w. Morris Professor Department of economics, Harvard 
university

uSA
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 
 

(total external local)

research on Aging society Mcs year-long  - 5 5 0

Dr.  Hanam S. Phang Senior Research fellow Korea labor Institute Republic of Korea

Dr.  wen-chi grace chou Associate Professor Department of labor Relations and 
Institute of labor Studies, National 
chung-cheng university

Republic of china

Dr.  Hiroyuki fujimura Professor Hosei Business School of Innovation 
Management

japan

Dr.  leng leng thang Associate Professor, Head of 
Department

Department of japanese Studies, 
National university of Singapore

Singapore

Dr.  Priscilla Dawn Allen Associate Professor louisiana State university School of 
Social work

uSA

5. tOtAl QuAlIty MANAgeMeNt

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

training Course on six sigma green Belt vietnam 24–28 May 23 2 2 0

Mr.  Kabir Ahmad Mohd. jamil Senior Manager Malaysia Productivity corporation Malaysia

Mr.  Mohd. Azlan Abas Managing consultant Asmart technologies Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

multicountry Observational study mission on Quality 
Awards in APO member Countries

japan 21–25 june 17 4 0 4

* Mr.  Matao Ishii Representative Shonan Institute of Management japan

* Mr.  Naoyuki yanagimoto faculty fellow Management consulting 
Department, japan Productivity 
center

japan

* Mr.  Nobuo Matsuura President Bankyo Pharmaceutical co., ltd. japan

* Mr.  Shigeto Shimokozono Director council of Mie Management Quality 
Award

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

e-learning Course on tQm for the service industry  
(Phase 1)

cambodia, 
fiji, lao PDR, 

Mongolia, 
and vietnam

6–9 September 95 1 0 1

* Dr.  Katsutoshi Ayano Professor tokai university School of Political 
Science and economics

japan
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

e-learning Course on tQm for the service industry  
(Phase 2)

Bangladesh, 
Indonesia, 
Malaysia, 

and Pakistan

4–7 October 114 1 0 1

* Mr.  Noriharu Kaneko executive Director Service Quality Management ltd. japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

e-learning Course on tQm for the service industry  
(Phase 3)

IR Iran, 
Nepal, 

Philippines, 
Singapore, 
Sri lanka, 

and thailand

12–15 October 95 1 0 1

* Mr.  teruo Kawamura Senior expert on Business 
excellence

International Standardization 
Activities Support center, japanese 
Standards Association

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 
 

(total external local)

Busines excellence global Conference and training for 
senior Assessors

Singapore 8–12 November 18 5 2 3

Mr. Nico Schutte MBB and Director, Business 
Improvemnet

Philips consumer lifestyle the Netherlands

Dr. curt Reimann Senior Scientist emeritus National Institute of Standards and 
technology

uSA

* Mr.  china Beng chye vice President Quality Systems / Information 
Management, Systems on Silicon 
Manufacturing co. Pte. ltd.

Singapore

* Mr. Harnek Singh vice President and Director, 
Business excellence

St engineering Singapore

* Mr. Selvakumar Shanmugam Quality Manager Micron Semiconductor Asia Singapore

6. tecHNOlOgy, It, AND INNOvAtION

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on the information security 
management system: isO27000 (Phase 1)

cambodia, 
fiji, 

Indonesia, 
Malaysia, 

and 
Philippines

6–9 April 118 1 1 0

Mr.  Syed t. zaidi lead Auditor Det Norske veritas AS India
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on the information security 
management system: isO27000 (Phase 2)

Bangladesh, 
lao PDR, 
Sri lanka, 
thailand, 

and vietnam

19–22 April 89 2 2 0

Mr.  Duggirala Sathya Prakash Manager, Business Development Det Norske veritas AS India

Mr.  Syed t. zaidi lead Auditor-Act Det Norske veritas AS India

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on the information security 
management system: isO27000 (Phase 3)

India, IR Iran, 
Mongolia, 
Nepal, and 

Pakistan

28 june–1 july 131 2 2 0

Mr.  Duggirala Sathya Prakash Manager, Business Development Det Norske veritas AS India

Mr.  Syed t. zaidi lead Auditor-Act Det Norske veritas AS India

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

study mission to a nonmember Country on Public-sector 
innovation

canada 23–27 August 8 5 3 2

Mr.  Mohd. Razali Hussain Director general Malaysia Productivity corporation Malaysia

Mr.  Antonio D. Kalaw, jr. President Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

Dr.  Phanit laosirirat executive-Director thailand Productivity Institute thailand

* Mr.  Richard clarke Director Ministry of government Services canada

* Mr.  Ron gibson consultant canada

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

study mission to a nonmember Country on Quality  
and innovation

uSA 13–17 September 17 3 1 2

Mr.  thomas Schamberger executive Director foundation for Malcolm Baldrige 
National Quality Award Inc.

uSA

* Mr.  e. David Spong consultant uSA

* Mr.  Richard A. Norling Senior fellow Institute for Healthcare 
Improvement

uSA

inDustry AnD serViCe seCtOrs



108

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

study meeting on innovation in Public-sector service 
Delivery

Indonesia 1–5 November 20 3 3 0

Mr.  Arthur Daniels consultant canada

Dr.  Robin Mann Director centre for Organisational excellence 
Research, Massey university School 
of engineering and Advanced 
technology

New zealand

Ms.  Magdalena legaspi Mendoza Acting Senior vice President for 
Programs

Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 
 

(total external local)

study meeting on Business Development strategies for 
smes after the global financial Crisis

Republic of 
china

23–26 November 18 4 3 1

Mr.  Satoshi yamamoto Researcher economic Research Institute, 
japan Society for the Promotion of 
Machine Industry

japan

Dr.  jungdae Suh Senior Research fellow Research Institute for Small and 
Medium Industries

Republic of Korea

Dr.  foo check teck founder and chairman Sun tzu Art of war Institute Singapore

* Mr.  lai Sun-Quae Director general Small and Medium enterprise 
Administration, Ministry of 
economic Affairs

Republic of china

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

training Course on innovation in Production systems japan 29 November–10 
December

16 7 1 6

Dr.  lee gan Kai, william Associate Research Scientist Singapore Institute of 
Manufacturing technology

Singapore

* Dr.  Manabu Sawaguchi Professor graduate School of creative Science 
and engineering, waseda university

japan

* Mr.  Mitsuru fujii consultant Hirayama co., ltd. japan

* Ms.  Miwa Kato Sales group, Planning and Sales 
team

Avex Inc., tado Plant japan

* Mr.  Ryuji tsuchiya Instructor Hirayama co., ltd. japan

* Mr.  Satoru tajima President Breakthrough Inc. japan

* Mr.  Susumu Minegishi consultant Hirayama co., ltd. japan

inDustry AnD serViCe seCtOrs
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interfACe seCtOr

7. gReeN PRODuctIvIty

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

training of trainers in green Productivity Malaysia 1–26 March 20 7 3 4

Mr.  Rajagopal Suryanarayanan Senior Deputy Director National Productivity council India

Dr.  Suporn Koottatep environmental consultant Norway

Mr.  Sim chak Pheng, Roger contracts Manager cevA logistics Singapore

* Mr.  che Razali che Ismail Manager Services Sector capacity 
Building, Malaysia Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

* Ms.  latchumy Prabha consultant Malaysia Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

* Ms.  Noraina Masduki Senior Program coordinator Program for environmental 
Management, National 
Institute of Public 
Administration

Malaysia

* Ms.  zurina Moktar Program coordinator Program for environmental 
Management, National 
Institute of Public 
Administration 

Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Promotion of Activities of green Productivity Advisory 
Committee through the eco-products international fair 2010

Indonesia 4–5 March  - 6 6 0

Mr.  Manabu fujii Deputy Director, International 
cooperation Department

japan Productivity center japan

Prof.  Ryoichi yamamoto Professor university of tokyo japan

Mr.  takashi yamagishi executive vice President, Member of 
the Board

teijin limited japan

Mr.  teisuke Kitayama chairman of the Board Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 
corporation

japan

Mr.  tsuneaki taniguchi President japan Productivity center japan

Mr.  yukio yanase President and chief Operating Officer Orix corporation japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Promotional Visit for the eco-products international fair (ePif) 
2011/Official launching of ePif 2011

India 14–15 july 0 1 1 0

Mr.  takashi yamagishi Senior executive Advisor teijin limited japan

*local expert.
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

international Conference on green Productivity to enhance 
Competitiveness

Indonesia 4–7 March 41 18 6 12

Mr.  eiichiro Adachi Research chief, Head of eSg Research 
center

japan Research Institute, 
limited

japan

Mr.  Hiroki Nakatsuka Senior vice President, Head of 
Origination and Marketing group

environmental Products 
Department, Investment Bank 
unit, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 
corporation

japan

Mr.  takejiro Sueyoshi Special Advisor in the Asia-Pacific 
Region

uNeP finance Initiative japan

Ms.  yuko Sakita journalist Sakita Office japan

Dr.  Kyung Hoon Kang general Manager, Head of Business 
Research Department

Kookmin Bank Republic of Korea

Mr.  edgar g. esguerra Head, conglomerates Division, 
corporate Banking group

Philippines Metro Bank Philippines

* Mr. Dilan S. Batuparan Head, Syndication and Structured 
trade

eximbank Indonesia

* Ms. emy Perdanahari Director of electricity, Supervision 
Program

Ministry of energy, Republic of 
Indonesia

Indonesia

* Mr. f.x. Sri Martono vice President and chief, corporate 
Organization and Human capital 
Development

Pt. Astra International Indonesia

* Mr. Iman Sucipto umar chairman KADIN foundation and 
Steering committee of ePIf 
2010

Indonesia

* Dr. Irhan febijanto Research engineer Agency for the Assessment and 
Application of technology 

Indonesia

* Ms. liana Bratasida Deputy Minister, environmental 
global and International cooperation

Ministry of environment Indonesia

* Ms. Masnellyarti Deputy Minister Natural Resources 
conservation enhancement 
and environmental 
Degradation control

Indonesia

* Mr. Setia wijaya general Manager, Operation, cement 
Plant

Pt. Indocement Indonesia

* Mr. taufik Muhamad Abdulah Alternative Materials and fuels 
technical Manager

Pt. Indocement Indonesia

* Mr. togar M. Simatupang Associate Professor of Operations 
and Supply chain Management

Bandung Institute of 
technology School of Business 
Management

Indonesia

* Mr. tom Moyes Program Manager, Access to finance 
Advisory Services in Indonesia

International finance 
corporation

Indonesia

* Dr. yeti Rusli Senior Adviser to the Minister Ministry of forestry on 
environmental Affairs

Indonesia

interfACe seCtOr
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

training Course for energy Auditors India 22–26 March 23 2 1 1

Mr.  S.M. Mahmud Hassan Senior Manager, Power, energy Audit 
cell

Office of the electrical Adviser 
and chief electric Inspector, 
Power Division

Bangladesh

* Mr.  D. Pawan Kumar Director (energy Management) National Productivity council India

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on energy efficiency in smes (Phase 1) Bangladesh, 
lao PDR, and 

vietnam

17–20 May 49 2 2 0

Mr. Anjan Kumar Sinha Director-energy Management and 
Head RPMg

Regional Professional 
Management group, National 
Productivity council

India

Mr. yutaka Ogura general Manager technical cooperation 
Department, energy 
conservation center

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

e-learning Course on energy efficiency in smes (Phase 2) India, IR Iran, 
Nepal, Sri 

lanka, and 
Pakistan

21–24 june 127 2 2 0

Mr. Anjan Kumar Sinha Director-energy Management and 
Head RPMg

Regional Professional 
Management group, National 
Productivity council

India

Mr. Kazuki tanabe general Manager training cooperation 
Department, energy 
conservation center

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on energy efficiency in smes (Phase 3) cambodia, 
fiji, Indonesia, 

Malaysia, 
Philippines, 

and thailand

12–15 july 111 2 2 0

Mr. Anjan Kumar Sinha Director-energy Management and 
Head RPMg

Regional Professional 
Management group, National 
Productivity council

India

Mr. junichi Noka general Manager Asia energy efficiency and 
conservation collaboration 
center, energy conservation 
center

japan

interfACe seCtOr
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

workshop on energy management Capacity Building: 
formulation of national frameworks for the Development of 
Certified energy managers and Auditors

cambodia 24–28 May 22 2 2 0

Mr.  Arvind Kumar Asthana Senior technical Specialist Indo-german energy 
Programme

India

Mr.  Kishan Kumar chakarvarti Senior Programme Manager Indo-german energy 
Programme

India

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

national Dissemination Program on energy management 
Capacity Building

Bangladesh 20–21 
December

54 2 2 0

Mr.  Arvind Kumar Asthana Senior technical Specialist Indo-german energy 
Programme

India

Mr.  Kishan Kumar chakarvarti Senior Programme Manager Indo-german energy 
Programme

India

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

study meeting on ecofinance Republic of 
china

8–11 june 21 4 3 1

Mr.  Bankim Bhatt chief executive Officer Bisman fintech Pvt. ltd. India

Mr.  eiichiro Adachi Research chief, Head of eSg Research 
center

japan Research Institute, 
limited

japan

Mr.  juerg Klarer Managing Director Aequilibrium consulting gmbH Switzerland

* Dr.  Niven c.c. Huang Secretary general Business council for 
Sustainable Development of 
taiwan

Republic of china

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

training Course on integrated waste management at resorts, 
Hotels, and restaurants

fiji 21–25 june 25 4 3 1

Dr. Ravinder N. Batta Special Secretary tourism and Planning to the 
government of Himachal 
Pradesh

India

Mr. Alberet teo Borneo Specialist Borneo eco tours Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

Dr.  chirapol Sintunawa faculty of environment and Resource 
Studies

Mahidol university thailand

* Mr. epeli Nasome former Director of environment fiji

interfACe seCtOr
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

workshop on green Procurement and green Purchasing: sme 
focus

japan 12–16 july 18 4 1 3

Prof. Kun-Mo lee Professor, Department of 
environmental engineering

Ajou university Republic of Korea

* Mr. Akira Kataoka Manager International green Purchasing 
Network

japan

* Prof. claude Siegenthaler Professor Hosei university japan

* Mr. Hisayoshi Saegusa Senior Management consultant japan Productivity center japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

study meeting on the eco-products Database Republic of 
Korea

31 August–3 
September

16 4 4 0

Dr.  Ning yu chiu President environment and Development 
foundation

Republic of china

Prof.  Kun-Mo lee visiting Research fellow National Institute of Advanced 
Industrial Science and 
technology 

japan

Dr.  Ryoichi yamamoto emeritus Professor university of tokyo japan

Ms.  lisa Inez Antonio executive Director Philippine Business for the 
environment 

Philippines

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

Advanced training Course on energy efficiency in smes thailand 6–10 September 24 5 4 1

Dr. y.S. Perng Professor Department of environmental 
engineering, Da-yeh university

Republic of china

Mr. Arvind Kumar Asthana Senior technical Specialist Indo-german energy 
Programme

India

Dr. yoshiaki Ichikawa Senior Manager environmental Strategy Office, 
Hitachi, ltd.

japan

Mr. jun young choi team leader and chief Researcher Korea testing laboratory Republic of Korea

* Mr. Rajiv garg Program Officer-Policy Southeast Asia climate change 
Network, uNeP

thailand

interfACe seCtOr
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

APO international Conference on green technology Malaysia 14–17 October 20 4 2 2

Dr. Ning yu chiu President environment and Development 
foundation

Republic of china

Dr. chaiyod Bunyagidj vice President thailand environment Institute thailand

* Ms. joni chan Deputy Secretary general green Purchasing Network 
Malaysia

Malaysia

* Ms. wan Nadia wan Kamaruddin Research Officer Malaysia green technology 
corporation

Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

study mission to a nonmember Country on energy efficiency 
and renewable energy

uSA 25–29 October 17 4 1 3

Mr. Saito yoshiyori President yS Associates consultation japan

* Dr. Masato Matsuo President and ceO uSjP technology, Inc. uSA

* Dr. Hiroshi yagi President IMAnet, Inc. uSA

* Prof. tony Seba lecturer in entrepreneurship Stanford university uSA

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

workshop on eco-design Republic of 
china

1–5 November 21 10 3 7

Prof.  fumikazu Masuda Professor tokyo zokei university japan

Dr.  Mitsutaka Matsumoto Research Scientist, center for Service 
Research

Advanced Industrial Science 
and technology 

japan

Mr.  takao Sato general Manager, corporate 
environment Division

Ricoh company, ltd. japan

* Dr.  tsai-chi Kuo Associate Professor chung yuan christian 
university

Republic of china

* Mr.  frank lin cQO and Deputy cSO ASuStek computer Inc. Republic of china

* Prof.  jahau lewis chen Professor National cheng-Kung 
university

Republic of china

* Mr.  Keith liao Au Optronics corporation Republic of china

* Prof.  li-Hsing Shih Professor National cheng-Kung 
university

Republic of china

* Mr.  linber Huang Deputy ceO taiwan Design center Republic of china

* Dr.  Ning yu President environment and Development 
foundation

Republic of china

interfACe seCtOr
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8. INtegRAteD cOMMuNIty DevelOPMeNt

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

national seminar on the Promotion of the One District, One 
Product movement in lao PDr

lao PDR 6–8 April 48 5 1 4

Ms. Pansiri jones community Development Specialist 
(Retired government Official)

thailand

* Ms. chanthachone Department of Industry and 
commerce 

lao PDR

* Mr. leksay Keotasan economic Research Institute 
and trade 

lao PDR

* Mr. Sayasith Khamphasith Director, Productivity Division Small and Medium enterprises 
Promotion and Development 
Office

lao PDR

* Mr. tongkhan vongphachanh Department of Production, 
Promotion and trade

lao PDR

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

training Course on Planning and management of Community-
based rural tourism and Agrotourism enterprises

Sri lanka 10–17 August 21 3 3 0

Mr. Harro Boekhold Managing Director contour Projects ltd. tanzania

Dr. therdchai choibamroong Area-based tourism Research 
Manager

thailand Research fund thailand

Dr. linda j. cox Interim Associate Dean and Associate 
Director for extension

university of Hawaii at Manoa uSA

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

workshop on Promotion of the One Village, One Product 
model as a regional and rural Development strategy

lao PDR 6–10 December 18 4 3 1

Dr. Kunio Igusa Professor, college of International 
Management and graduate School of 
International cooperation

Ritsumeikan Asia Pacific 
university

japan

Ms. Merly Mirasol cruz undersecretary Department of trade and 
Industry

Philippines

Ms. Nisakorn jungjaroentham Director, Industrial Promotion center 
Region 4, Department of Industrial 
Promotion

Ministry of Industry thailand

* Mr. leksay Keoyasan Division of trade and Industry 
Research Policy, economic Research 
Institute for trade

Ministry of Industry and 
commerce

lao PDR

interfACe seCtOr
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9. DevelOPMeNt Of NPOs

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

in-country training Program for Productivity and Quality 
Practitioners:  DOn implementation for Vietnam (Phase 1)

vietnam 30 May–5 june 32 2 2 0

Mr.  Azman Hussain training consultant general Physics Malaysia Sdn. 
Bhd.

Malaysia

Mr.  Kabir Ahmad Mohd. jamil Senior Manager Malaysia Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

in-country training Program for Productivity and Quality 
Practitioners:  DOn implementation for Bangladesh

Bangladesh 19 june–1 july 25 1 1 0

Mr.  eizo Asaka Representative Asaka techno consultancy japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

in-country training Program for Productivity and Quality 
Practitioners:  DOn implementation for Vietnam (Phase 2)

vietnam 12–17 july 32 2 2 0

Mr.  Azman Hussain training consultant general Physics Malaysia Sdn. 
Bhd.

Malaysia

Mr.  Kabir Ahmad Mohd jamil Senior Manager Malaysia Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

in-country training Program for Productivity and Quality 
Practitioners: DOn implementation for india

India 23 August–4 
September

24 3 3 0

Mr.  george wong Managing Director Hoclink Systems and Services 
Pte. ltd.

Singapore

Mr.  lee chen tze ScM Principal consultant Singapore

Mr.  wilson fu tPM consultant Singapore

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

in-country training Program for Productivity and Quality 
Practitioners: DOn implementation for lao PDr

lao PDR 11–23 October 21 3 3 0

Mr.  george wong Managing Director/Principal 
consultant

Hoclink Systems and Services 
Pte. ltd.

Singapore

Mr.  lee chen tze ScM Principal consultant Singapore

Mr.  wilson fu tPM consultant Singapore

interfACe seCtOr
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

in-country training Program for energy management 
Practitioners

Pakistan 29 November – 
11 December

33 2 2 0

Mr.  Anjan Kumar Sinha Director-energy Management and 
Head RPMg

National Productivity council India

Mr.  Subbarao Balasubramaniya 
Sadananda

Director and Head National Productivity council India

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

DOn strategy: COe Program Deputation to sPring singapore Singapore 7–16 july  - 2 2 0

Mr.  Niklas Blomqvist Process Assessment and Audit 
Manager

volvo car corporation Sweden

Mr.  Paul Steel President and ceO total Quality Inc. uSA

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

DOn strategy: COe Program Deputation to thailand 
Productivity institute (ftPi)

thailand 12–14 july  - 1 1 0

Mr.  Darshan Singh Director Business and Service 
excellence, SPRINg Singapore

Singapore

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

DOn strategy: COe Program Deputation to national 
Productivity Organization in Pakistan

Pakistan 20–24 
September

 - 1 1 0

Dr.  em-Amorn Kumnuch Director Office of thailand Quality 
Award, thailand Productivity 
Institute

thailand

interfACe seCtOr
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

training Course on Development of Productivity Practitioners: 
Basic Program

Philippines 1–26 November 19 6 2 4

Mr.  Mah lok Abdullah Principal consultant Railer Management Services Malaysia

Ms.  chantalux Mongkol Productivity Promotion, Department 
Manager

thailand Productivity Institute thailand

* Ms. thess A. Augstin Program Director, Industry 
competitiveness and SMe 
Productivity center of Quality and 
competitiveness

Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

* Mr. Arnel D. Abanto Managing Director, center for Quality 
and competitiveness

Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

* Ms. elena Avedillo cruz Managing Director, center for 
Knowledge Management

Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

* Ms. Magdalena legaspi Mendoza Senior vice President for Programs Development Academy of the 
Philippines

Philippines

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

training Course on Development of Productivity Practitioners: 
Advanced Program

Malaysia 29 November – 
17 December

24 9 2 7

Mr.  takao Kasahara Managing Director Streamline Strategy japan, Inc. japan

Mr.  lee Kok Seong general Manager/Principal 
consultant

eunison Network Pte. ltd. Singapore

* Dr.  M. Sugumaran Senior Manager Malaysia Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

* Mr.  Nor Azhar Nusa Manager Autokeen Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

* Mr.  Omar Othman Manager Malaysia Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

* Ms.  Rokiah Aziz Manager Malaysia Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

* Mr.  Rosmi Abdullah Senior consultant Malaysia Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

* Mr.  Samsudin Hamzah Associate consultant Bina Insan Malaysia

* Mr.  Shaharom Ashaari consultant forward Design Solution Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

member Country support Program: Observational  study 
mission on Productivity improvement through tPm  from 
Vietnam to japan

vietnam 11–15 january 10 1 0 1

* Mr.  Kazuteru chinone Representative Productivity Management 
Office

japan

interfACe seCtOr
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

member Country support Program in Vietnam (3rd visit) vietnam 18–22 january  - 1 1 0

Mr.  Kazuteru chinone Representative Productivity Management 
Office

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

member Country support Program in Vietnam and sri lanka 
(final evaluation Visit)

Sri lanka and 
vietnam

15–19 March  - 3 3 0

Ms.  Satoko Kanao Project Manager japan Productivity center japan

Mr.  yoji Osaki Director japan Productivity center japan

Mr.  Ahmad Murshid Abu Manager Malaysia Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

member Country support Program (year 1) - first Assessment 
Visit

Malaysia and 
Mongolia

24–29 june  - 1 1 0

Mr.  Naoya Kuchimura Project Manager japan Productivity center japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

member Country support Program (year 1) - 1st visit to 
mongolia

Mongolia 5–10 September  - 1 1 0

Mr.  Satoru tajima President Breakthrough Inc. japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

member Country support Program (year 1) - 1st visit to 
malaysia

Malaysia 27 September–2 
October

 - 1 1 0

Mr.  yoshikuni furukawa general Manager, Sustainable 
Management

Nitto Denko corporation japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

member Country support Program (year 1) - 2nd visit to 
mongolia

Mongolia 24–29 October  - 1 1 0

Mr.  Satoru tajima President Breakthrough Inc. japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

member Country support Program (year 1) - 2nd visit to 
malaysia

Malaysia 22–26 
November

 - 1 1 0

Mr.  Hiroshi tachikawa Managing Director Propharm japan co., ltd. japan
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AgriCulture seCtOr

10. AgRIcultuRAl MARKetINg AND PROceSSINg

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

multicountry Observational study mission on export 
Promotion of Agrifood Products

japan 1–6 March 18 4 1 3

Mr. David lennarz vice President Registrar corp. uSA

* Mr. Daniel cherbin library and Information consultant japan

* Mr. taneo Moriyama Managing Director Insight Inc. japan

* Mr. yoshiyuki Mori chief Representative, japan Office warrnambool cheese and Butter 
factory

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

training Course on e-marketing of Agricultural Products Republic of 
Korea

15–19 March 14 2 2 0

Mr. S.A. Khader Principal consultant SAK consultants and Associates India

Ms. fione tan President and ceO eOnenet centre Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

national training Course on the food safety management 
system isO22000:2005 for Auditors/lead Auditors

Pakistan 6–8 May/ 
10–12 May

109 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

APO national training workshop on the food safety 
management system isO22000:2005

vietnam 10–14 May 96 1 1 0

Mr. Ng Ha wai Howie Director i-vAc certification ltd. Hong Kong

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

APO national training Course on the food safety 
management system isO22000:2005 for Auditors/lead 
Auditors

Sri lanka 26–29 july 50 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

*local expert.
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

seminar on Building Value Chains in Agribusiness Indonesia 23–27 May 22 5 3 2

Mr. grant vinning Marketing Adviser Agricultural livelihoods Program Australia

Ms.  umm e zia Managing Director cynosure consultants, Inc. Pakistan

Dr.  Kheng Soon Rodney wee chief executive Asian cold chain centre Singapore

* Mr. Benny tjia Owner Pt. Mandiri jaya flora Indonesia

* Mr. tatang Hadinata President Director Pt Saung Mirwan Indonesia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on food safety management and food 
traceability (Phase 1)

fiji, 
Indonesia, 
Malaysia, 

Philippines, 
and thailand

7–10 june 111 4 4 0

Mr. jun Sakai chief Researcher food Marketing Research and 
Information center

japan

Mr. toshifumi tashiro Manager, Distribution Information 
Department

Business Strategy Department 
Meat Division, Itoham foods Inc.

japan

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

Dr. jenn-Kan lu Associate Professor Department of Aquaculture, 
National taiwan Ocean university

Republic of china

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on food safety management and food 
traceability (Phase 2)

cambodia, 
IR Iran, 

lao PDR, 
Mongolia, 
Singapore, 

and vietnam

5–8 july 119 4 4 0

Dr. jenn-Kan lu Associate Professor Department of Aquaculture, 
National taiwan Ocean university

Republic of china

Mr. jun Sakai chief Researcher food Marketing Research and 
Information center

japan

Mr. toshifumi tashiro Manager, Distribution Information 
Department

Business Strategy Department, 
Meat Division, Itoham foods Inc.

japan

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

AgriCulture seCtOr
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on food safety management and food 
traceability (Phase 3)

Bangladesh, 
India, Nepal, 

Pakistan, 
and Sri 
lanka

20–23 july 108 4 4 0

Dr. jenn-Kan lu Associate Professor Department of Aquaculture, 
National taiwan Ocean university

Republic of china

Mr. jun Sakai chief Researcher food Marketing Research and 
Information center

japan

Mr. toshifumi tashiro Manager, Distribution Information 
Department

Business Strategy Department, 
Itoham foods Inc.

japan

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

APO study mission to a nonmember Country on innovations 
in food Products

uSA 27 june–1 july 14 4 0 4

* Mr. clark wolf founder and President clark wolf company uSA

* Ms. lindsey watson Director of Quality Assurance 
Programs

Registrar corp. uSA

* Mr. Robert B. Silverman Partner grunfeld, Desiderio, lobowitz, 
Silverman and Klestadt llP

uSA

* Mr. Steve Sichel Director of Development StAR-K uSA

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

training Course on Providing Advisory and training services 
to women on the management of micro- and small-scale 
Agrofood-processing enterprises

Malaysia 26–31 july 20 4 3 1

Ms. Arlene Donaire Pamintuan Independent Management 
consultant

Philippines

Mr. Reuel K. virtucio executive Director Punla sa tao foundation Philippines

Dr. Navam S. Hettiarachchy Professor, Ift fellow and Head Department of food Science 
and Institute of food Science 
and engineering, university of 
Arkansas

uSA

* Ms. faridah Aini Muhammad Deputy Director Department of Agriculture, 
Ministry of Agriculture and Agro-
Based Industry

Malaysia
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

workshop on Best Practices of  logistics management for 
Agribusiness: Consolidation and Distribution system for 
Agricultural Products

thailand 16–20 August 21 8 3 5

Mr. chan Seng Kit Managing Director K-farm Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

Dr. Kheng Soon Rodney wee chief executive and Principal 
consultant

Asian cold chain centre Singapore

Mr. thomas D.H. Hertog consultant feliz Advies the Netherlands

* Mr. Paiboon Ponsuwanna executive Director transamut food co., ltd. thailand

* Dr. Sataporn Amornasawadawatana Associate Professor university of the thai chamber of 
commerce School of engineering

thailand

* Mr. Sumeth laomoraphorn chief Operating Officer c.P. Intertrade co., ltd. thailand

* Dr. tirachai Pipitsupaphol vice President-logistics Mitr Phol Sugar crop ltd. thailand

* Mr. tomofumi Inoue Director of trade Promotion japan external trade 
Organization 

thailand

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

training Course on the food safety management system 
isO22000:2005 for Auditors/lead Auditors

Republic of 
Korea

23–27 August 16 2 2 0

Mr.  Ng Ha wai, Howie technical Director Hong Kong verita limited Hong Kong

Mr.  yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resoruce centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

workshop on Approaches and tools for improving the 
Performance of Agribusiness smes

Indonesia 4–8 October 21 5 3 2

Mr. Koichi Hiratsuka consultant japan

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

Mr. Reuel virtucio executive Director Punla sa tao foundation Philippines

* Mrs.  Darningsih Business Owner Indonesia

* Dr. Simanjuntak Parulian Professor university of Medan, Nomesen 
university

Indonesia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

study mission to a nonmember Country on Quality 
management for Processed food and Beverage Products

france 18–22 October 14 5 0 5

* Mr.  Alexandre la Rosa consultant AlR france

* Mr.  georges champseix consultant france

* Mr.  jean-Michel gressard President cabinet gressard SA france

* Ms.  lalaina Randriamanantsoa Intertek france france

* Ms.  Peguy Herluc consultant france
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

multicountry Observational study mission on Branding of 
local food and Agricultural Products

japan 9–16 November 14 6 0 6

* Mr.  Hiroaki Sato expert for Regional collective 
trademark System

trademark Division, trademark, 
Design and Administrative Affairs 
Department, japan Patent Office

japan

* Mr.  Kazuyuki yazawa Deputy Director trademark Division, trademark, 
Design and Administrative Affairs 
Department, japan Patent Office

japan

* Dr.  Mari Hazumi Professor faculty of commerce, Kumamoto 
gakuen university, Kumamoto

japan

* Mr.  Masataka Ikeda Head of the Secretariat Kobe Beef Marketing and 
Distribution Promotion 
Association

japan

* Mr.  yoshihisa Naito Senior Analysis Officer Policy Research Institute, Ministry 
of Agriculture, forestry and 
fisheries

japan

* Mr.  yoshinori yamauchi Intellectual Property Protection/
Application Official

Intellectual Property Division, 
Ministry of Agriculture, forestry 
and fisheries

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

multicountry Observational study mission on modern food 
safety management systems

japan 7–14 December 18 4 1 3

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

* Mr. goichiro yukawa Head, Department of technical 
Service

japan food Research 
laboratories

japan

* Mr. Seiji tanaka Director Organization of food Marketing 
Structure Improvement

japan

* Dr. yoko Niiyama Professor Kyoto university graduate School 
of Agriculture

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

special Program for strengthening the Capacity of food 
supply Chain management in Asian least Developed 
Countries

Mcs year-long  -  -  -  -

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Demonstration Company Project on good manufacturing 
Practices

cambodia 1–9 April  - 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Demonstration Company Project on good manufacturing 
Practices (2nd Visit)

cambodia 3–11 August  - 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Demonstration Company Project on good manufacturing 
Practice (3rd Visit)

cambodia 17–30 
November

 - 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Demonstration Company Project on 5s and kaizen in 
Cambodian regional Areas (Phase ii)

cambodia 26–30 April  - 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Demonstration Company Project on 5s and kaizen in 
Cambodian regional Areas (Phase ii)

cambodia 16 May–1 june  - 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Demonstration Company Project on 5s and kaizen in 
Cambodian regional Areas (Phase ii)

cambodia 17–27 October  - 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Demonstration Company Project on 5s and good 
manufacturing Practices

lao PDR 2–11 November  - 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

national training Course on Postharvest technologies for 
rice

lao PDR 20–24 
December

 - 3 2 1

Mr. tateo Ajika Senior consultant Overseas Merchandise Inspection 
co., ltd.

japan

Dr. yasuhisa Seo Professor college of Bioresources Sciences, 
Nihon university

japan

* Mr. thongsavath chanthasombath Department of Plantation lao PDR

11. SuStAINABle DevelOPMeNt IN AgRIcultuRe

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

workshop on the Participatory Approach to water resources 
management in Agriculture:  Participatory irrigation 
management

IR Iran 23–28 january 22 5 3 2

Dr.  jin-yong choi Associate Professor Rural Systems engineering 
Program, college of Agriculture 
and life Sciences

Kingdom of tonga

Mr.  Mohammad Shafique water Management consultant land and water Services Pakistan

Mr. Ozlu Hasan Head turkey INPIM chapter turkey

* Ms.  j. Moshfegh Senior expert for Agricultural 
extension and education

Ministry of jihad-e-Agriculture, 
Deputy of Soil, water and 
Industries, water Productivity 
Management

IR Iran

* Dr. fariborz Abbasi Associate Professor/ Irrigation 
and Drainage Specialist, Deputy 
Research, technical engineering

Research Institute, affiliated to the 
Ministry of jihad-e-Agriculture

IR Iran

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

workshop for research on Agricultural Policies in Asia APO 
Secretariat

19–21 january 5 3 3 0

Mr. wilfrid legg Head, Agricultural Policies and 
environment

OecD france

Mr. Kunio tsubota Deputy Director-cum-Professor Kyushu university Asia center japan

Dr. Boonjit titapiwatanakun Assistant Professor Department of Agricultural and 
Resources economics, faculty of 
economics, Kasetsart university

thailand
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

APO study mission to a nonmember Country: ecotourism in 
Hawaii

uSA 15–19 March 15 2 0 2

* Dr. john cusick Assistant Specialist, environmental 
center

college of tropical Agriculture 
and Human Resources, university 
of Hawaii at Manoa

uSA

* Dr. linda cox Interim Associate Dean and 
Associate Director for extension

college of tropical Agriculture 
and Human Resources, university 
of Hawaii at Manoa

uSA

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

multicountry Observational study mission on Applications of 
Biotechnology in the Production of High-value Crops

Republic of 
china

28 june–2 july 23 5 2 3

Dr.  Andrew Powell chief executive Officer Asia BioBusiness Pte. ltd. Singapore

Dr.  Paul teng Dean graduate Program and Research, 
National Institute of education

Singapore

* Mr. chung-jung Shih Head Office for Agricultural technology 
Industry

Republic of china

* Dr. Hung-chang Huang chair Professor  Plant Pathology Division, taiwan 
Agricultural Research Institute

Republic of china

* Dr. wen-Huei chen Distinguished Professor and 
Director

Department of life Sciences 
and Institute of Biotechnology, 
National university of Kaohsiung

Republic of china

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

training Course on standards and Certification systems for 
Organic food Production and Processing

Philippines 12–17 july 22 4 3 1

Mr. gerald Herrmann Director Organic Services gmbH germany

Mr. toshiaki takahashi certification Staff japan Organic and Natural foods 
Association

japan

Mrs. grace gershuny gaia Services Barnet uSA

* Mr. gilberto f. layese Director Department of Agriculture, 
Bureau of Agriculture and 
fisheries Product Standards

Philippines
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

study meeting on reforming Agricultural extension systems 
through knowledge management

India 6–11 September 18 6 3 3

Mr.  Abdoulaye Mbaye extension Officer OeKR fAO Rome uN fAO Italy

Dr. cely Binoya Director, extension Services Division 
and gAD

Professor vI, cBSuA graduate 
School, central Bicol State 
university of Agriculture

Philippines

Dr. Marloer u. Aquino Senior Program coordinator and 
Senior Agriculturist

Bureau of Agricultural Research Philippines

* Dr. B.S. Hansra Professor Indira gandhi National Open 
university School of Agriculture

India

* Dr. K. vijayaragavan Head Division of Agricultural extension, 
India Agricultural Research 
Institute 

India

* Dr. M.j. candre gowda Deputy commissioner Department of Agriculture 
and cooperatives, Ministry of 
Agriculture

India

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

mission to a nonmember Country on glOBAlgAP for greater 
market Access of Agrifood Products

germany 25–29 October 16 9 0 9

* Ms. christina Buttler european egg, Poultry and game 
Association

germany

* Mr. frank gerriets Director Organic Services gmbH germany

* Mr. Ignacio Antequera Benchmarking and Integrity 
Programme

germany

* Ms. Kerstin uhlig Manager Stakeholder liaison glOBAl g.A.P germany germany

* Mr. Manfred Pulm Quality Manager lehmann Natur germany

* Dr. Matthias grill Business Development Manager agrovet germany

* Ms. Silke Peters Managing Director flower label Programme germany

* Mr. udo Rindsfusser Advisor Horticulture federal Agricultural Agency 
of the State of North Rhine-
westphalia

germany

* Mr. uwe Sakowski Managing Director Mibusa großmarket gmbh and 
co. Kg

germany
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on good Agricultural Practices and 
glOBAlgAP for greater market Access for Agrifood Products 
(Phase 1)

Bangladesh, 
India, IR Iran, 
Nepal, and 

Pakistan

26–28 October 85 7 7 0

Ms.  Kerstin uhlig Manager Stakeholder liaison glOBAlgAP germany

Dr.  Rolland Aumueller Specialist veterinary Surgeon 
Standard Management, livestock 
feed 

glOBAlgAP germany

Mr. taneo Moriyama Managing Director Insight Inc. japan

Mr.  yasuaki takeda Managing Director and Secretary 
general

jgAP japan

Mr. chan Seng Kit Managing Director K farm Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

Dr. chiristopher walsh Professor Department of Plant Sciences 
and landscape Architecture, 
university of Maryland

uSA

Dr. Kristian Moeller founding President glOBAlgAP North America Inc. uSA

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on good Agricultural Practices and 
glOBAlgAP for greater market Access for Agrifood Products 
(Phase 2)

cambodia, 
Republic 
of china, 
lao PDR, 

Philippines, 
Sri lanka, 

and vietnam

16–18 
November

116 8 8 0

Mr.  chan Seng Kit Managing Director K-farm Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

Dr. christopher S. walsh Professor Department of Plant Sciences 
and landscape Architecture, 
university of Maryland

uSA

Mr.  enrique uribe leitz Benchmarking Administration glOBAlgAP germany

Ms. Kerstin uhlig Manager Stakeholder liaison glOBAlgAP germany

Dr.  Kristian Moeller founding President glOBAlgAP, North America Inc. uSA

Mr.  Nigell garbutt chairman glOBAlgAP germany

Dr.  Rolland Aumueller Specialist veterinary Surgeon 
Standard Management, livestock 
feed

glOBAlgAP germany

Mr.  yasuaki takeda Managing Director and Secretary-
general

jgAP japan
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

e-learning Course on good Agricultural Practices and 
glOBAlgAP for greater market Access for Agrifood Products 
(Phase 3)

fiji, 
Indonesia, 
Malaysia, 

and thailand

23–25 
November

59 6 6 0

Mr. chan Seng Kit Managing Director K-farm Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

Dr.  christopher S. walsh Professor Department of Plant Sciences 
and landscape Architecture, 
university of Maryland

uSA

Ms.  Kerstin uhlig Manager Stakeholder liaison glOBAlgAP germany

Dr.  Kristian Moeller founding President glOBAlgAP, North America Inc. uSA

Dr.  Roland Aumueller Specialist veterinary Surgeon, 
Standard Management, livestock 
feed

glOBAlgAP germany

Mr.  yasuaki takeda Managing Director and Secretary-
general

jgAP japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Demonstration Company Project on good manufacturing 
Practices (2nd visit)

cambodia 11–19 january  - 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

evaluation mission to Cambodia and lao PDr for the 
evaluation of the APe-lDC special Program

cambodia 
and lao PDR

15–19 february  - 1 1 0

Dr. yoshiaki Nishikawa Professor/Director Nagoya university graduate 
School of International 
Development

japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

follow-up evaluation mission to Cambodia for the evaluation 
of the APe-lDC special Program

cambodia 21–22 june  - 1 1 0

Dr. yoshiaki Nishikawa Professor/Director Nagoya university graduate 
School of International 
Development

japan
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

workshop on the Achievements under the APe-lDC special 
Program

japan 24–26 March 8 3 3 0

Mr. Kensuke watanabe executive general Manager Quality Assurance Development 
Department, Suntory Business 
expert limited

japan

Mr. Shigeru yoshida Managing Director Kamaichi co., ltd. japan

Mr. Kok Seng yong Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

national seminar on the Promotion of the One Village, One 
Product movement in lao PDr

lao PDR 29–31 May  - 6 2 4

Mr. Masato Kuroda Special Adviser Royal Silk foundation japan

Ms. Pansiri jones community Development Specialist thailand

* Ms. Phouthaphone Staff of eRIt and Member of joint 
coordinating committee

eRIt and joint coordinating 
committee

lao PDR

* Mr. Sayadet vongsaravanh Deputy Director Department of Industry and 
commerce

lao PDR

* Mr. Sayasith Khamphasith Director, Productivity Division Small and Medium enterprises 
Promotion and Development 
Office

lao PDR

* Mr. thongkhan vongphachanh chief of Division Department of Product 
Promotion and trade

lao PDR
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inDiViDuAl-COuntry PrOgrAms

INDIvIDuAl-cOuNtRy OBSeRvAtIONAl StuDy MISSIONS 
subject from to Duration  Participants

cost Management IR Iran Republic of china 5–8 October 11

Kaizen Implementation in Service Industries IR Iran Malaysia 26–28 October 7

Improving Organizational Productivity through 
Knowledge Management, learning Organization, 
eRP and eRM

Indonesia India 29 November–1 December 7

Regional Development council (RDc2) Philippines Malaysia 30 November–2 December 9

New and Innovative Industrial educational Programs Republic of Korea japan 13–14 December 6

entrepreneurship Development Program to Reduce 
unemployment and Improve Social welfare

Indonesia Philippines 13–16 December 3

DevelOPMeNt Of DeMONStRAtION cOMPANIeS

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Development of Demonstration Companies: total 
Quality management Demonstration Company Project 
in malaysia (3rd Visit)

Malaysia 18–30 january  - 1 1 0

Mr.  eizo Asaka Representative Asaka techno consultancy japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Development of Demonstration Companies: 
implementation of lean six sigma in the service sector 
(1st visit)

vietnam 25–29 january  - 1 1 0

Mr.  Kabir Ahmad Mohd. jamil Senior Manager Malaysia Productivity corporation Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Development of Demonstration companies: 
Implementation of lean Six Sigma in the Service Sector 
(2nd visit)

vietnam 29 March–2 April  - 1 1 0

Mr.  Kabir Ahmad Mohd. jamil Senior Manager Malaysia Productivity corporation Malaysia
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 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Development of Demonstration Companies: total 
Quality management Demonstration Company Project 
(4th visit)

Malaysia 12–16 April  - 1 1 0

Mr.  eizo Asaka Representative Asaka techno consultancy japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Development of Demonstration Companies: 
implementation of lean six sigma in the service sector 
(3rd visit)

vietnam 7–8 june  - 1 1 0

Mr.  Kabir Ahmad Mohd. jamil Senior Manager Malaysia Productivity corporation Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Development of Demonstration Companies: total 
Quality management Demonstration Company Project 
(5th visit)

Malaysia 19–23 july  - 1 1 0

Mr.  eizo Asaka Representative Asaka techno consultancy japan

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Development of Demonstration Companies: 
implementation of lean six sigma in the service sector 
(4th visit)

vietnam 26–30 july  - 1 1 0

Mr.  Kabir Ahmad Mohd. jamil Senior Manager Malaysia Productivity corporation Malaysia

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts

(total external local)

Development of Demonstration Companies: 
Productivity improvement including Quality 
management systems (1st Visit)

India 1–7 September  - 1 1 0

Mr. yong Kok Seng Managing Director QMc Resource centre Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia
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tecHNIcAl exPeRt SeRvIceS
no. expert subject Country start end

1 Dr. luis calingo calibration of PQA Assessors and judges on 2009 
Malcom Baldrige National Quality Award criteria 
(2nd visit)

Philippines 11 jan 18 jan

2 Ms. Amy Kates Organization Design and Manpower Planning thailand 18 jan 21 jan

3 Mr. Harnek Singh training of examiners for Sri lanka National Quality 
Awards

Sri lanka 19 jan 23 jan

4 Mr. Shozo yokokawa Managing Industry Associations effectively Singapore 27 jan 29 jan

5 Dr. Paul chang Management Innovation in Healthcare japan 6 feb 7 feb

6 Mr. Masato Kuroda training and Development in the One village, One 
Product Movement for community Development

Indonesia 15 feb 25 feb

7 Mr. Robert Osterhoff tQA Assessment for Organizational Improvement thailand 8 Mar 2 Apr

8 Prof. Seiichi fujita japanese-style Management Sri lanka 13 Mar 21 Mar

9 Mr. Masaru Saito Industry Support Program Pakistan 29 Mar 9 Apr

10 Mr. Masato Kuroda National Seminar on the Promotion of the One 
District, One Product Movement in lao PDR

lao PDR 1 Apr 8 Apr

11 Mr. Robin Mann National Benchmarking conference fiji 7 May 11 May

12 Mr. Bruce Searles National Benchmarking conference fiji 7 May 11 May

13 Mr. Ronald young Knowledge Management for Public- and Service-
sector Productivity

IR Iran 8 May 13 May

14 Mr. Kelvin chan Development of On-the-job-training (Ojt) 
Blueprints and Implementation of Ojt in 
Organizations: Phase 3

Malaysia 17 May 21 May

15 Mr. Hisayoshi Saegusa environmental Management Support consultancy: 
Material flow cost Accounting

Republic of china 18 May 21 May

16 Mr. Simon fisher workshop on Professional Packaging Skills 
upgrading

Indonesia 24 May 3 jun

17 Mr. Irfan Sugkar Agrifood exporting Opportunities and challenges in 
emerging Market Areas

Republic of china 1 jun 3 jun

18 Mr. thom Schamberger Best Practice Sharing for tQA 2009 winners’ 
conference/Discussion and experience Sharing on 
Achieving and Sustaining Successful Award Systems

thailand 6 jun 11 jun

19 Mr. yong Kok Seng Implementing and Auditing the ISO22000:2005 food 
Safety Management System

fiji 14 jun 22 jun

20 Mr. yoshikazu tanaka International forum on Agricultural Biotechnology 
Research Development

Republic of china 23 jun 24 jun

21 Dr. Donald fisher Development of a feeder System for thailand 
Quality Awards and capacity Building of tQA 
Assessors and tQA consultants

thailand 28 jun 9 jul

22 Mr. Hajime Suzuki 4th International Kaizen convention IR Iran 11 jul 15 jul

23 Mr. Masahisa Mizumoto 4th International Kaizen convention IR Iran 11 jul 15 jul

24 Dr. luis Ma. calingo 2010 tQA Assessor calibration thailand 13 jul 24 jul

25 Mr. yoon-woo lee Karuizawa top Management Seminar japan 14 jul 15 jul
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tecHNIcAl exPeRt SeRvIceS
no. expert subject Country start end

26 Prof. takeo yoshikawa Balanced Scorecard IR Iran 31 jul 8 Aug

27 Mr. Ronald young Knowledge Management Seminar and workshop Indonesia 2 Aug 6 Aug

28 Mr. Hans van Beek value Innovation and Sustainable growth for 
leadership excellence Management and training 
Program

Republic of china 7 Sep 11 Sep

29 Mr. lou carbone customer experience Management conference and 
workshop

Republic of china 8 Sep 11 Sep

30 Mr. tomoji yokoishi Business Model Sharing by an expert on the 
Decorative leaf Industry in Kamikatsu chou, japan

Republic of china 13 Sep 15 Sep

31 Mr. yong Kok Seng Promoting the food Safety Management System in 
Philippine food enterprises

Philippines 13 Sep 25 Sep

32 Dr. Kunio Igusa Preparation Development framework for OvOP 
Development in cambodia, and NRc on Model 
Province for OvOP Development

cambodia 20 Sep 24 Sep

33 Mr. toshiaki Nakamura workshop on lean Manufacturing Systems with 
Practical Demonstration

Pakistan 26 Sep 6 Oct

34 Mr. Katsuhiko Satoh Development of the SMe Sector in Sri lanka Sri lanka 5 Oct 8 Oct

35 Mr. Azuman Hussain Six Sigma green Belt fiji 25 Oct 29 Oct

36 Dato’ Nik zainiah Nik Abd. 
Rahman

15th Productivity and Quality forum on New 
economic Model and the Role of Productivity: 
Malaysian experience

vietnam 28 Oct 29 Oct

37 Mr. tetsuji Saikawa 2010 Asia food technology and Innovation 
conference: Monozukuri workshop

Singapore 1 Nov 4 Nov

38 Mr. Mustapha Sufaat Development of 5S Housekeeping Standards Pakistan 1 Nov 13 Nov

39 Mr. gary crays Mentoring for SMes Singapore 15 Nov 18 Nov

40 Mr. Katsutoshi Machida National Quality and Productivity convention 
xIII and International Quality and Productivity 
convention 2010

Indonesia 22 Nov 26 Nov

41 Dr. Michael Schrack Building Inhouse Regulatory expertise in Biomedical 
SMes

Singapore 30 Nov 2 Dec

42 Ms. Suzanne Rosselet competitiveness conference 2010: transformation, 
Innovation, and Partnership for long-term growth

Malaysia 30 Nov 2 Dec

43 Mr. Dipankar ghosh energy Saving and Productivity Improvement in 
Bengal jute Industries ltd.

Bangladesh 30 Nov 4 Dec

44 Mr. Kazuteru chinone tPM: challenges and their Solutions through 
Practical Demonstrations

Pakistan 20 Dec 31 Dec
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eVAluAtiOn Of APO PrOjeCts

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

impact evaluation study Bangladesh, 
Malaysia, 
Pakistan, 

Philippines, 
thailand, and 

vietnam

May–September 0 1 1 0

Mr. Serafin D. talisayon Director for RandD cclfI Philippines and Professsor 
(KM), technology Management 
center, university of the Philippiens

Philippines
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internAtiOnAl COOPerAtiOn

jOINt PROjectS
Project Collaborating organization

workshop for Research on Agricultural Policies in Asia Kyushu university Asia center

APO Study Mission to a Nonmember country: ecotourism in Hawaii State of Hawaii Department of Business, economic 
Development and tourism

Study Mission to a Nonmember country on Public-sector Innovation to 
canada

government of Ontario

Study Mission to a Nonmember country on Quality and Innovation to 
the uSA

foundation for Malcolm Baldrige National Quality Award, 
Inc.

workshop on Approaches and tools for Improving the Performance of 
Agribusiness SMes

colombo Plan Secretariat

training course on Providing Advisory and training Services to women 
on the Management of Micro- and Small-scale Agrofood-processing 
enterprises

colombo Plan Secretariat

Six videoconference-based e-learning courses tokyo Development learning center 

 AfRIcAN PROgRAM

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Advanced training Course for Productivity Practitioners South Africa 25 january–12 
february

29 3 3 0

Mr. Burhanuddin Saidin Director of Organisational capacity 
Development Division

Productivity and efficiency 
Department, Malaysia Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

Mr. Kelvin chan Keng chuen Director and Principal consultant teian consulting International 
Pte. ltd.

Singapore

Mr. Kok Seong lee general Manager/Principal consultant eunison Network Pte. ltd. Singapore

 name of Project  Venue  Duration  Participants

 experts 

(total external local)

Basic training Course for Productivity Practitioners South Africa 1–26 November 16 3 3 0

Ms.  Shahuren Ismail Senior Director, Business transformation 
Department

Malaysian Productivity 
corporation

Malaysia

Mr. Kelvin chan Keng chuen Director and Principal consultant teian consulting International 
Pte. ltd.

Singapore

Mr. lee Kok Seong general Manager/Principal consultant eunison Network Pte. ltd. Singapore
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internAtiOnAl COOPerAtiOn

INteRNAtIONAl/RegIONAl MeetINgS AtteNDeD By tHe APO
Host organization title of meeting Duration Venue staff members involved

uN International women’s Day 2010 uN 
Open Symposium 

8 March tokyo, japan Mr. joselito cruz Bernardo

world trade center tokyo, 
Inc., tokyo American center, 
Association for eco japan, and 
world trade center Building, Inc.

International Symposium on ways to 
cope with global warming and cO2 
emission 

10 March tokyo, japan Mr. Shigeo takenaka

fAO Symposium on Promotion of Poverty 
Reduction/Agricultural Investment

10 March tokyo, japan Mr. joselito cruz Bernardo, 
Mr. yoshihide endo, and Dr. 
Muhammad Saeed

Ministry of foreign Affairs forum for east Asia-latin America 
cooperation Preparatory Meeting for the 
High-level Meeting on environmental 
Business

18–24 March tokyo, japan Ms. Setsuko Miyakawa

OecD the Southeast Asian economic Outlook 27 October tokyo, japan Mr. Masaya Amau

SeRvIceS Of exPeRtS ReceIveD
Project Collaborating organization

workshop for Research on Agricultural Policies in Asia OecD

International conference on green Productivity to enhance 
competitiveness

International finance corporation and uNeP finance 
Initiative

Advanced training course on energy efficiency in SMes uNeP

Study Meeting on Reforming Agricultural extension Systems through 
Knowledge Management

fAO

OBSeRveRS
Project Organization

52nd Session of governing Body colombo Plan Secretariat

PAPA

Productivity centre of Kenya

National Productivity centre, Nigeria (2)

National Productivity centre of turkey (2)

Organizer of 16th world Productivity congress, turkey

51st workshop Meeting of Heads of NPOs fAO

PAPA

uNctAD

uNeScAP
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internAtiOnAl COOPerAtiOn

PARtIcIPANtS fROM NONMeMBeR cOuNtRIeS
Projects Participating nonmember country

Advanced training course for Productivity Practitioners Botswana (7), Kenya (6), Mauritius (5), Nigeria (6), South Africa 
(5), zambia (6)

Basic training course for Productivity Practitioners Botswana (3), Burkina faso (1), gambia (1), Kenya (2), Nigeria 
(2), South Africa (4), Swaziland (1), zambia (2)

Multicountry Observational Study Mission on SMe Development in the 
Mekong Region

Myanmar (4)



140



141APO ANNUAL REPORT 2010

APPenDixes

list of nPos
frequently useD AbbreviAtions AnD Acronyms
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list Of nPOs

Bangladesh
National Productivity Organisation (NPO)
Ministry of Industries
Shilpa Bhaban (1st floor)
91, Motijheel commercial Area, 
Dhaka-1000
Phone:  880-2-9562883
fax:  880-2-9563553 (Attn. NPO)
telex:  67283 0 MOIND Bj
e-Mail:  liaisonbangla_01@yahoo.com

cambodia
National Productivity centre of cambodia (NPcc)
Ministry of Industry, Mines and energy
No. 45 Norodom Blvd., Phnom Penh
Phone:  855-12-814150
fax:  855-23-222243
e-Mail:  npccambodia@gmail.com

Republic of china
china Productivity center (cPc)
2f., No. 79, Sec. 1, xintai 5th Rd., xizhi Dist.
New taipei city 221, taiwan
Phone:  886-2-2698-2989
fax:  886-2-2698-2976
e-Mail:  2017@cpc.org.tw
website:  www.cpc.org.tw

Fiji
National training & Productivity centre (NtPc)
fiji National university
lot 1, Beaumont Road
Narere
P.O. Box 6890, Nasinu
Phone:  679-3392000
fax:  679-3340184
e-Mail:  dntpc@fnu.ac.fj
website:  www.tpaf.ac.fj

Hong kong
Hong Kong Productivity council (HKPc)
HKPc Building
78, tat chee Avenue, yau yat chuen,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
Phone:  852-27885678
fax:  852-27885090
telex:  32842 HKPc Hx
e-Mail:  hkpcenq@hkpc.org
website:  www.hkpc.org

India
National Productivity council (NPc)
Institutional Area, lodi Road
New Delhi - 110003
Phone:   91-11-24690331
Direct Phone:  91-11-24618480
fax:   91-11-24615002/24698138
e-Mail:   is@npcindia.org
website:   www.npcindia.org

Indonesia
Directorate general of training  
and Productivity Development
Ministry of Manpower and transmigration
jl. jenderal gatot Subroto Kav. 51
floor vI-B, jakarta 12950
Phone:  62-21-52963356/5255733
            (ext. 237, 348)
fax:  62-21-52963356
e-Mail:  protek@centrin.net.id

Islamic Republic or Iran
National Iranian Productivity Organization (NIPO)
No. 15, Daneshsara St., Baharestan Sq., tehran
Phone:  98-21-77655000
fax:  98-21-77646271
e-Mail:  nipc@mporg.ir
website:  http://nipc.mporg.ir

Japan
japan Productivity center (jPc)
1-1, Shibuya 3-chome, Shibuya-ku
tokyo 150-8307
Phone:  81-3-3409-1135/1136
fax:  81-3-3409-5880
e-Mail:  apo-liaison@jpc-net.jp
website:  www.jpc-net.jp/eng/

Republic of korea
Korea Productivity center (KPc)
57-1 Sajik-ro, jongno-gu
Seoul 110-751
Phone:  82-2-724-1180/4
fax:  82-2-737-9140
e-Mail:  jhkim@kpc.or.kr
website:  www.kpc.or.kr
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Lao PDR
Small and Medium enterprise Promotion  
and Development Office (SMePDO)
lao National Productivity Organization (lNPO)
P.O. Box No. 474, Nong Bone Road
01005 Ban fai Area, Saysetha District
vientiane capital
Phone:  856-21-414064 (ext. 105)
fax:  856-21-263590
e-Mail:  productivity@smepdo.org
        info@smepdo.org
website:  www.smepdo.org

Malaysia
Malaysia Productivity corporation (MPc)
P.O. Box 64, jalan Sultan 46904
Petaling jaya, Selangor
Phone:  60-3-7955-7266 
fax:  60-3-7954-7910
telex:  PDPN MA36312
e-Mail:  khidzir@mpc.gov.my
website:  www.mpc.gov.my

Mongolia
Mongolia Productivity Organization  
Bayangol District, 17th Khoroo 
Amarsanaa Road, white Horse center, 2nd floor 
ulaanbataar 
(P.O. Box-828, 14201 ulaanbaatar-46)
Phone/fax:  976-7733-5555  
e-Mail:   npo-mongolia@mongol.net

Nepal
National Productivity and economic  
Development centre (NPeDc)
Balaju Industrial District, Balaju
P.O. Box 1318, Kathmandu
Phone:  977-1-4350566/4350567/4350522
fax:  977-1-4350530
e-Mail:  npedc@wlink.com.np
website:  www.npedc-nepal.org

Pakistan
National Productivity Organization (NPO)
Software technology Park Building
2nd floor, constitution Avenue f-5/1
Islamabad
Phone:  92-51-2823304
fax:  92-51-2823309
e-Mail:  ceo@npo.gov.pk
website:  www.npo.gov.pk

Philippines
Development Academy of the Philippines (DAP)
DAP Bldg., San Miguel Ave., Ortigas center 
Pasig city, Metro Manila
(P.O. Box 12788, Ortigas center,  
Pasig city, Metro Manila)
Phone:  63-2-631-2126/2129/2143
fax:  63-2-631-2126
e-Mail:  apolu@dap.edu.ph
        apolugrantees@yahoo.com.ph        
website:  www.dap.edu.ph

Singapore
SPRINg Singapore
1 fusionopolis walk  
#01-02 South tower, Solaris
Singapore 138628
Phone:  65-6278-6666
fax:  65-6278-6665/7
telebox:  gvt 312
e-Mail:  queries@spring.gov.sg
website:  www.spring.gov.sg

Sri Lanka
National Productivity Secretariat (NPS)
318, High level Road
colombo 06
Phone:  94-11-2812163
fax:  94-11-2812162
e-Mail:  nposl@nps.lk
website:  www.nps.lk/index1.php

thailand
thailand Productivity Institute (ftPI)
12-15th floor, yakult Building
1025 Pahonyothin Road, Samsennai
Phayathai, Bangkok 10400
Phone:  66-2-619-8084(Dir.)/5500(ext. 100)
fax:  66-2-619-8100
e-Mail:  liaison@ftpi.or.th
website:  www.ftpi.or.th

vietnam
Directorate for Standards, Metrology and Quality
vietnam Productivity centre (vPc)
8 Hoang Quoc viet, cau giay, Hanoi
Phone:  84-4-37561501
fax:  84-4-37561502
e-Mail:  vpc@vpc.vn
            vpc@fpt.vn
website:  www.vpc.vn
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freQuently useD ABBreViAtiOns AnD ACrOnyms

APe-lDc  Asian Productivity enhancement in Asian least Developed countries

BcBN  Bilateral cooperation between NPOs

Be  Business excellence

cOe  center of excellence

DON  Development of NPOs

DPP  Development of Productivity Specialists (Basic and Advanced)

ePIf  eco-products International fair

eu  european union

fAO  food and Agriculture Organization (of the uN)

fScM-lDcs  food Supply chain Management in Asian least Developed countries

fSMS  food safety management system

gAP  good agricultural practices

gBM  governing Body Meeting

gDlN  global Development learning Network (of the world Bank)

gMP  good manufacturing practices

gP  green Productivity

IcD  Integrated community Development

I-OSM  Individual Observational Study Mission

ISO  International Standards Organization

jIcA  japan International cooperation Agency

KM  Knowledge management

MAff  Ministry of Agriculture, forestry and fisheries (of japan)

McSP  Member country Support Program

NgOs  Nongovernmental organizations

NPOs  National Productivity Organizations

ODOP  One District, One Product

OecD  Organization for economic cooperation and Development

OSM  Observational Study Mission

ODOP/OtOP/OvOP  One District, One Product/One tambon, One Product/One village, One Product

PAPA  Pan African Productivity Association

teS  technical expert Services

tQM  total quality management

uN  united Nations

uNctAD  united Nations conference on trade and Development

uNeP  united Nations environment Programme

uNeScAP  united Nations economic and Social commission for Asia and the Pacific

wSM  workshop Meeting of Heads of NPOs
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